
 

AGENDA 

 
 



 
REGULAR 
MEETING 

 



 

CONSENT 
AGENDA 

 



 

PERSONNEL 
CHANGE 
REPORT 



DATE:  September 7, 2018 

TO:  The Honorable City Council 

FROM:  Michelle Ingram, Human Resources Specialist  

SUBJECT: Personnel Change Report – August 2018 

 

 

ADDITIONS (Regular FT and PT positions only) 

NAME DEPARTMENT POSITION DATE 
CHILDS-WHETZEL, BRANDY WATER RENEWAL LAB TECH I 08/20/2018 

GARRISON, AMY COMM ATTY SR ADMIN ASST 08/06/2018 
HEMBRICK, ANTRANICQUE SHERIFF P/T SHERIFF DISP 08/01/2018 

HONAKER, JOHN RECREATION P/T LIFEGUARD 08/01/2018 
JENNINGS, DASHEEN VOTER REGISTRAR P/T ASST VOTE REG 08/15/2008 

JESSUP, DENISE POLICE P/T VW PROG ASST 08/01/2018 
REID, MOSES PUBLIC WORKS PW MAINT SPEC 08/15/2018 

SMITH, JORDAN RECREATION P/T SPEC EVNTS ASST 08/01/2018 
VOLK, ABIGAIL RECREATION P/T LIFEGUARD 08/01/2018 

 

SEPARATIONS 

NAME DEPARTMENT POSITION DATE 
BECKWITH, CHALISE SOCIAL SERVICES OFFICE SUPV 08/16/2018 

BOGUE, BETTY  VOTER REGISTRAR P/T ASST VOTE REG 08/20/2018 
FORREN, MEGAN POLICE P/T ANIM CONT CUST 08/16/2018 

HUNLEY, JOHN WATER RENEWAL WW MAIN MECH III 08/10/2018 

KING, TIMOTHY RECREATION P/T ATHLETIC SITE 
ASST 08/14/2018 

MITCHELL, LAUREN GENERAL DIST CT ADMIN ASST 08/23/2018 
RECUPERO, JOAN HEALTHY FAMILIES FAM SUPP SP 08/07/2018 

TAFLINGER, GREGORY FIRE FIRE FIGHTER I 08/26/2018 
 
 
 
 
CC: March Altman, City Manager    Concetta Manker, IT Director 

Charles Dane, Assistant City Manager  Jay Rezin, IT 
 Jennifer Sears, Interim HR Director  Carol Scarbrough, Parks & Rec  
 Dave Harless, Risk/Safety Coordinator  Kim Hunter, Payroll 
 Debbie Pershing, Senior Executive Assistant     

Michael Terry, Finance Director    
 Dipo Muritala, Assistant Finance Director   

 
  



  

INFORMATION 
FOR COUNCIL 

REVIEW 
 



 

PENDING 

LIST 

 

 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

1 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

Beacon Update; RFP; Marketing Plan; Beacon LLC 
City Manager clarified that only the RFP has been completed so 
far; Shornak requested copy of RFP; Mayor suggested that RFP be 
dispensed to council at the same time as to the public, to which 
City Manager agreed; Shornak requested financial information for 
the Beacon, as well; City Attorney explained Beacon setup and 
why, and advised that LLC could be dissolved 3 years after last tax 
payment rec’d; Walton requested specific date re when LLC can be 
dissolved 
 

2-7-17 
 
 
2-21-17 

Date when LLC can be 
dissolved 
 
Mayor requested Plan when 
submitted. 

March Altman 
Stefan Calos 

ONGOING 
2/1/2018, if notice is given on the 
first possible business day of the 
year. 
2-7-17 Mr. Haley reported, Slap 
Productions hired, contract on 
year to year basis. 
 
1/1/2018 the LLC can proceed to 
purchase the interest of the State 
Investor Member (the 
"Fund").  The purchase would 
occur between 30 and 90 days 
after notice that the LLC is 
exercising its purchase option.   
 
2-13-18 – Council reviewed 
 
2-27-18 – to come back to 
Council 
 
2-27-18 – Discussed with Council 
in closed session – City Manager 
and City Attorney to present 
alternatives to Council 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

2 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

Revision of Council Rules and Procedures 
Breach of Confidentiality Sanctions 
VML training 
VML training for Directors, City Council and Admin 
Gore agreed to combine numbers 5, 10, 21 and 32 of this list into 
this numbered item.  Shornak and Zevgolis have completed draft 
Code of Ethics, which they passed out at meeting; Pelham said 
training should come first; Gore agreed to do VML training which 
would include emphasis on Ethics and Roberts Rules; City Manager 
to schedule training. 
 
 
 

2-9-15 
3-15-16 
2-7-17 
 
 
2-21-17 
 
 
 
 
3-13-17 

Council to review Code of 
Ethics & City Attorney to 
review Code of Ethics 
 
Vice Mayor requested 
Council Rules to be 
distributed to members of 
Council before the March 
17-18, 2017 Retreat. 
 
City Attorney emailed to all 
members of Council 3-13-17 
the proposed revisions for 
Council to review. 

March Altman 
Stefan Calos 
City Clerk 

PENDING 
 
2-19-18 - Council to provide next 
steps. 
 
Stefan Calos is providing revised 
rules in each agenda packet for 
Council review and approval and 
will continue to do so until all 
are done 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

3 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cost update on City taking control of Mallonee Gym 
 

6-19-17 
 
2-23-17 

Vice Mayor Gore is awaiting 
meeting dates from the 
Superintendent and will 
inform Mayor when those 
dates are received so they 
can meet. VM stated she 
had heard that Quotes have 
been sent to Mr. Ed Watson 
& requested City Manager 
to provide those quotes to 
her and the members of 
Council.  

March Altman 
Ed Watson 

PENDING 
Vice Mayor Gore requested 
meeting w/Hackney, Watson, 
Haley, etc. for 6-29-17 
 
7-7-17 – due to scheduling 
conflicts, meeting with Gore, 
Hackney, Watson, etc. is being 
rescheduled. 
 
Waiting on quote from Ed 
Watson re windows, 
bathroom and A/C unit to 
schedule meeting 
 
3-19-18 – Altman discussed 
with Watson. Will bring back 
before Council after budget 
session 
 
9-19-18 – Cost estimate has 
been completed.  Project will 
be submitted in FY20 CIP for 
Council consideration. 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

4 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Branding & City Logo’s; compile all used logos for 
approval.  
Council requested that Haley provide them with a list of 
the City’s logos and RFP for Branding 
 
 

5/12/15 
3-15-16 
2-7-17 
 
2-21-17 

Email/Printed logos 
collected used  
 
 
City Manager to provide RFP 
for Branding during the 
Retreat In March 2017. 

March Altman 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PENDING 
6-23-17 email reminder sent to 
Haley 
 
City Manager to email council the 
list of City logos 
 
Haley will issue RFP re branding - 
Hopewell logo 
 
No RFP needed.  
 
THIS REQUIRES AN IMMEDIATE 
UPDATE FROM THE CITY 
MANAGER’S OFFICE 
 
3-19-18 – Altman will review and 
bring back options, proposals etc. 
 
9-19-18 City Manager to include 
proposal and budget request as 
part of FY20 budget 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

5 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Council wants to review and revise its travel policy 4-25-17 Current travel policy is 
outdated 
 
 

Council 
March Altman 

PENDING 
7-7-17 – Council to review it 
policy, along with its revised 
rules with Tyler St. Claire when 
Retreat is scheduled 
 
2-1-18 – Council to have a 
work session regarding its 
travel policy. 
 
3-18-18 – Altman to review 
existing employee travel 
policy; and to work with HR 
and Council re work session 
 
9-19-19 – Per Travel Policy, 
City Manager has adjusted 
the mileage reimbursement 
to be consistent with IRS 
policy. 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

6 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Council requested RFP/design for Riverwalk 
 

4-25-17 Council to be provided with 
a copy of the RFP that was 
issued or will be issued re 
the Riverwalk project 
 

March Altman PENDING 
7-7-17 - A copy of the RFP has 
been placed in your packets.  
Administration will appear 
before Council at the Aug. 8 
2017 meeting to discuss the 
Riverwalk project  
 
9-5-17 – sent email to Dane re 
status 
 
1-23-18 – Council has been 
updated on the status of the 
Riverwalk previously, and 
there will be a brief update 
provided at the 1-23-18 
meeting. 
 
3-19-18 – Altman will provide 
regular project updates 
 
9-19-18 – Phase I 
Groundbreaking to be held at 
City Park Friday, September 
28 at 2:00 p.m. 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

7 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Boards and Commission City Council Letter for Reports, 
Joint Meetings and Information (past/current/future 
projects; bylaws) 

2013-Present 
2-7-17 
 
2-21-17 
 
 
 
1-9-18 

Letter/Email Request and CC 
City Council 
 
Clerk to meet with Mayor 
for review of completed 
DRAFT letter. 

Council 
City Clerk 
 
 

PENDING 
Clerk prepare Letter for Mayor to 
send to the Boards & 
Commissions who are not 
sending minutes as required. 
 
1-9-18 - Vice Mayor Gore gave 
presentation to Council regarding 
status of boards and 
commissions and need for 
change. 
 
8-28-18 – City Clerk’s Office 
revised the Boards and 
Commissions list. Vice Mayor 
Gore presented the revised list 
and council approved it. Boards 
and Commissions Appreciation 
dinner scheduled for this year, 
which will coincide with 
marketing plan to bring people 
in 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

8 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 City Council and School Board to have additional joint 
meetings or to establish sub-committees 
 

3-1-18 Vice Mayor Gore School Board 
City Council 
March Altman 

COMPLETE 
3-18-18 – Superintendent 
Hackney and Altman have 
discussed re-establishing School 
Board City Council Facilities 
Committee 
 
8-14-18 – Council appointed two 
members of the school board to 
the School Facilities Committee 
(Joyner and Cuffey).  

 Work session with Human Resources to discuss HR Manual 
and employee travel policy 

1-9-18 Councilor Pelham 
Councilor Gore 

March Altman PENDING 
 
3-18-18 – City Manager and HR 
Director to review current policy 
and schedule work session to 
make recommendations for 
changes 
 
9-19-18 – Awaiting hiring of New 
HR Director 

 Repair five poles at shed by the dock – said the shed leans 
10 degrees. 

2-27-18 Councilor Zevgolis Aaron Reidmiller PENDING 

 Restore the National Park Service Waterfront Committee 
Status of planned workshop, secure new contacts 
 

2-27-18 Councilor Luman-Bailey Aaron Reidmiller PENDING 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

9 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Can we partner with Resource Conservation Development 
to aid with Community Garden in park 

2-27-18 Councilor Luman-Bailey March Altman 
Aaron Reidmiller 

PENDING 
 
3-18-18 – City 
Manager/Recreation Director to 
get with Community Garden 
specialist in other municipality 
 

 Virginia First Cities – what is amount of fees? Who will pay 
fees? 

2-27-18 Councilor Zevgolis March Altman COMPLETE 
 
$13,923 

 Executive Director of Crater Workforce Development 
come to Council to explain what it does for Hopewell 
 

2-27-18 Mayor Shornak Mayor Shornak PENDING 

 Obtain information about Workforce Initiative 
 

2-27-18 Vice Mayor Gore March Altman PENDING 

 Who to reach out to increase the allocation to youth 
services (Connie Townes) 
 

2-27-18 Vice Mayor Gore March Altman PENDING 

 Request for program for seniors who use their dumpsters 
sparingly and need to pay less 
 

1-23-18 Councilor Zevgolis Ed Watson COMPLETE 
 
8-28-18 this was discussed 
during the Council meeting and 
it was explained that this is not 
feasible due to the costs 
associated with the equipment 
needed to make this change. 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

10 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Council wanted to confirm that Prince George was paying 
their part for the HPG Chamber. Since this was an ongoing 
problem, they want to confirm prior to the next budget 
session 

4-4-17 Council March Altman PENDING 
 
3-18-18 – Altman has discussed 
with Prince George – they are 
funding for this year – will 
discuss at FY20 budget 
 

 Current financial assessment of fiscal year 2017 12-2017 Gore 
Pelham 
 

March Altman 
Michael Terry 

PENDING 
 
9-19-18 - FY17 Audit is ongoing 
 

 Request for City Manager to work on policies and 
procedures related to CSA, CPMT and FAPT 

3-6-18 Council March Altman PENDING 
 
CPMT is reviewing draft policies 
 

 Request to review credit card policy  Pelham March Altman PENDING 
 Boards & Commissions - Dock Commission – Councilors 

Luman-Bailey and Zevgolis will discuss the revival of the 
this Commission and come back to Council with a plan 

4-5-18 Council Christina Luman-
Bailey 
Anthony Zevgolis 

PENDING 

 Boards & Commissions – How much is the Planning 
Commission paid? 

4-5-18 Council Tevya Griffin PENDING 

 Requested a study to determine why there was so much 
trouble retaining Hopewell employees, especially police 
and fire; interested in employee retention; programs to 
encourage employees to live in the City 

3-27-18 Anthony Zevgolis 
Brenda Pelham 

March Altman 
John Keohane 

PENDING 

 Councilor Gore requested the data that was provided to 
Springsted prior to them creating their report. She 
specified the data that caused Springsted to make position 
and title changes. 

3-27-18 Jasmine Gore March Altman 
Renia Coles 

PENDING 

 Of the $75,000 set aside by Council for constitutional 
officers, how much has been used? For what? How much 
remains? 

3-27-18 Council March Altman PENDING 



CITY COUNCIL PENDING LIST 
 

11 

Request Date 
Voted/ 

Requested 

Format/Information 
Requested 

Point Person Status 

 Request information regarding status of Fire Department 
collections from last year 

5-1-18 Council March Altman 
Donnie Hunter 

PENDING 

 Springsted Comp Study  5-15-18 Jasmine Gore March Altman 
Renia Coles 

PENDING 

      
 

















1 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT  
  

                                  
 
 
 
 

Hopewell Community Policy & Management Team  
 

Minutes of the Meeting 
 

August 20, 2018 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Present: Diana Barnes, District 19; Joseph Bizzell, Treasurer’s Office; Janet Denton, City 
Council; Brookie Fowler, Hopewell Public Schools; Lauren Hovis, Private Provider; Aleisha 
Mason, Health Department; Raymond Spicer, Social Services Director; and Anthony 
Zevgolis, City Council 

 

Absent:  Joan Gosier, Fiscal Agent; Woodrow Harris, Court Services  

 

Others Present: Wanda Brown, CSA Manager; and Christene Teasley, CSA Senior 
Administrative Assistant   
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Chairman Barnes called the meeting to order at 2:02 p.m.    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

I. Approval of Minutes – A motion was made by Ray Spicer and seconded by Joseph 
Bizzell to approve the July 16, 2018 Minutes, as submitted.  The motion was passed 
unanimously.  

 
 
 
 

II. Financial Report – The first report reviewed by Ms. Brown reflected 2018 YTD charges 
paid and encumbered by CSA.  She explained that these figures represented 101.9% 
($3,126,252.49) of the amount spent to date of the $2,962,619.38 FY18 CSA budget.  
The second report presented by Ms. Brown reflected FY19 expenditures.  She explained 
that no program services invoices were paid during the month of July, only invoices for 
the usual administrative expenses.  The third report provided a brief snapshot of 2019 
YTD charges paid and encumbered by CSA.  These figures represented 1.7% 
($54,271.24) of the $3,109,139.50 FY19 CSA budget. 
 
 
 

Joseph Bizzell presented the CSA Financial Review & Update from July 1, 2017 thru June 
30, 2018 that indicated the program income and expenses for account 505712,  and 
showed how CSA finished out FY18.     

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

CMPT Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 
 
 

III. Old Business 
A. Policy and Procedures – Wanda Brown distributed draft copies of the policy 

and procedures manual containing the changes she made.  Diana Barnes asked 
if changes were indicated by highlighting or the use of strike throughs.  Ms. 
Brown replied that she had not used either.  She explained that only small 
procedural changes were made to the document.     Janice Denton explained that 
she would not know what changes were made by Ms. Brown to the document.  
Anthony Zevgolis stated that, without reviewing the original document, he 
would not know if the revised document was accurate.  Ms. Brown stated that 
she found two manuals, both with different number of pages, and one of the 
manuals had an amended date of March 2014.  Mr. Zevgolis requested copies 
of both documents to review.  Joseph Bizzell asked if there was a legally 
mandated time when policies had to be updated.  Ms. Brown replied that there 
was no mandated timeline.  Mr. Zevgolis wanted to know if CPMT had the 
authority to make changes to the manual.  Ray Spicer replied that the State’s 
position is that the manual is a local document.  Wanda Brown stated that the 
policy indicates that CPMT must make the changes to the manual and then 
present it to City Council for approval.  Diana Barnes made a request for Ms. 
Brown to email the revised document and the unchanged document, along with 
all attachments, to members by August 24th.  Ms. Brown stated that she will 
email the documents and informed members that the unchanged document 
would have the date of March 2014.  Ms. Barnes requested that members email 
suggestions after reviewing documents, with further discussions conducted at 
the September meeting.   

 
 

 Brookie Fowler explained that, due to transitions the school system is currently 
going through, she was requesting approval to attend both CPMT and FAPT 
meetings temporarily.  Wanda Brown explained that the State has an issue with 
an individual serving as a member of both FAPT and CPMT.  Diana Barnes stated 
that, according to the State, Ms. Fowler could not participate as a CPMT 
member as long as she serves on FAPT.  Ms. Barnes instructed Ms. Fowler not 
to vote on any funding related purchase orders due to it being a conflict of 
interest. 

 
 
 
 

 
 

IV. New Business 
A. CPMT Vice-Chair –  Diana Barnes explained that current policy and procedures 

state that the CPMT Chair and Vice-Chair serve for a two year period and are 
selected on a rotation basis from six core agencies – Court Services, Department 
of Social Services, Mental Health, Public School System, Elected Officials, and 
Health Department.  Sheila Bailey represented the school system and served as 
Vice-Chair from July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018.  Due to Dr. Bailey’s retirement 
from the school system on July 1, 2018, Jermaine Harris will now serve on CPMT 
as a representative of the school system.  CPMT members unanimously agreed 
that Mr. Harris would serve as Vice-Chair until June 30, 2019. 

 



3 
 

 
 
 

 
CMPT Minutes 
August 20, 2018 
 
 

 
B. Vendor Contract – Wanda Brown informed members that Rivermont School 

had not returned their 2018-2019 contract.  She said that Rivermont currently 
serves five of our children.  Ms. Brown stated that CSA forwarded the contract 
to the school twice, and spoke with their representative on several occasions.  
She heard that Rivermont was sending their contracts to their lawyers in an 
attempt to make changes to the amount of insurance they must have.  Diana 
Barnes stated that notification would be sent to Rivermont informing them that 
Brookie Fowler will remove the students from the school by September 4th if 
their contract is not received in the CSA office by 2:00 p.m. on August 24th.   
Ms. Brown said that she would relay this message to Rivermont.  Ms. Fowler 
stated that she will look into the matter and try to handle the problem. 

 

V. Closed Meeting – Chairman Barnes declared at 3:05 p.m. to enter into a Closed 
Meeting, pursuant to §2.2-3711(A) of the Code of Virginia for the purpose of discussing 
or considering child-specific purchase order requests, which is authorized by §2.2-
3711(A)(4) of the Code of Virginia.    

 
 
 

VI. Open Session   
Chairman Barnes reconvened the open session at 3:45 p.m. 

 
 

Certification of Closed Meeting 
Pursuant to §2.2-3712(D) of the Code of Virginia, the Community Policy and 
Management Team certify that, to the best of each member’s knowledge, (i) only public  
business matters  lawfully exempt from  open meeting  requirements  under the Virginia 
Freedom of Information Act, and (ii) only such business matters as were identified in the 
motion by which the Closed Meeting was convened were heard, discussed, or 
considered.   Diana Barnes, Joseph Bizzell, Wanda Brown, Janice Denton, Brookie 
Fowler, Lauren Hovis,  Aleisha Manson, Ray Spicer,  and Anthony Zevgolis responding 
“yes.” 

 
 
 
 

 

A.     Approval of Purchase Order Requests 
A motion was made by Ray Spicer, and seconded by Janice Denton approving 
and authorizing all July 2018 and August 2018 expenditures, in the amount of 
$1,967,846.24, as discussed in closed session.  The motion was passed, with 
Diana Barnes, Joseph Bizzell, Janice Denton, Aleisha Manson, Ray Spicer, and 
Anthony Zevgolis voting “aye.”  Brookie Fowler abstained from voting on all 
educational purchase orders; Lauren Hovis abstained from voting on all Good 
Neighbor Community Services purchase orders. 
 

 
 
 



4 

CMPT Minutes 
August 20, 2018 

VII. Items of Interest
Wanda Brown reminded members of the CSA sponsored Meet and Greet with Hopewell
Children’s Service Providers on August 29th from 11:00 a.m. to 3:00 p.m. in the
Appomattox Regional Library-Upstairs Conference Room.  Ms. Brown stated that she
attended a three-day conference in Washington, D.C. where a large number of CSA
managers attended.  She said that it was a very good conference with many training
classes offered.

Diana Barnes reminded members of the Annual Central Virginia Region CSA Training and
Resource Day that will be held on September 21st from 8:00 a.m. – 4:00 p.m. at the
Chesterfield Career and Technical Center on Hull Street .  She stated that approximately
80 vendors would be at the resource day.

Upon a motion by Anthony Zevgolis and seconded by Ray Spicer, the meeting was
adjourned at 3:58 p.m.

VIII. Due to Wanda Brown being out of the country on September 17th, CPMT members
unanimously agreed to schedule the next CPMT meeting on September 24, 2018.

VIII.  

Approval of the August 20, 2018 Minutes  
Motion by:      
Seconded by:  
All members voting 







 
The City of Hopewell, Virginia   Treasurer’s Office 

300 N. Main St.    Room 109        Hopewell, VA  23860       (804) 541-2240   
                                             

                                               Joan E. Gosier, Treasurer 
 LaTonya M. Felton, MGDT-Deputy IV    Darlene B. Loving, Tax Collector 
Alleana M. Potts, MGDT-Deputy II                               Mary B. Bagshaw, Delq. Tax Collector                 

 Shanika L. Flowers, Deputy I      Sharon S. Garrett, Clerk                                                       
 Megan R. Emerson, Clerk      Sandra B. Woodcock, Clerk 

                Joe Bizzell, CPA    
 
 

To: Jackie Shornak, Mayor 
 J. March Altman, City Manager 
 Joan Gosier, Treasurer 
 Debra Reason, Commissioner of Revenue 
 Michael Terry, Finance Director 
  
 
From:  LaTonya Felton, Chief Deputy Treasurer 
 
Date: June 26, 2018  
 
RE: Investment Committee Meeting 
 
 
The Investment Committee meeting opened at 11:34 am on June 26, 2018 in the City 
Manager’s Office at City Hall. Jackie Shornak (Mayor) – by telephone, J. March Altman 
(City Manager), Joan Gosier (Treasurer), Debra Reason (Commissioner of Revenue), 
Michael Terry, (Finance Director) and LaTonya Felton (Chief Deputy Treasurer) were in 
attendance.  
 
The Treasurer provided copies of the agenda, an unaudited/preliminary Report of Cash 
Balances and Investments as of May 31, 2018, LGIP Portfolio Yield and Performance, 
Report of Cash Equivalent Investment Balances, the Investment Policy, and Schedules of 
Outstanding Investments as of May 31, 2018. 
 
Joan Gosier reviewed the agenda. The question was raised by Mayor Shornak – who makes 
the selections for investment of funds? Per the policy the treasurer is allowed to make the 
investment decisions.  Upon further discussion of the agenda and member responsibilities, 
Michael Terry addressed several concerns including noting that the provided agenda 
reached outside the scope of the committee privileges and this is to provide financial 
insight. He felt that anything else is aggressive at this time. Michael Terry offered to speak 
with Jimmy Sanderson from Davenport to speak with the committee about other possible 
investments.  
 
 
 
 
 



Joan Gosier gave a report of the balance for the DEQ bank account created in December 
2017. She questioned whether or not we needed to move the interest. This was tabled.  
 
LaTonya Felton reported as of May 31, 2018 the Caprin Investment account has earned 
$46K in interest for FY18 with an account balance of $5.2M.  A majority of funds are still 
held with LGIP (Local Government Investment Pool) for which the rate of return increased 
from 1.149% to 1.920% generating $202K in interest bringing the portfolio balance to 
$15.5M. 
 
Discussion as to improvement of current investment policy and each member’s duties was 
held. 
 
Joan Gosier asked the committee to review the current Investment Policy under which the 
committee is operating that states the roles and responsibilities of the membership.   
 
“The Mayor shall be Chairman of the Investment Committee and the City Clerk shall be ex-
officio clerk thereof.”   
 
Joan Gosier suggested that this committee assess its strengths, weaknesses, opportunities 
and threats as well as develop a long term strategy for the city’s funds (2020-2028).  
 
Minutes from the June 2017 meeting were read by Debra Reason. 
 
 
There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 12:05 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 













 
PROCLAMATIONS 

§ 
RESOLUTIONS  

§ 
PRESENTATIONS 

 



 

 

 

ADDITIONAL 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 



PUBLIC 
HEARINGS 

 



 
PH-1 

 



 
SUMMARY: 
Y N       Y N  
□ □ Councilor Christina J. Luman-Bailey, Ward #1  □ □ Councilor Janice Denton, Ward #5 
□ □ Councilor Arlene Holloway, Ward #2   □ □ Mayor Brenda S. Pelham, Ward #6 
□ □ Councilor Anthony J. Zevgolis, Ward #3   □ □ Mayor Jackie M. Shornak, Ward #7 
□ □ Vice-Mayor Jasmine E. Gore, Ward #4 

     
  

  
  

 

 
CITY OF HOPEWELL  

CITY COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 
 
Strategic Operating Plan Vision Theme: 

Civic Engagement 
Culture & Recreation  
Economic Development 
Education 
Housing 
Safe & Healthy Environment  
None (Does not apply) 

 
Order of Business: 

Consent Agenda    
Public Hearing          
Presentation-Boards/Commissions  
Unfinished Business            
Citizen/Councilor Request      
Regular Business 
Reports of Council Committees  

 

 
Action: 

Approve and File  
Take Appropriate Action  
Receive & File (no motion required) 
Approve Ordinance 1st Reading 
Approve Ordinance 2nd Reading 
Set a Public Hearing       
Approve on Emergency Measure  

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Public Hearing to consider citizen comments regarding a request from 
Francisco Landing Holdings, LLC to rezone property.  
 

ISSUE:  The City has received a request to rezone property and amend the City’s official zoning map to rezone 
Lot 1, 3.60 acres and Lot 2, 2.492 acres Copeland Subdivision, further identified as Sub-Parcels 299-0005 and 
299-0010,  Downtown Central Business District (B-1) to Downtown Central Business District (B-1) with Planned 
Unit Development (PUD) status.  
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Administration recommends City Council consider citizen comments regarding the 
matter and vote regarding the rezoning.  
 
TIMING:   City Council is requested to hold a public hearing on September 25, 2018.   
 
BACKGROUND:   The Planning Commission held a public hearing on July 12, 2018 to consider citizen 
comments regarding this request.  At their August 2, 2018 meeting the Planning Commission voted 4-0 to 
recommend approval of the rezoning.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  Estimated cost of all improvements: $39,650,000 
 
ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:     

 Application 
 Concept Plan 
 Parking Study 

 
STAFF:          Tevya W. Griffin, Director, Department of Development 
                        Chris Ward, Senior Planner, Department of Development      

 



Page | 1  
 

Francisco Landing Holdings, LLC 
Rezoning from Downtown Central Business 
District (B-1), to Downtown Central 
Business District (B-1) with Planned Unit 
Development District (B-1/PUD) status 
 
Staff Report prepared for the City Council Regular Meeting – 
September 25, 2018 
 

 
This report is prepared by the City of Hopewell Department of Development Staff to 
provide information to the City Council to assist them in making an informed decision on 
this matter. 
 
 
I. PUBLIC HEARINGS/MEETING: 

Planning Commission: July 12, 2018 

 

Public Hearing held 

Vote tabled 

Planning Commission 
meeting 

August 2, 2018 Recommended Approval  

4-0 

 
II. IDENTIFICATION AND LOCATIONAL INFORMATION: 

Existing Zoning: B-1, Downtown Central Business 
District 

Proposed Zoning: B-1/PUD, with Planned Unit 
Development Status 

Parcel Size: 6.63 acres 

Sub- Parcel I.D. #  

299-0010 2.492 acres 

299-0005 3.6 acres 

011-0806 .540 acres 

Owner: City of Hopewell 

Location of Property: Appomattox Street, Lots 1 & 2, 
Copeland Subdivision & Lots 1, 

2 and 3, Block 16 B Village 
Subdivision 

Election Ward: Ward 1 

Land Use Plan Recommendation: Downtown Commercial Mixed 
Use 



Page | 2  
 

Zoning of Surrounding Property: 

 

North: B-1 

South: B-1 

East: R-2 

West: B-1/R-2 

 

III. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 
    

The City of Hopewell entered into a legally binding Letter of Intent with W.E. Bowman 
Construction Inc. on the 11th day of July 2017 to analyze the possibility of developing 
property identified as Lots 1 & 2, Copeland Subdivision and Lots 1, 2 and 3, Block 16 B 
Village Subdivision, further identified as Sub-Parcel’s 299-0005, 299-0010, and 011-
0806.  The Letter of Intent was renewed on January 5, 2018.  As the agent, Francisco 
Landing Holdings, LLC, is requesting to rezone the above subject property to Downtown 
Central Business District (B-1) with Planned Unit Development (PUD) status. 

 

IV. FUTURE LAND USE 
The Hopewell 2028 Comprehensive Plan, adopted April 24, 2018, identifies the City’s 
downtown as Priority Planning Area 1.  The property is also located in the Urban 
Development Area (UDA).  The future land use plan identifies the properties in question 
as Downtown Commercial Mixed Use.  Chapter V of the 2028 Comprehensive Plan 
provides a description of this land use category.   

Description of Downtown Commercial Mixed Use Category 

• Encourages mixed-use projects 

• Commercial Emphasis with Urban Development Area Designation: Pedestrian 
Oriented Mixed Retail; Financial Institutions; Personal Services; Professional & 
General Offices; Entertainment Establishments; Residential Mixed Use  

• Retail 0.50-3.00 Floor Area Ratio 

• Office 05.0-3.00 Floor Area Ratio 

• 800-20,000 Square feet gross floor area 
 
V. APPLICABLE CODE SECTIONS: 

The provisions of the Zoning Ordinance that are germane to this rezoning request 
are found in Article XXI, Amendments, and include the following: 

Article XXI-A, Initiation: 
"Whenever public necessity, convenience, general welfare or good zoning 
practice require, City Council may amend, supplement, or change this 
ordinance, including the schedule of district regulations and the official 



Page | 3  
 

zoning map.  Any such amendment may be initiated by resolution of City 
Council, by motion of the Planning Commission, or by petition of any 
property owner addressed to City Council." 

Article XXI-B, Action by Planning Commission 

"In recommending the adoption of any amendment to this ordinance, the 
Planning Commission shall fully state its reasons for any such 
recommendations, describing any change in conditions, if any, that it 
believes makes the amendment advisable and specifically setting forth the 
manner in which, in its opinion, the amendment would be in harmony with 
the Comprehensive Plan of the City and would be in furtherance of the 
purpose of this ordinance." 

Article VIII. Planned Developments: 

      See Attachment 

VI. SUBJECT PROPERTY: 

The subject property is located on Appomattox Street.  It includes Lot 1 (Sub-Parcel # 
299-0005) and 2 (Sub-Parcel # 299-0010) of the Copeland site, previously the location of 
Patrick Copeland Elementary.  It also includes a corner lot located across the street from 
the Beacon Theater at the corner of Appomattox Street and Randolph Road (Route 10), 
identified as Sub-Parcel # 011-0806.  A Planned Unit Development is required to have a 
minimum of five (5) acres.  The total acreage of the combined properties is 6.63.   

VII.  STAFF/ZONING ANALYSIS:  

The intent of Planned Unit Developments is to permit development in accordance with a 
master plan under one ownership or control. Within Planned Unit Developments, the 
location of all improvements shall be controlled in such a manner as to permit 
development with the greatest amount of open area and the least disturbance to natural 
features. 

On June 12, 2018 City Council amended Article VIII Planned Developments of the City 
of Hopewell Zoning Ordinance to allow the B-1 Zoning District to be added as a Zoning 
Classification where a Planned Unit Development is permitted.  The amended ordinance 
permits higher density, mix of use development in the area designated as the B-1 zoning 
district.   

The development of this PUD will be phased. Phase 1 includes Buildings G-1 & G-2, 
Plaza, Promenade and storm water management features required for the development.  
The construction of this phase is estimated to take 12-18 months and is estimated to cost 
$15,500,000.  A table showing the remaining four phases is provided on page 6 of the 
concept plan.  

 



Page | 4  
 

 

Comprehensive Plan 

The developer must prove that the proposed development is compatible with the 2028 
Comprehensive Plan.  The developer has offered a narrative of the relationship of the 
development to the plan on page 7.   

The Planning Commission has reviewed the Concept Plan with the tenants of the 
Comprehensive Plan, specifically the Land Use Plan/Map, and concluded that it is 
compatible with the Plan.  

Setbacks, Conceptual Plan and Layout 

Please read the applicant’s narrative regarding the conceptual plan layout on page 3, and 
the actual layout on Exhibit D. 

Land Use Plan 

The land use plan is shown on Exhibit D.  It shows the location and arrangement of all 
proposed land uses.  Page 3 of the Concept Plan provides a narrative of the land use 
designations of the plan.  

Density 

The Zoning Ordinance sets a controlled density of 50 units per acre.  A maximum of 300 
units are allowed.  The applicant is proposing 179 multi-family units.  The density 
requirement is being met.   

Open Space 

A PUD is required to have open space of not less than fifty (50) percent of the total gross 
area of the Planned Unit Development. The open space element is defined as area that is 
not improved with a building, structure, street, road parking area, or sidewalk. 

Within the open space, the required developed recreational space shall not be less than 
ten (10) percent of the total gross area of the Planned Unit Development. The developed 
recreational space is defined, per the Zoning Ordinance, as the portion of the open space 
within the boundaries of the PUD which is improved for recreational purposes.  Those 
recreational improvements may include passive and active recreational uses. 

The applicant has demonstrated that 50 percent of the development will be open space.  
See page 4 for a tabulation of the open and recreational space and Exhibit F for an 
illustration.  

 



Page | 5  
 

Height/Screening 

The maximum permitted height for multifamily housing in the B-1 Zoning District for 
PUD is 50 feet.  The applicant has submitted a conceptual design of the building that 
indicates the buildings will be no more than four story above grade or no more than 50 
feet in height excluding additional roof top features that are being considered on the G-1 
and G-2 Buildings.  

At this time the exact placement and quantity of elements needing screening such as 
antennas, or utility boxes has not yet been determined.  Article XVIII, Development 
Standards, requires sufficient screening of all utilities that can be seen from a public right 
of way.  Proper screening will also be reviewed by the Downtown Design Review 
Committee for all buildings and site locations seen from the public right-of-way.  

Covenants, Restrictions and Conditions Pertaining to the Use 

It is the intent of the developer to convey open spaces (including the plaza, promenade, 
amphitheater and green space) back to the City for permanent public use following 
improvement of the open spaces.  

According to the plan, the conveyed open spaces will be covered by restrictions such that 
they will remain public assets and not be at risk of future development.  Following the 
conveyance the city will be responsible for the governance, upkeep and maintenance of 
the open spaces.  

The City will be grant access easements to the developer to allow for future construction, 
and building and storm water maintenance. 

Total Number of Dwelling Units/Percentage of Occupancy by Structures  

A concept plan must provide the total number of dwelling units with a breakdown of the 
number of bedrooms, the percentage of occupied structures on the property, and the total 
floor area.   

Phase I of the development will include Buildings G-1 and G-2 with 75 units and a 
restaurant. Phase 2, building J will include 50 residential units. Phase 3 will have 54 units 
for a total residential count of 179 units.  Exhibit D and G provide an illustrative 
representation and table of the bedroom breakdown.  The developer has stated that the 
exact bedroom count is an estimate and will be driven by market demand. 

Architectural Sketches  

Architectural renderings of buildings G-1 and G-2 have been provided with this plan.  
The Downtown Design Review Committee (DDRC) is responsible for the review of the 
erection, reconstruction, alteration or restoration of a building or structure in the B-1 
Zoning District. The review board must determine if all elements of design are 



Page | 6  
 

compatible with surrounding buildings and the district overall. The Downtown Design 
Review Committee (DDRC) reviewed the renderings at their July 11, 2018 meeting.   
The committee approved the use of materials to include brick, light-colored stucco, 
metal–clad windows framing material, and black metal accents in the construction of 
Buildings G1 and G2. The committee also approved the height, and rhythm of buildings 
G1 and G2.  They agreed with Staff’s observation regarding the computability and 
differential of the buildings design and found it consistent with the goals of Priority 
Planning Area I from the 2028 Comprehensive Plan.  Before the placement of any future 
buildings, and improvements such as the promenade, plaza, landscaping, signage, and 
screening of utilities, the developer most receive approval from the DDRC.   

The DDRC utilizes the Zoning Ordinance and design guidelines from the the Hopewell 
Vision Plan, adopted 2003, to review proposed construction and changes to facades.  

Timing and Estimated Cost of Offsite Improvements (road, sewer, drainage facilities) 

The developer does not anticipate that the development will require meaningful offsite 
improvements as it has been represented that existing utilities to the site will be sufficient 
to support the planned improvements.  The developer will request that the existing 
utilities be brought to the property line by the City.  

Traffic Impact Analysis 

A traffic impact analysis was not required by the Planning Commission.  

Unlike, other business/commercial districts in the City, the B-1 district does not require 
off street parking for land uses.  However, the developer in partnership with the City and 
the Hopewell Downtown Partnership has hired Desmond Design Management, a national 
specialist in the planning and design of parking and transportation improvements.  The 
firm conducted a phased parking analysis.  

The report from Phase I is provided with this report.  Phase I is an analysis of the 
availability of parking for the Planned Unit Development using a shared parking 
methodology.  Phase I does not include land uses or parking associated with the abutting 
and existing commercial and institutional properties.  The impact of these buildings on 
the project will be evaluated in Phase II.   

The Phase I study made the following assumptions: 

• Building E- A 3,643 square foot structure proposed as a Visitor’s Center or other 
place of assembly.  

• Building F- A 53,268 square foot residential building containing 54 rental 
residential units. 

• Building G1 and G-2- Two buildings totaling approximately 74,529 square feet 
and containing grade-level commercial space of 6,181 square feet and 75 rental 
residential units. 



Page | 7  
 

• Building I- A 11,702 square foot commercial building. 
• Building J- A 54,496 square foot residential building containing 50 rental 

residential units.   
• 138 parking spaces will be included within the Planned Unit Development across 

multiple surface lots. 
• 33 Curbside spaces along Appomattox Street 
• 100 spaces in the City owned lot on the corner of Appomattox Street and 

Hopewell Street. 
• Total spaces = 271 

According to the study, a shared parking methodology is a statistical modeling 
approach that incorporates real-world data on how land uses actually behave and 
simulates how parking demand for each land use in a development waxes and wanes 
during the course of day and year.  In theory. the result is a parking supply to support 
the project which is adequate to meet the project’s needs without building excess 
parking spaces. Shared parking models are comprised of industry standards, base 
parking demand ratios, adjusted to reflect for variations in demand specific to each 
project’s composition and locality, as well fluctuations in demand according to a time 
of day and year.   

If the development was required to provide off street parking, the methodology used 
to calculate required spaces is based on the use type and/or square footage of the 
building(s).  Article XVIII, Development Standards, Section E. Off-Street Parking 
and Loading, Sub-section 12, provides these requirements.  

Use Type 
  

 
   

Minimum 
Required 

Maximum 
Required 

 
One bedroom unit 
apartment 

 
1  for  each  dwelling unit 

 
2  for  each  dwelling 
unit 

 
Two bedroom 
apartment 

 
1.5 for each dwelling unit, plus 
0.25 for 
each dwelling unit for visitor 
parking 

 

 
Three or more 
bedroom unit 
apartment 

 
1.5 for each dwelling unit, plus 
0.25 for 
each dwelling unit for visitor 
parking 

 
2.0 for  each dwelling 
unit,   plus   0.25   for 
each dwelling unit for 
visitor parking 

 
Retail Space    

 
1 for each 200 square feet of   
gross floor area 

 

 
Restaurant 

 
1 per 75 square feet of gross floor 
areas 

 
1  per  50  square  feet of 
gross floor area 

Table 1: Article XVIII Section E 



Page | 8  
 

The table below shows the analysis of required parking spaces per use type under the current 
Zoning Ordinance if off-street parking was required in the B-1 Zoning District.  It is 
customary for Staff to allow the minimum requirements to reduce impervious cover 
associated with a development.   

Use Type 
 

Minimum Spaces 
Required 

 
One bedroom 
unit apartment 

81  

 
Two bedroom 
apartment 

141 

 
Three or more 
bedroom unit 
apartment 

31 

 
Retail Space    158 

 
Restaurant 82 

Total Parking 
Spaces 

493 

 

The use of a shared parking analysis methodology considers the behaviors of the user for an 
entire development during certain days and times based on industry standards. The traditional 
parking requirements found in most Euclid zoning ordinances considers parking for each use 
separately, with no consideration of the user’s actual behavior.  The parking lot therefore is 
built for peak usage.  

The applicant has identified 271 parking spaces as the available count for this project. The 
parking analysis shows that adequate parking is provided until Building F is constructed, 
which is the last building proposed in the phasing.  For this reason, the applicant provided a 
proffer condition that “prior to construction of Building F, additional parking will be 
addressed with the Planning Commission to its satisfaction.” This could include adequately 
sized structured parking on the gravel lot, traffic calming to bring nearby surface parking 
across Route 10 in the equation, clearer definition of the true per unit parking demands, and 
other commercial efforts to secure nearby dedicated parking for the project.  

Chesapeake Bay Preservation Overlay 

The subject property is not located within a Resource Protection Area.  Lots 1 & 2 are 
adjacent to Lot 3 of the Copeland Subdivision that is within a RPA and a FEMA Flood 
Hazard area.   Any impacts on environmental sensitive areas will be thoroughly analyzed 
and must comply with storm water, erosion and sediment control, and Chesapeake Bay 
Area Preservation standards.  The site plan review process is an administrative process 
and administered by City Departments to include Development, Engineering, Storm 
Water Management, Fire, and Hopewell Water Renewal.  External agencies such as 
Virginia American Water and Columbia Gas are also included in the review process.  

Table 2: Off Street Parking Standards under 
current ordinance 



Page | 9  
 

 

 

VIII.  COMMUNITY INPUT MEETING 
Two community input meetings were held on Monday, September 17, 2018.  
Approximately seventy (70) people were in attendance; 25 during session one and 45 in 
the second session.  

The following questions were asked. This list may not be exhaustive. Answers shown in red. 

 
1. How will storm water management be handled? During site plan review process. 
2. Does the development consider the soils/sands that are present on the site? Yes, soils 

must be tested and approved by soils engineer.  
3. The drainage basin is not shown on the engineering plan. Will review.  
4. The items shown on the engineering plan is incorrect based on my knowledge of the 

property.  Will review. 
5. There were questions regarding the use of LED certification of the buildings. LEED 

certification is not required and will not be pursued for this project.  
6. There were questions regarding the trains in the City.  
7. Do we involve state agencies in review process? If permits are required, yes, if not, no. 
8. Will you see an increase in traffic on Riverside Avenue? Possibly, but the project is 

designed to be pedestrian oriented. Riverside entrance for handicap, elderly.  
9. Is there a separate LLC for this project? Yes 
10. Do you have a site diagram for Phase I? No, not separate. 
11. What would this look like if you did not do Building J? 
12. How many units? 174- 179 
13. Where is the location of the Amphitheatre and how does this fit in? Presenter showed 

participants using illustrations.  Partnership with City to explore location of older 
amphitheater.  If not found will discuss building anew.  

14. Would the Amphitheatre be built if there were no development after G1 & G2? The 
amphitheater is the last construction in this project. It will not be built until the last 
building, Building F.  

15. Patrick Copeland School in this area just added 7th Kindergarten class. This should be 
considered.  

16. Can we ask for photos of the Amphitheatre? yes 
17. Can we name the Amphitheatre after Reuben Gilliam Sr. to honor him for his interest in 

Patrick Copeland School? 
18. Will the residences be pet friendly? yes 
19. Is the interior upscale to include granite countertops, stainless steel appliances? yes 
20. What is included in the retail in Phase 1? Restaurant  
21. Security is an important issue.  Has it been considered? yes 
22. Can you throw in another amenity like a pool? No What other amenities are being 

considered? None at this time 
 
 
 



Page | 10  
 

 
 
 

VIII.  PLANNING COMMISSION RESOLUTION: 
At their meeting on August 2, 2018 the Hopewell Planning Commission voted 4-0 
recommending approval, with the proffered condition, to rezone Sub-parcels 299-0005, 
299-0010, and 011-0806 also known as Lots 1 and 2, Copeland Subdivision, and Lots 1, 
2 and 3, Block 16 B Village Subdivision, from the Downtown Central Business District 
(B-1) to a Planned Unit Development (PUD) designation within the Downtown Central 
Business District.  
 
IX.   CITY COUNCIL ACTION: 
The Hopewell City Council approves, approves with conditions, defers or denies with a vote 
of _____ - _____ to rezone Sub-parcels 299-0005, 299-0010, and 011-0806 also known as 
Lots 1 and 2, Copeland Subdivision, and Lots 1, 2 and 3, Block 16 B Village Subdivision, 
from the Downtown Central Business District (B-1) to the a Planned Unit Development 
(PUD) designation within the Downtown Central Business District (B-1/PUD). 
 
Attachments:  
1. Rezoning Application 
2. Conceptual Plan 
3. Parking Study 
4. Proffered Condition 

 
 

 



'Tfie City 
of 

Jf opewe[( Virginia 
300 N. Main Street· Department of Development· (804) 541-2220 · Fax: (804) 541-2318 

APPLICATION FOR REZONING 

APPLICATION FEE: $300 

APPLICANT: 
-------------------------

ADDRESS: 

PHONE#: 
-----------

FAX#: 
-----------

INTEREST IN PROPERTY: ____ OWNER OR ____ AGENT 
IF CONTRACT PURCHASER, PROVIDE A COPY OF THE CONTRACT OR A LETTER 

OF THE PROPERTY OWNER'S CONSENT 

OWNER: 

ADDRESS: 

PHONE#: 
-----------

FAX#: 
-----------

PROPERTY ADDRESS/ LOCATION: 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: 
---------------------

PARCEL#: 
----------

ACREAGE: 
-------

PRESENT ZONING DISTRICT: 

REQUESTED ZONING DISTRICT: ____ _ 

Francisco Landing Holdings, LLC

3715 Belt Boulevard 

Richmond, VA 23234

(804) 291-3899 (804) 291-9098

X

City of Hopewell, VA

300 N. Main Street

Hopewell, VA 23860 

(804) 541-2271

Appomattox Street, Lots 1 & 2 Subdivision: Copeland and Randolph Road W Lots 1-2-3, BLK 16 Subdivision: 
Village B

2990005, 2990010 & 0110806 6.61

B-1

PUD



Land and parking

Please see attached PUD  application dated 6/25/2018

Please see attached PUD  application dated 6/25/2018

Please see attached PUD  application dated 6/25/2018

Please see attached PUD  application dated 6/25/2018

Please see attached PUD  application dated 6/25/2018







Francisco Landing
Francisco Landing Holdings, LLC

3715 Belt Blvd Richmond VA 23229

(804) 291-3899 (804) 291-9098 chipbowman@webowman.com

X

Mix of Use development

0 2

X $39,650,000 est total investment when fully built

with Restaurant site and 2 retail locations

39,650,000 

X







X PUD
6.61



Francisco Landing 
Planned Unit Development Application 

June 25, 2018 

Submitted by: 

Francisco Landing Holdings LLC 



1 | P a g e  
 

Francisco Landing Holdings LLC 

PUD Application  

1. Overview 

 

Approval is requested for a planned unit development located on the Copeland property in the 

Downtown Business District of the City of Hopewell.  The objective of the proposed planned unit 

development plan is to accelerate the revitalization of Downtown Hopewell by adding new 

market rate multi-family residential and select new commercial spaces into the ecosystem while 

preserving permanent open space for the residents of the City of Hopewell and its visitors. The 

Copeland property is widely embraced as an asset to the Hopewell Downtown District and is a 

significant potential catalyst for further revitalization of downtown.  The proposed planned unit 

development acknowledges that the site needs to be developed in a responsible and realistic 

manner that reflects on the history of the city, adds new housing product to the market and 

preserves permanent open space with public access to the Appomattox River.  Following 

thorough evaluation, it is believed that the site’s highest and best use is a mix of use residential 

development due to its proximity to the waterfront and adjacency to City Park.   We believe that 

the existing commercial inventory in Downtown Hopewell will be dramatically enhanced by the 

addition of market rate rooftops to the district and the project will create a comfortable walk 

able downtown community over time.  The proposed 4-story buildings will be constructed with 

a mixture of brick and fine sand finish stucco exterior finishes.  Their placement on the site will 

utilize the existing topography to retain the view shed to the river.   

 

As the conceptual elevations show, the blend of materials will be in keeping with the 

architecture of downtown Hopewell that has already been established and will include features 

that maximize views and provide open air opportunities for the residents including balconies, a 

roof top common area and outdoor dining.  While the Copeland property will primarily be a 

residential development the site plan does include two build-to-suit commercial sites and will 

include a central restaurant site, accessible from the new plaza, that overlooks City Park with 

views down to the river. 

 

The site designs include the addition of a public plaza and promenade that will overlook the 

permanent lower open space know as City Park.  A grand stairway will lead from the new plaza 

to the public park.  The site plan contemplates the future restoration of the historic outdoor 

amphitheater, landscaping and entryway enhancements to the adjacent cemetery and 

relocation of the road access to City Point Park’s parking/drop-off area that will move to 

Hopewell Street.  The new commercial spaces on the site will be minimized to include a ground 

floor restaurant site on the plaza and two build-to-suit commercial sites bracketing the 

Copeland property. 

 

2. Concept Plan 

a. Concept Site Information 



2 | P a g e  
 

i. Vicinity Map  

Please see attached Exhibit A. 

 

ii. Boundary Survey   

Please see attached Exhibit B. 

 

iii. Attorney's certificate showing the owner or owners of the subject property, marketable 

title to the subject property in such owner or owners, names the source of applicant's title 

or interest in the subject property, and the place of record of the latest instrument in the 

chain of title for each parcel constituting the tract.  

Address/Description Parcel ID Owner Use Zoning 

Appomattox Street, 
Lot 1, Subdivision: 
Copeland 

2990005 
 

City of Hopewell Land B-1 

Appomattox Street, 
Lot 2, Subdivision: 
Copeland 

2990010 City of Hopewell Land B-1 

Randolph Road W, 
Lots 1-2-3, BLK 16 
Subdivision: B Village 

0110806 City of Hopewell Parking lot B-1 

 

- Francisco Landing Holdings LLC is taking assignment of a Letter of Intent dated July 10, 

2017 between the City of Hopewell and W. E. Bowman Construction, Inc. pursuant to 

which the City of Hopewell has agreed to sell the subject property to W.E. Bowman 

Construction, Inc. or its assigns subject to certain terms and conditions which have been 

met.  

 

iv. Total Area of the Tract 

- The total area of the subject property is 6.61 Acres.  Please see attached Exhibit B. 

 

v. Abutting Street Names, Width and Route Numbers 

Street name Width Route # 

Appomattox Street 75’  

North Main Street 100’  

Randolph Road 80’ 10 

Alley 18’  

Appomattox Court 40’  

 

vi. Owners, zoning districts and uses of each adjoining tract 

Address Owner Use Zoning 

401 2nd Avenue First Baptist Church 
Trustees 

Church B-1, R-2 

503 2nd Avenue First Baptist Church 
Trustees 

Parking Lot RP 



3 | P a g e  
 

507 Appomattox Court First Baptist Church 
Trustees 

Single Family 
Rental Houses 

R-2 

201 Eppes Street Riverview Propco 
LLC 

Nursing Home B-2 

Appomattox Street, Lot 3 City of Hopewell Park B-1 

Hopewell Street Cemetery Cemetery  R-2 

220 Appomattox Street City of Hopewell Parking lot B-1 

209 E. Cawson Street  City of Hopewell Library B-1 

206 Appomattox Street Christina J. Luman-
Bailey 

General 
Commercial 

B-1 

401 N. Main Street Beacon Theater 
2012 LLC 

Theater-Live B-1 

300 N Main Street City of Hopewell City Offices B-1 

307-309 2 N 2nd Avenue City of Hopewell Police Station B-1 

 

vii. Topographic map with minimum contour intervals and scale acceptable to the 

administrator. 

Please see attached Exhibit C. 

 

b. Concept Design Information: 

i. A concept plan, illustrating the location and functional relationship between all proposed 

land uses.  

Please see attached Exhibit D. 

 

ii. Land use plan or plans showing the location and arrangement of all proposed land uses, 

including the height and number of floors of all buildings (other than one family and two 

family dwellings) both above and below finished grade; the building setbacks from the 

development boundaries and adjacent streets, roads, alleys and ways; the proposed traffic 

circulation pattern including the location and width of all streets, driveways, walkways and 

entrances to parking areas; all off street parking and loading areas; all proposed open 

space areas including common open space, dedicated open space, and developed 

recreational open space; the approximate location of existing and proposed utility systems 

of sanitary sewer, storm sewer, water, electrical, telephone and gas lines. 

 

Please see attached Exhibit D, which shows the location and arrangement of all proposed 

land uses including a legend outlining the building uses, GSF and proposed unit counts.   

 

In addition, a general summary for the proposed buildings is as follows: 

• The residential buildings (G-1, G-2, F & J) are all proposed to be 4 story above grade 

buildings of no more than 50 feet in height excluding additional roof top features 

that are being considered on the G-1 and G-2 buildings.  There will be some 

variations to the ground floor resulting from the desire to leverage the natural 

topography of the site.  This will result in certain areas having a lower first floor but 



4 | P a g e  
 

the objective is to use the natural topography to create additional first floor ceiling 

height in key areas, namely the restaurant site in building G-2.   

• The building placements are designed to be zero setback along Appomattox Street 

and to be placed at zero setback to the parking and limited roadways that need to 

be developed on the site as part of the PUD plan.   A private parking courtyard will 

be placed inside the courtyard created by buildings G-1 & G-2 and building F.  Public 

traffic will primarily remain on N. Main Street and Appomattox although public will 

not be restricted from entering the parking lots and roadways that service the 

balance of the planned residential improvements on the site.  Roadways and 

sidewalks are being designed to mimic and/or compliment the existing downtown 

streetscape that Hopewell has established.  Exact dimensions have not been defined 

for those elements at this time.  

• The two commercial buildings (I & E) are proposed to be built to suit based on 

tenant requirements.  It is not anticipated that the buildings will exceed 1 story, but 

tenant requirements are not known at this time.  

 

Please see attached Exhibit E and its included legend for an illustrative look at Land Uses in 

the plan.  Exhibit F narrows this look to the open spaces which include the Plaza, Promenade, 

Amphitheater, Private Courtyard, Roof Features on G-1/G2 and the lower Green Space 

leading to City Park.  

The table below shows the calculation of open spaces compared to the total site, which 

demonstrates that the project achieves the requirements of the PUD ordinance related to 

50% open space and 10% developed recreational spaces. 

 

 

Please reference Exhibit B for locations of existing utility systems.  The approximate location 

of proposed utility systems is still under development at this time but generally speaking the 

development objective will be to utilize the existing infrastructure of the site to the greatest 

extent possible.  

 

Percentage

Total Land 6.61        

Land Uses:

Park/Green Space 1.94        

Total Common Open Space 1.94        29%

Private Courtyard 0.10        

G-1 & G2 Roof Features 0.06        

Plaza 0.46        

Promenade 0.29        

Amphiltheater 0.52        

Total Developed recreation Space 1.43        22%

Total Open Space 3.36        51%

Acres



5 | P a g e  
 

iii. A plan or statement showing the location and design of all screening, and indicating the 

type and height of such screening. 

At this time the exact placement and quantity of elements needing screening has not 

been determined.  Overall the screening of elements that require it will be compliant 

with zoning requirements.    

 

iv. A plan or statement detailing the exact number of improved developed recreational open 

space, and all covenants, restrictions and conditions pertaining to the use, maintenance 

and operation of common spaces and the percentage of the tract to be used as open space. 

 Please see attached Exhibit F. 

The total open space in the PUD is calculated to be 51% of the site’s total acreage.  It is 

the city and developer’s plan to convey the open spaces (including the plaza, 

promenade, amphitheater and green space) back to the City of Hopewell for permanent 

public use following improvement of the open spaces in accordance with the approved 

PUD.   

The conveyed open spaces will be covered by restrictions such that they will remain 

public assets and not be at risk of future development.  Following the conveyance, the 

city will be responsible for the governance, upkeep and maintenance of the open 

spaces.  

The Developer will be granted access easements to allow for the future construction 

access and building maintenance access.  Additionally, the re-conveyed open spaces will 

provide reasonable conveniences for the residences of Francisco Landing, specifically 

nighttime noise ordinances related to amphitheater and plaza events.   

 

v. For a PUD or PMH district, a statement in tabular form of the anticipated residential 

density and the total number of dwelling units, the percentage of the tract which is to be 

occupied by structures, and the total floor area (commercial) of all commercial uses.  

  Please refer to Exhibit G for the requested Tables 

  The percentage of the tract to be occupied by structures is 21.4% 

 The total floor area of all commercial uses is 21,526 GSF, which is subject to refinement 

as the commercial buildings I and E are anticipated to be built to suit. 

 

vi. For PSC district, a statement in tabular form of the anticipated commercial floor area. 

N/A  

 

vii. Architectural sketches of typical proposed structures, including lighting fixtures and signs, 

and landscaping 

Please see Exhibits H & I for Conceptual Elevations of the G1 and G2 buildings along 

with photographic material samples. 

 



6 | P a g e  
 

Please see Exhibit J for a conceptual 3-D rendering of the building from the plaza view at 

Appomattox Street. 

 

Lighting, signage and landscaping will follow the preexisting fixtures and streetscape 

that has been established in the Hopewell Downtown District.   

 

 

viii. When the development is to be constructed in stages or units, a sequence of the 

development schedule showing the order of construction of each principal functional 

element of such stages or units, the approximate completion date for each stage or unit, 

and a cost estimate of all improvements within each stage or unit.  

 

Phase Improvements Planned Construction 
Timing 

Rough order of 
Magnitude / 

Estimated Costs 

1 Buildings G-1 & G-2, Plaza, 
Promenade and Storm water 
management features required for 
the development 

12 months $15,500,000 

2 Building J 9 Months following 
absorption of the 
units in G-1 & G-2 

 $10,600,000 

3 Building F 9 Months following 
absorption of the 
units In J 

$10,400,000 

4 Building I & E  9 Months 
Construction will 
begin upon 
successful 
consummation of 
commercial leases 
for theses build to 
suit sites 

$3,000,000 

5 Amphitheater To be coordinated 
with the City 

$150,000 

TOTAL   $39,650,000 

 

ix. A plan or report indicating the extent, timing and estimated cost of all offsite 

improvements, such as road, sewer and drainage facilities, necessary to construct the 

proposed development, which plan or report shall relate to the sequence of development 

schedule if the development is to be constructed in stages or units. 

 

At this time it is not anticipated that this development will require meaningful offsite 

improvements as it has been represented that existing utilities to the site will be sufficient to 

support the planned improvements.  The developer will be requesting that the existing 

utilities be brought to property line or within 5 feet of the proposed buildings by the city. 



7 | P a g e  
 

 

x. A statement showing the relationship of the planned development to the comprehensive 

plan of the city.  

Francisco Landing is situated on the Copeland property, which lies at the heart of the 

Downtown Hopewell District.  The Downtown Hopewell District has been identified as 

the core Priority Planning Area in the 2018 - 2023 comprehensive plan, with the 

Copeland property representing “the single most downtown property with the 

development potential – both physically and economically – to catalyze successful 

revitalization.”  Francisco Landing seeks to realistically and responsibly develop the 

Copeland property in a way that will bring new market rate housing inventory to the 

district, enhance and permanently establish public open and green spaces to form the 

fabric of the community’s outdoor recreation personality, and promote the further 

revitalization of the Hopewell Downtown District by leveraging the sizable inventory of 

available commercial space within two to three blocks of the waterfront.   

 

xi. Where required by planning commission, a traffic impact analysis, showing the effect of 

traffic generated by the project on sur-rounding roads.  

The City and developer have engaged Desmond Design Management, a national 

specialist in the planning and design of parking and transportation improvements, to 

evaluate the reasonableness of our parking plan for Francisco Landing.  Desmond will 

validate our parking requirements against available parking to the development 

specifically using ULI derived shared parking metrics in its evaluation.  The work product 

from Desmond will be delivered to us by June 30, 2018.   

 

xii. Where required by planning commission, a fiscal impact analysis, listing city revenue 

generated by the project and city expenditures resulting from the construction of the 

project.  

 

It is believed that the total economic impact of this project on the Hopewell Downtown 

District will be significant.  A projection of the economic impact is under evaluation and 

will be presented shortly.   

 

  



8 | P a g e  
 

 

Schedule of Exhibits 

Exhibit A: Vicinity Map 

Exhibit B: Boundary Survey 

Exhibit C: Topographic Map 

Exhibit D: Concept Plan 

Exhibit E: Land Use Illustration 

Exhibit F: Open Space Illustration 

Exhibit G: Table of Residential Density/Units/Total Commercial Area 

Exhibit H: Appomattox Street View Elevation of G-1/G-2 & Materials 

Exhibit I: Plaza View Elevation G-1/G-2 & Materials 

Exhibit J: Conceptual 3-D View of Building G-1, G-2 and Plaza 

 



.ouisa 

Goochland

Am@lfa 
,urt House 

�cksto11e 

Alberta 

Ford

Lawr@ncevi 11@ 

WI" Bmvling Gre@n 
Ladysmi h 

' Ashland

Glen Allen 

Mech a nicsvi I le 

Richmond 

®@ 

@) 

P@tersburg 

Dinwiddie 

Stony Creek @ 

(§J 
@) 

Yale 
Jarratt 

Warsaw 
Tappahann 

Windsor 

t1ffolik 
Chesapeake 

,:::, 
ID 

iF 

� Crisfi@ld 
c:: 

c,. 

9 
Virginia Beach 

w.e.bowmlan
CONSTRUCT ON 

Or 

Exhibit A

Copeland 
Property



RP
A

RP
A

RPA

RPA

RPA

RPA

RP
A

RP
A

R
PA

RPA

RP
A

RP
A

S 03°31'16" E             362.92'

S 06°21'59" E                     276' +/- (TOTAL)

132' +/-
144.10'

S 
86

°3
0'

56
" W

   
  1

65
.0

7'

S 03°31'29" E
23.49'

N 88°28'06" E
35.00'

N/F
ALDRIDGE

D.B. 209 ; PG. 818

N/F
BAPTIST CHURCH OF CITY POINT

CEMETERY

N
 8

6°
26

'0
1"

E 
   

   
   

 1
54

.8
7'

S 56°32'15" W
             557.59'

1

1

1

S 04°19'42" E
28.95'

S 
86

°1
9'

22
" E

   
   

   
   

   
37

1.
31

'

"B"  VILLAGE

LOT  3 LOT  2 LOT  1

S 85°41'51" W
             136.50'

18'  ALLEYN 04°19'42" W      120.00'

N 04°19'42" W      243.61'

S 85°40'18" W   18.00'

N
 59°47'04" E    99.42'

N 04°11'07" W

60.90'

LOT  4LOT  5

LOT  7

N/F
FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH OF CITY POINT

CEMETERY

LOT  D LOT  11 LOT  10 LOT  1

"B"  VILLAGE

LOT  8 LOT  7 LOT  6LOT  9

N 04°16'49" W    169.30'N 04°19'11" W    91.71'

N
 8

7°
40

'5
3"

 E
   

   
   

   
   

30
1.

43
'

N 04°19'11" W              430' +/- (TOTAL)

133.35'111.83'93' +/-

PROPERTY LINE
507' +/- ALONG

MEAN LOW
WATER

S 
82

°2
1'

46
" E

   
   

   
   

 4
35

.9
4'

SU
RV

EY
  T

IE
  L

IN
E

LOT  A

1

1

1

2

20'  A
LLE

Y

S 33°31'32"E

60.58'

LO
T  2

LO
T  3

LO
T  4

W
M W

W

W
M

PTC
TV

G

PTC
TV

PTC
TV

G

G

G

G

G

G

G
G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

8"W

8"W

8"W

8"W

W

W

W

8"W

8"W

8"W

8"W

8"W

8"W

G

G

8"SS(C
.I.)

8"SS(C
.I.)

8"SS(C
.I.)

G

G

G

G

G

G
G

G

8"SS(C
.I.)

8"SS(C
.I.)

30

30

N 00°58'20" E      467.55'

N 5
1°

42
'11

" W
   

   
21

0.
04

'

S 
62

°2
9'

43
" E

   
   

25
2.

57
'

S 35°30'04" E

70.67'

N
52°48'32" E

176.53'

N38°33'37" E

104.37'

N09°21'07" E183.65'
N34°31'39" W

102.63'

N
 85°48'39" E
71.25'

EXIST. PAVED DRIVE

EXIST.
STORMWATER

MANAGEMENT
BASIN

RIVERVIEW ON THE
APPOMATTOX

NURSING HOME

1

3 4

S61°16'24" E
87.08'

N49°43'48" W  65.22'

S89°39'36" E  20.25'

S42°51'02" E
40.14'

5

16

6

EXIST.
PAVED
DRIVE

PUBLIC   LIBRARY

BEACON   THEATER

7

W
M

W

SS

SS

6"W

8"W

8"W

OHE

OHT

SS

SS

8"W

8"W

8"W

OHE

6"W

8"W

TT
V

OHE

TTV

OHT

OHE

12

EXIST.

PIER

16

EXIST.G
RAVEL

PARKING LO
T

EXIST.

ASPHALT

PARKING

LO
T

EXIST.
GRAVEL
DRIVE

C
:\

U
se

rs
\O

w
n

e
r\

D
ro

p
b

o
x\

4-
Pr

o
je

c
ts

\H
o

p
e

w
e

ll 
M

ix
e

d
-U

se
\D

W
G

\B
A

SE
.d

w
g

 |
 P

lo
tt

e
d

 o
n

 6
/2

1/
20

18
 9

:0
4 

PM
 |

 b
y 

ro
g

e
r g

a
lla

h
a

n

SHEET NO.

SC
A

LE
 : 

1"
 =

 5
0'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
. :

 T
BD

PR
O

JE
C

T 
M

A
N

A
G

ER
 : 

ST
IG

 O
W

EN
S

DATE DESCRIPTION

DATE : JUNE 21, 2018

Q
U

A
LI

TY
 A

SS
U

R
A

N
C

E 
: S

TU
A

R
T 

LI
TT

LE

REVISION BLOCK

14
20

7 
PO

N
D

 C
H

A
SE

 P
LA

C
E 

|
 M

ID
LO

TH
IA

N
 , 

V
A

 |
 2

31
13

TE
LE

PH
O

N
E 

N
O

. 8
04

.9
38

.8
86

4 
|

w
w

w
.s

e
ki

vs
o

lu
tio

n
s.

c
o

m

se
ki

vso
lu

tio
n

s
O

P
TI

M
IZ

IN
G

 Y
O

U
R

 D
EV

EL
O

P
M

EN
T 

W
O

R
LD

CITY OF HOPEWELL, VIRGINIA

Lic. No. 21331

Stig Owens

1 inch = 50 ft.

( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE

050 50 100 20025

EXIST. 16' DRAINAGE EASEMENT

EXIST. 25' ACCESS EASEMENT FOR
CEMETERY

EXIST. 18' ACCESS EASEMENT

EXIST. 8' DRAINAGE EASEMENT

EXIST. VARIABLE WIDTH PARKING &
ACCESS EASEMENT

EXIST. 10'X20' CEMETERY EASEMENT

EXISTING VARIABLE WIDTH
DRAINAGE EASEMENT

1

2

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING 100 YEAR FLOOD PLAIN

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING RESOURCE PROTECTION AREA

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LIMITS OF EXISTING
WETLANDS

DENOTES EXISTING TREE GRATE

DENOTES EXISTING LIGHTPOLE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING STORM DRAINAGE PIPE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING WATERLINE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING WATER VALVE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING WATER METER

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER (8" CAST IRON)

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER (DIAMETER AND
MATERIAL NOT KNOWN)

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING GAS LINE

RPA

W

WM

8"SS (C.I.)

G

3

4

5

THIS PLAN HAS BEEN COMPILED FROM VARIOUS
RESOURCES AND INFORMATION AND IS CONCEPTUAL
IN NATURE. ADDITIONAL RESEARCH AND FIELD
SURVEYING WILL BE REQUIRED TO PROPERLY PREPARE
THE TRUE EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN.

BOUNDARY AND EXISTING EASEMENT INFORMATION
SHOWN IS TAKEN FROM A PLAT PREPARED BY TIMMONS
GROUP, ENTITLED " PLAT SHOWING A RESUBDIVISION OF
1.502 ACRES, BLOCK 31 "B" VILLAGE & 8.14 +/- ACRES,
BLOCK 12 WEST POINT CITY FORMIMG LOTS 1, 2 & 3
COPELAND SUBDIVISION, HOPEWELL VIRGINIA"
DATED JUNE 23, 2009.

BASED ON GRAPHIC DETERMINATION, THIS PROPERTY IS
IN ZONE "A4"  AND "C" OF THE HUD DEFINED FLOOD
HAZARD AREAS AS SHOWN ON F.E.M.A. FLOOD
INSURANCE RATE MAP, COMMUNITY PANEL #510080
0005 B DATED 9/5/79.

1.

2.

3.

W.E. BOWMAN CONSTRUCTION
3715 BELT BOULEVARD

RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 23234
CONTACT: ED BOWMAN

6

SS

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING POWER POLE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING OVERHEAD POWER LINE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING OVERHEAD TELEPHONE LINE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE &
CABLE TELEVISION LINE

OHE

OHT

TTV

7

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPOMATTOX          STREET      ~      75'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANDOLPH     ROAD   ~    80'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPOMATTOX    COURT   ~    40'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOPEWELL      STREET   ~     50'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERSIDE      AVENUE  ~   30'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2 2.492 ACRES PARCEL ID #2990010 ZONED : B-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
EPPES  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIBRARY   STREET  ~  58'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH   MAIN   STREET  ~ 100'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3 3.55+/- ACRES PARCEL ID #2990015 ZONED : B-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1 3.600 ACRES PARCEL ID #2990005 ZONED : B-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE "A4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE "C"

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH  2ND  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST   CAWSON    STREET  ~  70'    R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPOMATTOX          RIIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 54 PARCEL I.D.  # 0800935 ZONED : B-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 55 PARCEL I.D.  # 0800930 ZONED : B-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL ID  PORTION OF  #0800922 1.24 ACRES ZONED : B-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAND AREA NORTH OF APPOMATTOX STREET = 6.61 ACRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOPEWELL MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT  

AutoCAD SHX Text
C1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES :

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING EASEMENT SUMMARY



RP
A

RP
A

RPA

RPA

RPA

RPA

RP
A

RP
A

R
PA

RPA

RP
A

RP
A

S 03°31'16" E             362.92'

S 06°21'59" E                     276' +/- (TOTAL)

132' +/-
144.10'

S 
86

°3
0'

56
" W

   
  1

65
.0

7'

S 03°31'29" E
23.49'

N 88°28'06" E
35.00'

N/F
ALDRIDGE

D.B. 209 ; PG. 818

N/F
BAPTIST CHURCH OF CITY POINT

CEMETERY

N
 8

6°
26

'0
1"

E 
   

   
   

 1
54

.8
7'

S 56°32'15" W
             557.59'

1

1

1

S 04°19'42" E
28.95'

S 
86

°1
9'

22
" E

   
   

   
   

   
37

1.
31

'

"B"  VILLAGE

LOT  3 LOT  2 LOT  1

S 85°41'51" W
             136.50'

18'  ALLEYN 04°19'42" W      120.00'

N 04°19'42" W      243.61'

S 85°40'18" W   18.00'

N
 59°47'04" E    99.42'

N 04°11'07" W

60.90'

LOT  4LOT  5

LOT  7

N/F
FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH OF CITY POINT

CEMETERY

LOT  D LOT  11 LOT  10 LOT  1

"B"  VILLAGE

LOT  8 LOT  7 LOT  6LOT  9

N 04°16'49" W    169.30'N 04°19'11" W    91.71'

N
 8

7°
40

'5
3"

 E
   

   
   

   
   

30
1.

43
'

N 04°19'11" W              430' +/- (TOTAL)

133.35'111.83'93' +/-

PROPERTY LINE
507' +/- ALONG

MEAN LOW
WATER

S 
82

°2
1'

46
" E

   
   

   
   

 4
35

.9
4'

SU
RV

EY
  T

IE
  L

IN
E

LOT  A

1

1

1

2

20'  A
LLE

Y

S 33°31'32"E

60.58'

LO
T  2

LO
T  3

LO
T  4

W
M W

W

W
M

PTC
TV

G

PTC
TV

PTC
TV

G

G

G

G

G

G

G
G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

8"W

8"W

8"W

8"W

W

W

W

8"W

8"W

8"W

8"W

8"W

8"W

G

G

8"SS(C
.I.)

8"SS(C
.I.)

8"SS(C
.I.)

G

G

G

G

G

G
G

G

8"SS(C
.I.)

8"SS(C
.I.)

1816
14

14
14

12

10

6

1412
10

16
18 20 22

24
26

28
30

20
22

24
26
28

30
32

34
36

38
40

42
44

20
22

24
26

28
30

32
34

36
38

40
42

44

46

40

3836
343228 30

46

48

46

4442

20

22 24
26 28

10
12

14
16

18 22
20

24

26

28
32

30

38

40

42

36

32

32

34

46

44

46

46

8

4

2

0

0

2

2

2

0

8

4

20

34
36

38
40

44

10

12

14

30

30

N 00°58'20" E      467.55'

N 5
1°

42
'11

" W
   

   
21

0.
04

'

S 
62

°2
9'

43
" E

   
   

25
2.

57
'

S 35°30'04" E

70.67'

N
52°48'32" E

176.53'

N38°33'37" E

104.37'
34

N09°21'07" E183.65'
N34°31'39" W

102.63'

N
 85°48'39" E
71.25'

EXIST. PAVED DRIVE

EXIST.
STORMWATER

MANAGEMENT
BASIN

RIVERVIEW ON THE
APPOMATTOX

NURSING HOME

1

3 4

S61°16'24" E
87.08'

N49°43'48" W  65.22'

S89°39'36" E  20.25'

S42°51'02" E
40.14'

5

16

6

EXIST.
PAVED
DRIVE

PUBLIC   LIBRARY

BEACON   THEATER

7

W
M

W

SS

SS

6"W

8"W

8"W

OHE

OHT

SS

SS

8"W

8"W

8"W

OHE

6"W

8"W

TT
V

OHE

TTV

OHT

OHE

12

EXIST.

PIER

16

EXIST.G
RAVEL

PARKING LO
T

EXIST.

ASPHALT

PARKING

LO
T

EXIST.
GRAVEL
DRIVE

C
:\

U
se

rs
\O

w
n

e
r\

D
ro

p
b

o
x\

4-
Pr

o
je

c
ts

\H
o

p
e

w
e

ll 
M

ix
e

d
-U

se
\D

W
G

\B
A

SE
.d

w
g

 |
 P

lo
tt

e
d

 o
n

 1
0/

9/
20

17
 1

0:
15

 P
M

 |
 b

y 
ro

g
e

r g
a

lla
h

a
n

SHEET NO.

SC
A

LE
 : 

1"
 =

 5
0'

PR
O

JE
C

T 
N

O
. :

 T
BD

PR
O

JE
C

T 
M

A
N

A
G

ER
 : 

ST
IG

 O
W

EN
S

DATE DESCRIPTION

DATE : OCTOBER 9, 2017

Q
U

A
LI

TY
 A

SS
U

R
A

N
C

E 
: S

TU
A

R
T 

LI
TT

LE

REVISION BLOCK

14
20

7 
PO

N
D

 C
H

A
SE

 P
LA

C
E 

|
 M

ID
LO

TH
IA

N
 , 

V
A

 |
 2

31
13

TE
LE

PH
O

N
E 

N
O

. 8
04

.9
38

.8
86

4 
|

w
w

w
.s

e
ki

vs
o

lu
tio

n
s.

c
o

m

se
ki

vso
lu

tio
n

s
O

P
TI

M
IZ

IN
G

 Y
O

U
R

 D
EV

EL
O

P
M

EN
T 

W
O

R
LD

CITY OF HOPEWELL, VIRGINIA

Lic. No. 21331

Stig Owens

1 inch = 50 ft.

( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE

050 50 100 20025

EXIST. 16' DRAINAGE EASEMENT

EXIST. 25' ACCESS EASEMENT FOR
CEMETERY

EXIST. 18' ACCESS EASEMENT

EXIST. 8' DRAINAGE EASEMENT

EXIST. VARIABLE WIDTH PARKING &
ACCESS EASEMENT

EXIST. 10'X20' CEMETERY EASEMENT

EXISTING VARIABLE WIDTH
DRAINAGE EASEMENT

1

2

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING 100 YEAR FLOOD PLAIN

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING RESOURCE PROTECTION AREA

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LIMITS OF EXISTING
WETLANDS

DENOTES EXISTING TREE GRATE

DENOTES EXISTING LIGHTPOLE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING STORM DRAINAGE PIPE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING WATERLINE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING WATER VALVE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING WATER METER

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER (8" CAST IRON)

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING SANITARY SEWER (DIAMETER AND
MATERIAL NOT KNOWN)

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING GAS LINE

RPA

W

WM

8"SS (C.I.)

G

3

4

5

THIS PLAN HAS BEEN COMPILED FROM VARIOUS
RESOURCES AND INFORMATION AND IS CONCEPTUAL
IN NATURE. ADDITIONAL RESEARCH AND FIELD
SURVEYING WILL BE REQUIRED TO PROPERLY PREPARE
THE TRUE EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN.

BOUNDARY AND EXISTING EASEMENT INFORMATION
SHOWN IS TAKEN FROM A PLAT PREPARED BY TIMMONS
GROUP, ENTITLED " PLAT SHOWING A RESUBDIVISION OF
1.502 ACRES, BLOCK 31 "B" VILLAGE & 8.14 +/- ACRES,
BLOCK 12 WEST POINT CITY FORMIMG LOTS 1, 2 & 3
COPELAND SUBDIVISION, HOPEWELL VIRGINIA"
DATED JUNE 23, 2009.

BASED ON GRAPHIC DETERMINATION, THIS PROPERTY IS
IN ZONE "A4"  AND "C" OF THE HUD DEFINED FLOOD
HAZARD AREAS AS SHOWN ON F.E.M.A. FLOOD
INSURANCE RATE MAP, COMMUNITY PANEL #510080
0005 B DATED 9/5/79.

1.

2.

3.

W.E. BOWMAN CONSTRUCTION
3715 BELT BOULEVARD

RICHMOND, VIRGINIA 23234
CONTACT: ED BOWMAN

6

SS

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING POWER POLE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING OVERHEAD POWER LINE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING OVERHEAD TELEPHONE LINE

DENOTES APPROXIMATE LOCATION
EXISTING UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE &
CABLE TELEVISION LINE

OHE

OHT

TTV

7

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPOMATTOX          STREET      ~      75'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RANDOLPH     ROAD   ~    80'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPOMATTOX    COURT   ~    40'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOPEWELL      STREET   ~     50'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERSIDE      AVENUE  ~   30'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 2 2.492 ACRES PARCEL ID #2990010 ZONED : R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
EPPES  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
LIBRARY   STREET  ~  58'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH   MAIN   STREET  ~ 100'  R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 3 3.55+/- ACRES PARCEL ID #2990015 ZONED : R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 1 3.600 ACRES PARCEL ID #2990005 ZONED : R-2

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE "A4"

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZONE "C"

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH  2ND  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST   CAWSON    STREET  ~  70'    R/W

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPOMATTOX          RIIVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 54 PARCEL I.D.  # 0800935 ZONED : B-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT 55 PARCEL I.D.  # 0800930 ZONED : B-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARCEL ID  PORTION OF  #0800922 1.48 ACRES (TOTAL 3 PARCELS) ZONED : B-1

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOPEWELL MIXED-USE DEVELOPMENT  

AutoCAD SHX Text
C1.0

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING CONDITIONS PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTES :

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXISTING EASEMENT SUMMARY



Master Plan

06/22/2018

Existing Cemetery

Existing Buildings

Key

Proposed New Construction

Proposed Public Space

Potential Future Expansion

Church

Plaza

Green Space

City
Park

Appom
attox Street

W
. R

an
do

lph
 R

d.

E. Cawson Street

Hopewell S
treet

N. Main Street

Alley

E

I

J

F

G1
G2

 Library

Beacon 
Theater

Amphitheater

Pr
om

en
ad

e

N

0  20’  40’     80’   120’

Francisco Landing
W. E. Bowman Construction

Exhibit D 

GSF Units
G1&2 4-Story Residential w/Restaurant 74,529  75
J 4-Story Residential w/Parking 49,601  50
F 4-Story Residential 53,268  54
I Commercial 11,702  1
E Commercial 3.643 1



Key

Existing Buildings

Proposed New Construction

Proposed Public Space

N

0  20’  40’     80’   120’

Amphitheater SqFt22538.44
Courtyard SqFt16863.74
E SqFt3748.68
F SqFt13705.11
G1 SqFt14531.01
G2 SqFt4766.63
Green Space SqFt84358.33
I SqFt11834.48
J SqFt13947.83
Parking Lot SqFt56729.27
Paved Area SqFt9128.72
Plaza SqFt20248.97
Promenade SqFt12617.85

Exhibit E



Key

Existing Buildings

Proposed New Construction

Proposed Public Space

N

0  20’  40’     80’   120’

Amphitheater SqFt22538.44
Green Space SqFt84358.33
Plaza SqFt20248.97
Private Courtyard SqFt4234.31
Promenade SqFt12617.85

Exhibit F



BLDG	ID USE #	Stories TYPE FOOTPRINT
TOTAL	AREA	

(GSF) AREA	(GSF) R-2	TARGET	EFF	 RESIDENTIAL	(NSF)
COMMERCIAL	
AREA	(GSF)

TOTAL	UNIT	
COUNT		(R-2) 	#	1	BR	(45%) #	2	BR	(45%) #	3	BR	(10%)

E B 1 ASSEMBLY 3,643 3,643 0 N/A 0 3,643 0 0 0 0
F R-2 4 MF 13,317 53,268 53,268 0.82 43,680 0 54 24 24 5
G-1/G-2 R-2/A 4 MF/RESTAURANT 19,441 80,710 74,529 0.82 61,114 6,181 75 34 34 8
I B 1 COMMERCIAL 11,702 11,702 0 N/A 0 11,702 0 0 0 0
J R-2/S-1 4 MF/PARKING 13,624 54,496 49,601 0.82 40,673 0 50 23 23 5
TOTALS 203,819 177,398 145,466 21,526 179 81 81 18

Exhibit G
Hopewell	Masterplan	Copeland	Site	-	4	Story

RESIDENTIAL	



Building G1/G2 - Appatomox Street Elevation

06/22/2018

A

Brick Metal Stucco

A B C

0  2’  4’     8’   12’
Scale  1/16” = 1’ - 0”

C Cornice, Upper Level Exterior Walls & Trim D

D

B Lintels & Railings

Francisco Landing
W. E. Bowman Construction

Exhibit H



Building G1/G2 - Plaza Elevation

06/22/2018

B

Brick Metal Stucco

A B C D

Cornice, Lintels, Exterior Trim

C

A

Aluminum Clad Windows

AB Lintels & Railings

C Cornice, Upper Level Exterior Walls & Trim

0  2’  4’     8’   12’
Scale  1/16” = 1’ - 0”

Note: Area shown in white represents extent of facade that is oblique to view.

D

Francisco Landing
W. E. Bowman Construction

Exhibit I



Plaza Perspective 
(Conceptual View.  Plaza Topography not finalized)
06/22/2018

Francisco Landing
W. E. Bowman Construction

Exhibit J



   
 

 

18 TREMONT STREET, SUITE 300, BOSTON, MA 02108                   www.DESMAN.com                   PHONE 617.778.9882    FAX 617.778.9883 
 

BOSTON        CHICAGO        CLEVELAND        DENVER        FORT LAUDERDALE        HARTFORD        NEW YORK        PITTSBURGH        WASHINGTON, D.C. 

 

ARCHITECTS 
STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS 

PLANNERS 
PARKING CONSULTANTS 

RESTORATION ENGINEERS 
GREEN PARKING CONSULTING 

 

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM 
 
DATE:    Monday, July 23, 2018   
 
TO:    Chip Bowman – W.E. Bowman Construction 
           
CC:    Jake Elder – City of Hopewell 
 
FROM:    Andrew S. Hill, Director of Consulting Services – DESMAN, Inc. 
 
PROJECT:  Francisco Landing Development     PROJECT #: 20‐18148.00‐3 
 
RE:    Shared Parking Analysis Report   
                           
 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
 
Working off the most recent development plan (dated 6/22/18), DESMAN developed a summary of the 
proposed development program. This program includes the following: 
 

 Building E – A 3,643 square foot structure proposed as a Visitor’s Center or other place of 
assembly. 

 Building  F  –  A  53,268  square  foot  residential  building  containing  54  rental  residential 
units. 

 Buildings G‐1 and G‐2 – Two buildings totaling roughly 74,529 square feet and containing 
grade‐level commercial space of 6,181 square feet and 75 rental residential units. 

 Building I – A 11,702 square foot commercial building. 

 Building J ‐ A 54,496 square foot residential building containing 50 rental residential units. 
 
The program also includes 138 parking spaces spread across multiple surface lots planned within the body 
of the development, as well as use of 33 curbside spaces along Appomattox Street and roughly 100 spaces 
in the City‐owned lot on the block bordered by East Cawson Street, Hopewell Street, Appomattox Street, 
and an interior alleyway.  
 
The proposed phasing plan for the program would place development of Buildings E, G‐1, G‐2, and I in 
Phase 1, introduce Building J in Phase 2, and add Building F in Phase 3. The following analysis is presented 
to reflect this phasing. 
 
This plan did NOT include land uses or parking associated with the abutting and existing commercial and 
institutional properties as shown in Figure 1, next page. The impact of these buildings on the project will 
be evaluated in a separate study scheduled for execution later this year.  For the purposes of this analysis, 
focus was limited to just those buildings within the boundaries of the proposed development.   



  Page 2 of 14   
 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Site Drawing and Segment Designations                           

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  Page 3 of 14   
 

 

 

 

SHARED USE BACKGROUND 
 
At the request of W.E. Bowman Construction and the City of Hopewell, DESMAN prepared the following 
Shared Parking model specific the subject development.  Shared Parking is a methodology for calculating 
the parking demands of a proposed project developed by the Urban Land Institute (ULI) in collaboration 
with  the  Institute of Transportation Engineers  (ITE) and  the  International Council of Shopping Centers 
(ICSC).  This  methodology  is  a  departure  from  the  standard  zoning  ordinance  method  of  calculating 
required parking which  is  to  apply  a parking demand  ratio  (or  parking  requirement  per  local  code or 
ordinance) to each component within a project, sum the total of all demands and build against this figure. 
This traditional methodology treats parking demand as a fixed, unwavering phenomenon and, as result, 
often results in the provision of parking supply greater than the true need of the development. 
 
Shared Parking methodology is a statistical modeling approach that incorporates real‐world data on how 
land uses actually behave and simulates how parking demand for each land use in a development waxes 
and  wanes  during  the  course  of  day  and  year.  This  methodology  allows  the  planner  to  accurately 
determine the need for the development as an organic whole, rather than an assembly of disparate parts. 
The result is provision of a parking supply to support the project which is adequate to meet the project’s 
needs without building excess parking spaces. 
 
Shared Parking models are comprised of industry standard base parking demand ratios, adjusted to reflect 
for  variations  in demand  specific  to each project’s  composition  and  locality,  as well  as  fluctuations  in 
demand according to time of day and year.  
 
Table 1: Base Parking Demand Ratios                   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Base parking demand ratios are developed  through  the  long‐term study of  stand‐alone  land uses  (i.e. 
office buildings, retail stores, hotel, etc.) with their own dedicated parking facilities. Researchers perform 
occupancy counts at different times of day, different days of the week, and different times of the year, to 
isolate  the busiest hour of  the busiest weekday and/or weekend day annually. Once  the peak hour  is 
isolated, researchers divide the number of vehicles parked by the key driving element in each land use, 
such as the number of hotel rooms or total gross leasable square footage of the building. This division 
renders a parking demand ratio; the mathematic expression of the number of cars parked at the busiest 
hour of the busiest day related to the land use’s key driver.  
 

Land Use User Group Weekday Weekend Unit Source

Standard Retail Customer 2.90 3.20 /ksf GLA Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI‐The Urban Land Institute ,  2005, p.11

Employee 0.70 0.80 /ksf GLA Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI‐The Urban Land Institute ,  2005, p.11

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 12.00 19.00 /ksf GLA Parking Generation: 4th Edition. Washington DC: ITE ‐ Institute of Transportation Engineers , 2010

Employee 2.20 3.70 /ksf GLA Parking Generation: 4th Edition. Washington DC: ITE ‐ Institute of Transportation Engineers , 2010

Fast Casual Dining Customer 15.00 17.00 /ksf GFA Parking Generation: 4th Edition. Washington DC: ITE ‐ Institute of Transportation Engineers , 2010

Employee 2.40 3.40 /ksf GFA Parking Generation: 4th Edition. Washington DC: ITE ‐ Institute of Transportation Engineers , 2010

Café/Take Out Customer 12.00 16.00 /ksf GLA Parking Generation: 4th Edition. Washington DC: ITE ‐ Institute of Transportation Engineers , 2010

Employee 2.50 2.85 /ksf GLA Parking Generation: 4th Edition. Washington DC: ITE ‐ Institute of Transportation Engineers , 2010

Cinema Customer 0.19 0.26 /seat DESMAN Inc (proprietary information from AMC, 2003‐2009) and  Shared Parking: 2nd Edition., 2005, p.11

Employee 0.01 0.01 /seat DESMAN Inc (proprietary information from AMC, 2003‐2009) and  Shared Parking: 2nd Edition., 2005, p.11

Apartments Studio/1BR 0.10 0.10 /unit DESMAN Inc. &  Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute, 2005, p.11

Multi‐BR 0.50 0.50 /unit DESMAN Inc. &  Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute, 2005, p.11

Reserved 1.00 1.00 /unit DESMAN Inc. &  Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute, 2005, p.11

Guest 0.05 0.05 /unit DESMAN Inc. &  Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute, 2005, p.11

General Office Visitor 0.30 0.03 /ksf GFA Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute, 2005, p.11

Employee 3.50 0.35 /ksf GFA Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute , 2005, p.11

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0.30 0.33 /seat Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute , 2005, p.11

Employee 0.07 0.07 /seat Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute , 2005, p.11



  Page 4 of 14   

 

 

The Urban Land Institute (ULI), the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), the International Council 
of Shopping Center (ICSC), the International Parking Institute (IPI), the National Parking Association (NPA), 
the  American  Planning  Association  (APA)  and  other  agencies  gather  and  consolidate  these  individual 
studies into peer‐reviewed, statistically reliable resources for application in planning studies, such as this 
one. DESMAN applied the base demand ratios to the proposed program shown in Table 1, prior page. 
 
It should be noted that DESMAN assumed each residential unit would be afforded on dedicated parking 
space within the planned supply; residents with additional vehicles as well as residential visitors would 
park in unreserved spaces on site or in adjacent areas. Based on experience with similar development and 
ULI recommendations, DESMAN calculated a composite demand for 1.15 spaces per unit for one‐bedroom 
units and 1.55 spaces per unit for multiple‐bedroom units.  
 
It should also be noted that, due to not having committed tenants for commercial pads, DESMAN treated 
with commercial square footage associated with certain building as follows: 
 

 Building  E  –  The  3,643  square  foot  structure  proposed  as  a Visitor’s  Center  or  other  place of 
assembly was treated as office space, pending further definition of potential uses and/or tenants. 

 Buildings G‐1 and G‐2 – The 6,181 square feet of grade‐level commercial space was treated as a 
fast/causal restaurant, pending further definition of potential uses and/or tenants. 

 Building  I – The 11,702 square foot commercial building was treated as a retail store, pending 
further definition of potential uses and/or tenants. 

 
Adjustments  to base demand ratios can be applied  to  reflect  the actual  conditions  in  the project site. 
These applied  factors  included adjustments  to  reflect choice of  transportation mode,  internal  rates of 
capture, and other local factors.  
 
Mode  adjustments  reflect  the  percentage  of  users  expected  to  drive  themselves  to  a  project,  versus 
arriving by other means. The most recent [2016] American Community Survey (ACS) covering Hopewell, 
Virginia and administered by  the US Census Bureau,  reported  that 82.9% of  the  local populace drove 
themselves to work in a personal vehicle; the remainder either carpooled (10.4%), rode transit (1.1%), 
worked from home (2.2%), walked (1.0%) or commuted by other means (2.4%).  On the basis of these 
findings, DESMAN assumed that 96% of all employees associated with one of the land uses would drive 
themselves to work. DESMAN did not assume any modal adjustment associated with customers, visitors 
or residents of the project.  
 
Capture adjustments ‐ the percentage of persons already on the project site for one reason but patronizing 
another business – is applied so that demand associated with one land use is not credited against another 
land use during the modeling process. For example, the office worker who goes to Starbucks on break 
does not generate any new or additional parking demand by going for a latte. If that employee’s parking 
demand is already ‘credited’ to his office, the capture adjustment to Starbucks assures that his parking 
demand is NOT associated with the coffee shop, in essence “double counting” him. 
 
Capture adjustments can result in significant reductions in base demand ratios – depending on land use – 
as a substantial percentage of the patrons to a particular business can be coming from inside the project, 
thereby not generating any additional parking demand. Some of these reductions will remain fairly stable, 
regardless of the day of week or time of day, while others will fluctuate according to time of day or day of 



  Page 5 of 14   

 

 

the week. Within the proposed project site, DESMAN assumed that the largest ‘captive population’ would 
be area employees and residents who might also patronize retail stores, restaurants, or other uses on‐site 
without necessarily generating any additional trips or resulting parking demand. A summary of applied 
adjustments to base demand ratios are shown in Table 2. 
 
Table 2: Applied Mode and Capture Adjustments               

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Applied capture assumptions to this model, based on experience with similar projects, were as follows: 
 

 Retail: DESMAN assumed that one in every 10 patrons (10%) during a weekday would be area 
employees or residents walking over to a store to shop and thereby not generating any new or 
additional parking demand. As the area residential population grew during the evenings and on 
weekends, it was anticipated that local workers and residents would make up a larger proportion 
of retail patrons increasing to 15% on weekday evenings and 20% on weekend days and evening.  

 Fast Casual Restaurants: DESMAN assumed that three in every 10 patrons (30%) during a weekday 
lunch rush would be area employees or residents walking over to dine and thereby not generating 
any  new  or  additional  parking  demand.  As  the  area  residential  population  grew  during  the 
evenings and on weekends, it was anticipated that local workers and residents would make up a 

Base Modal  Capture Local Project  Base Modal  Capture Local Project 

Land Use User Group Ratio Adj. Adj. Adj. Ratio Unit Land Use User Group Ratio Adj. Adj. Adj. Ratio Unit

Standard Retail Customer 2.90 1.00 0.90 1.00 2.61 /ksf GLA Standard Retail Customer 2.90 1.00 0.85 1.00 2.47 /ksf GLA

Employee 0.70 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.67 /ksf GLA Employee 0.70 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.67 /ksf GLA

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 12.00 1.00 0.75 1.00 9.00 /ksf GLA Fine/Casual Dining Customer 12.00 1.00 0.70 1.00 8.40 /ksf GLA

Employee 2.20 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.10 /ksf GLA Employee 2.20 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.10 /ksf GLA

Fast Casual Dining Customer 15.00 1.00 0.70 1.00 10.50 /ksf GFA Fast Casual Dining Customer 15.00 1.00 0.65 1.00 9.75 /ksf GFA

Employee 2.40 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.29 /ksf GFA Employee 2.40 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.29 /ksf GFA

Café/Take Out Customer 12.00 1.00 0.50 1.00 6.00 /ksf GLA Café/Take Out Customer 12.00 1.00 0.45 1.00 5.40 /ksf GLA

Employee 2.50 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.39 /ksf GLA Employee 2.50 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.39 /ksf GLA

Cinema Customer 0.19 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.18 /seat Cinema Customer 0.19 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.18 /seat

Employee 0.01 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.01 /seat Employee 0.01 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.01 /seat

Apartments Studio/1BR 0.10 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.10 /unit Apartments Studio/1BR 0.10 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.10 /unit

Multi‐BR 0.50 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.50 /unit Multi‐BR 0.50 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.50 /unit

Reserved 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 /unit Reserved 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 /unit

Guest 0.05 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.05 /unit Guest 0.05 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.05 /unit

General Office Visitor 0.30 1.00 0.90 1.00 0.27 /ksf GFA General Office Visitor 0.30 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.26 /ksf GFA

Employee 3.50 0.96 1.00 1.00 3.34 /ksf GFA Employee 3.50 0.96 1.00 1.00 3.34 /ksf GFA

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0.30 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.29 /seat Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0.30 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.29 /seat

Employee 0.07 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.07 /seat Employee 0.07 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.07 /seat

DAYTIME (6:00 AM ‐ 4:59 PM ) EVENING (5:00 PM ‐ 12:00 AM)

WEEKDAYS 

Base Modal  Capture Local Project  Base Modal  Capture Local Project 

Land Use User Group Ratio Adj. Adj. Adj. Ratio Unit Land Use User Group Ratio Adj. Adj. Adj. Ratio Unit

Standard Retail Customer 3.20 1.00 0.80 1.00 2.56 /ksf GLA Standard Retail Customer 3.20 1.00 0.80 1.00 2.56 /ksf GLA

Employee 0.80 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.76 /ksf GLA Employee 0.80 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.76 /ksf GLA

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 19.00 1.00 0.65 1.00 12.35 /ksf GLA Fine/Casual Dining Customer 19.00 1.00 0.65 1.00 12.35 /ksf GLA

Employee 3.70 0.96 1.00 1.00 3.53 /ksf GLA Employee 3.70 0.96 1.00 1.00 3.53 /ksf GLA

Fast Casual Dining Customer 17.00 1.00 0.60 1.00 10.20 /ksf GFA Fast Casual Dining Customer 17.00 1.00 0.60 1.00 10.20 /ksf GFA

Employee 3.40 0.96 1.00 1.00 3.25 /ksf GFA Employee 3.40 0.96 1.00 1.00 3.25 /ksf GFA

Café/Take Out Customer 16.00 1.00 0.40 1.00 6.40 /ksf GLA Café/Take Out Customer 16.00 1.00 0.40 1.00 6.40 /ksf GLA

Employee 2.85 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.72 /ksf GLA Employee 2.85 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.72 /ksf GLA

Cinema Customer 0.26 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.25 /seat Cinema Customer 0.26 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.25 /seat

Employee 0.01 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.01 /seat Employee 0.01 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.01 /seat

Apartments Studio/1BR 0.10 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.10 /unit Apartments Studio/1BR 0.10 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.10 /unit

Multi‐BR 0.50 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.50 /unit Multi‐BR 0.50 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.50 /unit

Reserved 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 /unit Reserved 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 /unit

Guest 0.05 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.05 /unit Guest 0.05 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.05 /unit

General Office Visitor 0.03 1.00 0.80 1.00 0.02 /ksf GFA General Office Visitor 0.03 1.00 0.80 1.00 0.02 /ksf GFA

Employee 0.35 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.33 /ksf GFA Employee 0.35 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.33 /ksf GFA

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0.33 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.31 /seat Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0.33 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.31 /seat

Employee 0.07 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.07 /seat Employee 0.07 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.07 /seat

DAYTIME (6:00 AM ‐ 4:59 PM ) EVENING (5:00 PM ‐ 12:00 AM)

WEEKENDS



  Page 6 of 14   

 

 

larger proportion of diners increasing to 35% on weekday evenings and 40% on weekend days 
and evening.  

 Office: DESMAN assumed that one  in every 10 visitors  (10%) during a weekday would be area 
employees or residents walking over and thereby not generating any new or additional parking 
demand. As the area residential population grew during the evenings and on weekends, it was 
anticipated  that  local  workers  and  residents  would  make  up  a  larger  proportion  of  visitors 
increasing to 15% on weekday evenings and 20% on weekend days and evening.  

Adjustments were also made for other area land uses to be incorporated into the analysis at a later date. 
 
The final factor comprising the model is the adjustment to reflect for variances for temporal and seasonal 
presence. Presence is the expression of parking demand for specific users and land uses according to time 
of day and time of year. Presence is expressed as a percentage of peak potential demand modified for 
time of day or year.  
 
For example, the model projects that 11,702 square feet of retail has a peak parking demand equal to 39 
parking spaces. However, this demand is influenced by the hours of operation. At 3:00 AM, a retail store 
is unlikely to project any parking demand at all.  Additionally, parking demand is influenced by the time of 
year.  Traditionally,  retail  stores  are busiest  during  the winter  holidays  and  slowest  in  in  the  summer. 
Therefore, so is parking demand associated with a retail store. 
 
Presence becomes a significant factor in a mixed‐use environment like Francisco Landing because it allows 
different land uses to share the same parking supply. For example, if an office building is placed next to 
an apartment complex, summing the peak projected demand of each of the  land uses would result  in 
parking supply substantially larger than necessary, as the apartment complex is largely empty when the 
office  building  is  occupied  and  vice  versa.  However,  applying  presence  factors  to  the  peak  demand 
projections to adjust for hours of operation and use trends, the owner actually needs to provide only a 
fraction of the spaces needed for the combined land uses to adequately support both the hotel and the 
retail store. The assumption is that demand from apartments will peak in overnight, while demand for 
office space will peak on weekday mornings. These presence trends of parking demand for these  land 
uses are complimentary and allow for some sharing of the same spaces, reducing total peak demand.  
 
Variations for time of day and time of year for weekends (Saturdays) were also calculated for Francisco 
Landing and applied to the model. The majority of presence adjustments were taken from ULI’s Shared 
Parking:  Second  Edition.  Presence  factors  were  applied  to  projections  of  gross  demand  and  used  to 
generate hourly parking demand projections for a typical weekday and weekend day throughout the year. 
DESMAN  used  these  projections  to  isolate  the  peak  hour  in  each  month.    The  applied  presence 
adjustments for time of year are shown below in Table 3 on the next page, and time of day presence 
adjustments are included as Tables 4 (weekdays) and 5 (weekends) on the following pages.  



  Page 7 of 14   
 

 

 

 

Table 3: Applied Monthly Presence Factors                           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Land Use User Group January February March April May June July August September October November December Holidays

Standard Retail Customer 56% 57% 64% 63% 66% 67% 64% 69% 64% 66% 72% 100% 80%

Employee 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 90% 100% 90%

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 88% 87% 96% 93% 98% 96% 99% 100% 92% 94% 91% 99% 87%

Employee 88% 87% 96% 93% 98% 96% 99% 100% 92% 94% 91% 99% 87%

Fast Casual Dining Customer 86% 86% 95% 93% 98% 97% 99% 100% 93% 96% 92% 98% 90%

Employee 86% 86% 95% 93% 98% 97% 99% 100% 93% 96% 92% 98% 90%

Café/Take Out Customer 88% 88% 99% 94% 96% 95% 100% 100% 95% 98% 93% 97% 93%

Employee 88% 88% 99% 94% 96% 95% 100% 100% 95% 98% 93% 97% 93%

Cineplex (weekdays) Customer 27% 21% 20% 19% 27% 41% 55% 40% 15% 15% 25% 23% 100%

Employee 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 75% 75% 75% 50% 50% 50% 50% 100%

Cineplex (weekends) Customer 71% 59% 67% 58% 71% 82% 92% 75% 51% 62% 78% 67% 100%

Employee 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 100% 100% 90% 80% 80% 80% 80% 100%

Apartments Studio/1BR 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 90% 85% 95% 100% 95% 90% 85%

Multi‐BR 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 90% 85% 95% 100% 95% 90% 85%

Reserved 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Guest 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 90% 85% 95% 100% 95% 90% 85%

General Office Visitor 100% 100% 95% 100% 100% 95% 90% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 80%

Employee 100% 100% 95% 100% 100% 95% 90% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 80%

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 75% 80% 85% 90% 95% 100% 100% 100% 95% 90% 85% 80% 50%

Employee 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%



  Page 8 of 14   

 

 
 
Table 4: Applied Daily Presence Factors for a Weekday                         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Table 5: Applied Daily Presence Factors for a Weekend                         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Land Use User Group 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM 12:00 AM

Standard Retail Customer 1% 5% 15% 35% 65% 85% 95% 100% 95% 90% 90% 95% 95% 95% 80% 50% 30% 10% 0%

(Typical) Employee 10% 15% 40% 75% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 95% 95% 90% 75% 40% 15% 0%

Standard Retail Customer 1% 5% 15% 30% 55% 75% 90% 100% 100% 100% 95% 85% 80% 75% 65% 50% 30% 10% 0%

(December) Employee 10% 15% 40% 75% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 95% 95% 90% 75% 40% 15% 0%

Standard Retail Customer 1% 5% 10% 20% 40% 65% 90% 100% 100% 100% 95% 85% 70% 55% 40% 25% 15% 5% 0%

(Holidays) Employee 10% 15% 40% 75% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 95% 95% 90% 75% 40% 15% 0%

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 0% 0% 0% 0% 15% 40% 75% 75% 65% 40% 50% 75% 95% 100% 100% 100% 95% 75% 25%

Employee 0% 20% 50% 75% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 75% 75% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 85% 35%

Fast Casual Dining Customer 25% 50% 60% 75% 85% 90% 100% 90% 50% 45% 45% 75% 80% 80% 80% 60% 55% 50% 25%

Employee 50% 75% 90% 90% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 75% 75% 95% 95% 95% 95% 80% 65% 65% 35%

Café/Take Out Customer 5% 10% 20% 30% 55% 85% 100% 100% 90% 60% 55% 60% 85% 80% 50% 30% 20% 10% 5%

Employee 15% 20% 30% 40% 75% 100% 100% 100% 95% 70% 60% 70% 90% 90% 60% 40% 30% 20% 20%

Cineplex  Customer 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 20% 45% 55% 55% 55% 60% 60% 80% 100% 100% 80% 65% 40%

Employee 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 50% 60% 60% 75% 75% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 70% 50%

Apartments Studio/1BR 100% 90% 85% 80% 75% 70% 65% 70% 70% 70% 75% 85% 90% 97% 98% 99% 100% 100% 100%

Multi‐BR 100% 90% 85% 80% 75% 70% 65% 70% 70% 70% 75% 85% 90% 97% 98% 99% 100% 100% 100%

Reserved 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Guest 0% 10% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 40% 60% 100% 100% 100% 100% 80% 50%

General Office Visitor 0% 1% 20% 60% 100% 45% 15% 45% 100% 45% 15% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Employee 3% 30% 75% 95% 100% 100% 90% 90% 100% 100% 90% 50% 25% 10% 7% 3% 1% 0% 0%

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 5% 10% 50% 70% 90% 100% 100% 100% 80% 50%

Employee 0% 0% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 10% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 100% 100% 100% 90% 80%

Land Use User Group 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM 12:00 AM

Standard Retail Customer 1% 5% 10% 30% 50% 65% 80% 90% 100% 100% 95% 90% 80% 75% 65% 50% 35% 15% 0%

(Typical) Employee 10% 15% 40% 75% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 85% 80% 75% 65% 45% 15% 0%

Standard Retail Customer 1% 5% 10% 35% 60% 70% 85% 95% 100% 100% 95% 90% 80% 75% 65% 50% 35% 15% 0%

(December) Employee 10% 15% 40% 75% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 85% 80% 75% 65% 45% 15% 0%

Standard Retail Customer 1% 5% 10% 20% 40% 60% 80% 95% 100% 100% 95% 85% 70% 60% 50% 30% 20% 10% 0%

(Holidays) Employee 10% 15% 40% 75% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 85% 80% 75% 65% 45% 15% 0%

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 15% 50% 55% 45% 45% 45% 60% 90% 95% 100% 90% 90% 90% 50%

Employee 0% 20% 30% 60% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 85% 50%

Fast Casual Dining Customer 10% 25% 45% 70% 90% 90% 100% 85% 65% 40% 45% 60% 70% 70% 65% 30% 25% 15% 10%

Employee 50% 75% 90% 90% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 75% 75% 95% 95% 95% 95% 80% 65% 65% 35%

Café/Take Out Customer 5% 10% 20% 30% 55% 85% 100% 100% 90% 60% 55% 60% 85% 80% 50% 30% 20% 10% 5%

Employee 15% 20% 30% 40% 75% 100% 100% 100% 95% 70% 60% 70% 90% 90% 60% 40% 30% 20% 20%

Cineplex  Customer 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 35% 60% 75% 80% 80% 80% 70% 80% 100% 100% 100% 85% 70%

Employee 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 50% 60% 60% 75% 75% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 70% 50%

Apartments Studio/1BR 100% 90% 85% 80% 75% 70% 65% 70% 70% 70% 75% 85% 90% 97% 98% 99% 100% 100% 100%

Multi‐BR 100% 90% 85% 80% 75% 70% 65% 70% 70% 70% 75% 85% 90% 97% 98% 99% 100% 100% 100%

Reserved 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Guest 0% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 40% 60% 100% 100% 100% 100% 80% 50%

General Office Visitor 0% 0% 5% 25% 75% 100% 75% 50% 25% 10% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Employee 0% 5% 25% 75% 100% 100% 85% 70% 55% 40% 25% 10% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 5% 10% 50% 70% 90% 100% 100% 100% 80% 50%

Employee 0% 0% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 10% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 100% 100% 100% 90% 80%



Francisco	Landing	Holdings,	LLC	
3715	Belt	Boulevard	
Richmond,	VA	23234	

	
July	27,	2018	
	
Tevya	Williams	Griffin,	AICP	
Director	
Department	of	Development	
City	of	Hopewell,	VA	
	
RE:		Francisco	Landing	PUD	–	Desman	Shared	Parking	Analysis	
	
Dear	Tevya,		
	
Please	find	attached	a	copy	of	Desman’s	shared	parking	analysis	for	the	Francisco	Landing	
PUD	application.		Overall	the	analysis	tells	us	that	parking	adequacy	is	met	until	the	last	
building	in	the	phasing	plan	is	constructed	(Building	F).		Prior	to	Building	F’s	construction	
additional	parking	supply	will	need	to	be	addressed	for	the	project.		I	will	address	our	plan	
to	address	this	parking	need	in	the	conclusion	at	the	end	of	this	letter.		For	ease	of	review	I	
have	taken	the	liberty	of	summarizing	the	report	below	first	and	then	will	provide	our	
conclusion	on	how	to	address	the	recommendation	as	it	relates	to	parking	need	in	the	last	
phase	of	Francisco	Landing’s	construction.			
	
In	summary	we	observe	the	following	from	the	analysis:	
	

1. Desman	uses	271	spaces	as	the	available	count	for	the	project,	which	comes	from	
the	Francisco	Landing	PUD	site	parking	plan	(138),	Appomattox	Street	parking	(33)	
and	the	Gravel	Lot	(100).		Although	available	nearby,	the	study	does	not	utilize	
street	parking	on	Library	St.,	E.	Cawson	St.	and	the	other	small	nearby	surface	lots	in	
the	available	count.	

2. Desman	uses	higher	per	unit	parking	assumptions	than	our	site	development	plan	
used	(1.15	(1BR)	–	1.55	(2&3BR)	per	Desman	vs.	1	per	unit	per	our	plan)	

3. The	Desman	analysis	reports	parking	adequacy	for	the	construction	of	the	project	
until	building	F	is	constructed,	which	is	the	last	building	proposed	in	our	phasing	
plan.		A	summary	table	is	below:	

	
Buildings	
Constructed	

Available	
Spaces	

Peak	Need	
Adjusted	for	
presence	

Surplus/	
(Shortage)	

Notes	

E,	G1-G2,	I	 271	 215	 56	 Adequate:	
+	J	 271	 276	 (5)		 Adequate:	

This	5-space	deficit	is	for	a	2-hour	period	on	weekdays	
during	the	early	Christmas	shopping	season.		Per	
Desman,	this	shortage	being	small	and	remote	in	time	is	
not	deemed	to	jeopardize	parking	adequacy.	

+	F	 271	 340	 (69)		 Inadequate:	
The	study	finds	that	additional	parking	supply	will	need	
to	be	introduced	prior	to	starting	construction	of	
building	F.	

	
Our	conclusions	from	the	analysis	are	as	follows:	



1. Desman’s	analysis	appears	conservative	but	is	acceptable	to	us	because	the	
objective	is	to	provide	adequate	parking	for	the	project.		Although	Desman’s	study	
assumes	a	significantly	greater	per	unit	parking	need	than	we	believe	is	necessary,	
we	believe	the	study’s	assumptions	can	give	us	a	high	level	of	confidence	in	meeting	
satisfactory	parking	requirements	for	the	project	throughout	its	development.	

2. Until	Building	F	is	built,	additional	nearby	parking	(as	well	as	temporary	additional	
spaces	in	the	future	footprint	of	the	F	Building)	can	accommodate	minor	and	
infrequent	holiday	spikes	as	needed	

3. Prior	to	the	construction	of	building	F	additional	parking	to	meet	adequacy	will	
need	to	be	provided.			

4. Our	proposal	for	the	purposes	of	the	PUD	application	is	to	voluntarily	proffer	that,	
prior	to	construction	of	Building	F,	additional	parking	will	be	addressed	with	the	
planning	commission	to	its	satisfaction.		At	this	time,	it	is	anticipated	that	parking	
supply	will	be	resolved	by	that	time	as	part	of	the	comprehensive	parking	plan	for	
Downtown	Hopewell	that	is	being	developed	with	Desman	to	include:	adequately	
sized	structured	parking	on	the	gravel	lot,	traffic	calming	to	bring	nearby	surface	
parking	across	RT10	into	the	equation,	clearer	definition	on	the	true	per	unit	
parking	demands,	and	other	commercial	efforts	to	secure	nearby	dedicated	parking	
for	the	project.			

	
Thank	you	for	your	consideration,	and	please	let	me	know	if	I	can	answer	any	questions	or	
address	any	concerns.	
	
Best	regards,		
	
	
	
Charles	R.	Bowman	
Member		
	



   
 

 

18 TREMONT STREET, SUITE 300, BOSTON, MA 02108                   www.DESMAN.com                   PHONE 617.778.9882    FAX 617.778.9883 
 

BOSTON        CHICAGO        CLEVELAND        DENVER        FORT LAUDERDALE        HARTFORD        NEW YORK        PITTSBURGH        WASHINGTON, D.C. 

 

ARCHITECTS 
STRUCTURAL ENGINEERS 

PLANNERS 
PARKING CONSULTANTS 

RESTORATION ENGINEERS 
GREEN PARKING CONSULTING 

 

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM 
 
DATE:    Monday, July 23, 2018   
 
TO:    Chip Bowman – W.E. Bowman Construction 
           
CC:    Jake Elder – City of Hopewell 
 
FROM:    Andrew S. Hill, Director of Consulting Services – DESMAN, Inc. 
 
PROJECT:  Francisco Landing Development     PROJECT #: 20‐18148.00‐3 
 
RE:    Shared Parking Analysis Report   
                           
 
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
 
Working off the most recent development plan (dated 6/22/18), DESMAN developed a summary of the 
proposed development program. This program includes the following: 
 

 Building E – A 3,643 square foot structure proposed as a Visitor’s Center or other place of 
assembly. 

 Building  F  –  A  53,268  square  foot  residential  building  containing  54  rental  residential 
units. 

 Buildings G‐1 and G‐2 – Two buildings totaling roughly 74,529 square feet and containing 
grade‐level commercial space of 6,181 square feet and 75 rental residential units. 

 Building I – A 11,702 square foot commercial building. 

 Building J ‐ A 54,496 square foot residential building containing 50 rental residential units. 
 
The program also includes 138 parking spaces spread across multiple surface lots planned within the body 
of the development, as well as use of 33 curbside spaces along Appomattox Street and roughly 100 spaces 
in the City‐owned lot on the block bordered by East Cawson Street, Hopewell Street, Appomattox Street, 
and an interior alleyway.  
 
The proposed phasing plan for the program would place development of Buildings E, G‐1, G‐2, and I in 
Phase 1, introduce Building J in Phase 2, and add Building F in Phase 3. The following analysis is presented 
to reflect this phasing. 
 
This plan did NOT include land uses or parking associated with the abutting and existing commercial and 
institutional properties as shown in Figure 1, next page. The impact of these buildings on the project will 
be evaluated in a separate study scheduled for execution later this year.  For the purposes of this analysis, 
focus was limited to just those buildings within the boundaries of the proposed development.   



  Page 2 of 14   
 

 

 

 

Figure 1: Site Drawing and Segment Designations                           

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



  Page 3 of 14   
 

 

 

 

SHARED USE BACKGROUND 
 
At the request of W.E. Bowman Construction and the City of Hopewell, DESMAN prepared the following 
Shared Parking model specific the subject development.  Shared Parking is a methodology for calculating 
the parking demands of a proposed project developed by the Urban Land Institute (ULI) in collaboration 
with  the  Institute of Transportation Engineers  (ITE) and  the  International Council of Shopping Centers 
(ICSC).  This  methodology  is  a  departure  from  the  standard  zoning  ordinance  method  of  calculating 
required parking which  is  to  apply  a parking demand  ratio  (or  parking  requirement  per  local  code or 
ordinance) to each component within a project, sum the total of all demands and build against this figure. 
This traditional methodology treats parking demand as a fixed, unwavering phenomenon and, as result, 
often results in the provision of parking supply greater than the true need of the development. 
 
Shared Parking methodology is a statistical modeling approach that incorporates real‐world data on how 
land uses actually behave and simulates how parking demand for each land use in a development waxes 
and  wanes  during  the  course  of  day  and  year.  This  methodology  allows  the  planner  to  accurately 
determine the need for the development as an organic whole, rather than an assembly of disparate parts. 
The result is provision of a parking supply to support the project which is adequate to meet the project’s 
needs without building excess parking spaces. 
 
Shared Parking models are comprised of industry standard base parking demand ratios, adjusted to reflect 
for  variations  in demand  specific  to each project’s  composition  and  locality,  as well  as  fluctuations  in 
demand according to time of day and year.  
 
Table 1: Base Parking Demand Ratios                   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Base parking demand ratios are developed  through  the  long‐term study of  stand‐alone  land uses  (i.e. 
office buildings, retail stores, hotel, etc.) with their own dedicated parking facilities. Researchers perform 
occupancy counts at different times of day, different days of the week, and different times of the year, to 
isolate  the busiest hour of  the busiest weekday and/or weekend day annually. Once  the peak hour  is 
isolated, researchers divide the number of vehicles parked by the key driving element in each land use, 
such as the number of hotel rooms or total gross leasable square footage of the building. This division 
renders a parking demand ratio; the mathematic expression of the number of cars parked at the busiest 
hour of the busiest day related to the land use’s key driver.  
 

Land Use User Group Weekday Weekend Unit Source

Standard Retail Customer 2.90 3.20 /ksf GLA Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI‐The Urban Land Institute ,  2005, p.11

Employee 0.70 0.80 /ksf GLA Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI‐The Urban Land Institute ,  2005, p.11

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 12.00 19.00 /ksf GLA Parking Generation: 4th Edition. Washington DC: ITE ‐ Institute of Transportation Engineers , 2010

Employee 2.20 3.70 /ksf GLA Parking Generation: 4th Edition. Washington DC: ITE ‐ Institute of Transportation Engineers , 2010

Fast Casual Dining Customer 15.00 17.00 /ksf GFA Parking Generation: 4th Edition. Washington DC: ITE ‐ Institute of Transportation Engineers , 2010

Employee 2.40 3.40 /ksf GFA Parking Generation: 4th Edition. Washington DC: ITE ‐ Institute of Transportation Engineers , 2010

Café/Take Out Customer 12.00 16.00 /ksf GLA Parking Generation: 4th Edition. Washington DC: ITE ‐ Institute of Transportation Engineers , 2010

Employee 2.50 2.85 /ksf GLA Parking Generation: 4th Edition. Washington DC: ITE ‐ Institute of Transportation Engineers , 2010

Cinema Customer 0.19 0.26 /seat DESMAN Inc (proprietary information from AMC, 2003‐2009) and  Shared Parking: 2nd Edition., 2005, p.11

Employee 0.01 0.01 /seat DESMAN Inc (proprietary information from AMC, 2003‐2009) and  Shared Parking: 2nd Edition., 2005, p.11

Apartments Studio/1BR 0.10 0.10 /unit DESMAN Inc. &  Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute, 2005, p.11

Multi‐BR 0.50 0.50 /unit DESMAN Inc. &  Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute, 2005, p.11

Reserved 1.00 1.00 /unit DESMAN Inc. &  Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute, 2005, p.11

Guest 0.05 0.05 /unit DESMAN Inc. &  Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute, 2005, p.11

General Office Visitor 0.30 0.03 /ksf GFA Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute, 2005, p.11

Employee 3.50 0.35 /ksf GFA Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute , 2005, p.11

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0.30 0.33 /seat Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute , 2005, p.11

Employee 0.07 0.07 /seat Shared Parking: 2nd Edition. Washington DC: ULI ‐ Urban Land Institute , 2005, p.11



  Page 4 of 14   

 

 

The Urban Land Institute (ULI), the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE), the International Council 
of Shopping Center (ICSC), the International Parking Institute (IPI), the National Parking Association (NPA), 
the  American  Planning  Association  (APA)  and  other  agencies  gather  and  consolidate  these  individual 
studies into peer‐reviewed, statistically reliable resources for application in planning studies, such as this 
one. DESMAN applied the base demand ratios to the proposed program shown in Table 1, prior page. 
 
It should be noted that DESMAN assumed each residential unit would be afforded on dedicated parking 
space within the planned supply; residents with additional vehicles as well as residential visitors would 
park in unreserved spaces on site or in adjacent areas. Based on experience with similar development and 
ULI recommendations, DESMAN calculated a composite demand for 1.15 spaces per unit for one‐bedroom 
units and 1.55 spaces per unit for multiple‐bedroom units.  
 
It should also be noted that, due to not having committed tenants for commercial pads, DESMAN treated 
with commercial square footage associated with certain building as follows: 
 

 Building  E  –  The  3,643  square  foot  structure  proposed  as  a Visitor’s  Center  or  other  place of 
assembly was treated as office space, pending further definition of potential uses and/or tenants. 

 Buildings G‐1 and G‐2 – The 6,181 square feet of grade‐level commercial space was treated as a 
fast/causal restaurant, pending further definition of potential uses and/or tenants. 

 Building  I – The 11,702 square foot commercial building was treated as a retail store, pending 
further definition of potential uses and/or tenants. 

 
Adjustments  to base demand ratios can be applied  to  reflect  the actual  conditions  in  the project site. 
These applied  factors  included adjustments  to  reflect choice of  transportation mode,  internal  rates of 
capture, and other local factors.  
 
Mode  adjustments  reflect  the  percentage  of  users  expected  to  drive  themselves  to  a  project,  versus 
arriving by other means. The most recent [2016] American Community Survey (ACS) covering Hopewell, 
Virginia and administered by  the US Census Bureau,  reported  that 82.9% of  the  local populace drove 
themselves to work in a personal vehicle; the remainder either carpooled (10.4%), rode transit (1.1%), 
worked from home (2.2%), walked (1.0%) or commuted by other means (2.4%).  On the basis of these 
findings, DESMAN assumed that 96% of all employees associated with one of the land uses would drive 
themselves to work. DESMAN did not assume any modal adjustment associated with customers, visitors 
or residents of the project.  
 
Capture adjustments ‐ the percentage of persons already on the project site for one reason but patronizing 
another business – is applied so that demand associated with one land use is not credited against another 
land use during the modeling process. For example, the office worker who goes to Starbucks on break 
does not generate any new or additional parking demand by going for a latte. If that employee’s parking 
demand is already ‘credited’ to his office, the capture adjustment to Starbucks assures that his parking 
demand is NOT associated with the coffee shop, in essence “double counting” him. 
 
Capture adjustments can result in significant reductions in base demand ratios – depending on land use – 
as a substantial percentage of the patrons to a particular business can be coming from inside the project, 
thereby not generating any additional parking demand. Some of these reductions will remain fairly stable, 
regardless of the day of week or time of day, while others will fluctuate according to time of day or day of 



  Page 5 of 14   

 

 

the week. Within the proposed project site, DESMAN assumed that the largest ‘captive population’ would 
be area employees and residents who might also patronize retail stores, restaurants, or other uses on‐site 
without necessarily generating any additional trips or resulting parking demand. A summary of applied 
adjustments to base demand ratios are shown in Table 2. 
 
Table 2: Applied Mode and Capture Adjustments               

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Applied capture assumptions to this model, based on experience with similar projects, were as follows: 
 

 Retail: DESMAN assumed that one in every 10 patrons (10%) during a weekday would be area 
employees or residents walking over to a store to shop and thereby not generating any new or 
additional parking demand. As the area residential population grew during the evenings and on 
weekends, it was anticipated that local workers and residents would make up a larger proportion 
of retail patrons increasing to 15% on weekday evenings and 20% on weekend days and evening.  

 Fast Casual Restaurants: DESMAN assumed that three in every 10 patrons (30%) during a weekday 
lunch rush would be area employees or residents walking over to dine and thereby not generating 
any  new  or  additional  parking  demand.  As  the  area  residential  population  grew  during  the 
evenings and on weekends, it was anticipated that local workers and residents would make up a 

Base Modal  Capture Local Project  Base Modal  Capture Local Project 

Land Use User Group Ratio Adj. Adj. Adj. Ratio Unit Land Use User Group Ratio Adj. Adj. Adj. Ratio Unit

Standard Retail Customer 2.90 1.00 0.90 1.00 2.61 /ksf GLA Standard Retail Customer 2.90 1.00 0.85 1.00 2.47 /ksf GLA

Employee 0.70 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.67 /ksf GLA Employee 0.70 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.67 /ksf GLA

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 12.00 1.00 0.75 1.00 9.00 /ksf GLA Fine/Casual Dining Customer 12.00 1.00 0.70 1.00 8.40 /ksf GLA

Employee 2.20 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.10 /ksf GLA Employee 2.20 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.10 /ksf GLA

Fast Casual Dining Customer 15.00 1.00 0.70 1.00 10.50 /ksf GFA Fast Casual Dining Customer 15.00 1.00 0.65 1.00 9.75 /ksf GFA

Employee 2.40 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.29 /ksf GFA Employee 2.40 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.29 /ksf GFA

Café/Take Out Customer 12.00 1.00 0.50 1.00 6.00 /ksf GLA Café/Take Out Customer 12.00 1.00 0.45 1.00 5.40 /ksf GLA

Employee 2.50 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.39 /ksf GLA Employee 2.50 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.39 /ksf GLA

Cinema Customer 0.19 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.18 /seat Cinema Customer 0.19 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.18 /seat

Employee 0.01 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.01 /seat Employee 0.01 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.01 /seat

Apartments Studio/1BR 0.10 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.10 /unit Apartments Studio/1BR 0.10 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.10 /unit

Multi‐BR 0.50 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.50 /unit Multi‐BR 0.50 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.50 /unit

Reserved 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 /unit Reserved 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 /unit

Guest 0.05 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.05 /unit Guest 0.05 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.05 /unit

General Office Visitor 0.30 1.00 0.90 1.00 0.27 /ksf GFA General Office Visitor 0.30 1.00 0.85 1.00 0.26 /ksf GFA

Employee 3.50 0.96 1.00 1.00 3.34 /ksf GFA Employee 3.50 0.96 1.00 1.00 3.34 /ksf GFA

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0.30 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.29 /seat Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0.30 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.29 /seat

Employee 0.07 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.07 /seat Employee 0.07 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.07 /seat

DAYTIME (6:00 AM ‐ 4:59 PM ) EVENING (5:00 PM ‐ 12:00 AM)

WEEKDAYS 

Base Modal  Capture Local Project  Base Modal  Capture Local Project 

Land Use User Group Ratio Adj. Adj. Adj. Ratio Unit Land Use User Group Ratio Adj. Adj. Adj. Ratio Unit

Standard Retail Customer 3.20 1.00 0.80 1.00 2.56 /ksf GLA Standard Retail Customer 3.20 1.00 0.80 1.00 2.56 /ksf GLA

Employee 0.80 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.76 /ksf GLA Employee 0.80 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.76 /ksf GLA

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 19.00 1.00 0.65 1.00 12.35 /ksf GLA Fine/Casual Dining Customer 19.00 1.00 0.65 1.00 12.35 /ksf GLA

Employee 3.70 0.96 1.00 1.00 3.53 /ksf GLA Employee 3.70 0.96 1.00 1.00 3.53 /ksf GLA

Fast Casual Dining Customer 17.00 1.00 0.60 1.00 10.20 /ksf GFA Fast Casual Dining Customer 17.00 1.00 0.60 1.00 10.20 /ksf GFA

Employee 3.40 0.96 1.00 1.00 3.25 /ksf GFA Employee 3.40 0.96 1.00 1.00 3.25 /ksf GFA

Café/Take Out Customer 16.00 1.00 0.40 1.00 6.40 /ksf GLA Café/Take Out Customer 16.00 1.00 0.40 1.00 6.40 /ksf GLA

Employee 2.85 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.72 /ksf GLA Employee 2.85 0.96 1.00 1.00 2.72 /ksf GLA

Cinema Customer 0.26 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.25 /seat Cinema Customer 0.26 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.25 /seat

Employee 0.01 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.01 /seat Employee 0.01 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.01 /seat

Apartments Studio/1BR 0.10 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.10 /unit Apartments Studio/1BR 0.10 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.10 /unit

Multi‐BR 0.50 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.50 /unit Multi‐BR 0.50 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.50 /unit

Reserved 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 /unit Reserved 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 /unit

Guest 0.05 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.05 /unit Guest 0.05 1.00 1.00 1.00 0.05 /unit

General Office Visitor 0.03 1.00 0.80 1.00 0.02 /ksf GFA General Office Visitor 0.03 1.00 0.80 1.00 0.02 /ksf GFA

Employee 0.35 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.33 /ksf GFA Employee 0.35 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.33 /ksf GFA

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0.33 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.31 /seat Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0.33 1.00 0.95 1.00 0.31 /seat

Employee 0.07 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.07 /seat Employee 0.07 0.96 1.00 1.00 0.07 /seat

DAYTIME (6:00 AM ‐ 4:59 PM ) EVENING (5:00 PM ‐ 12:00 AM)

WEEKENDS



  Page 6 of 14   

 

 

larger proportion of diners increasing to 35% on weekday evenings and 40% on weekend days 
and evening.  

 Office: DESMAN assumed that one  in every 10 visitors  (10%) during a weekday would be area 
employees or residents walking over and thereby not generating any new or additional parking 
demand. As the area residential population grew during the evenings and on weekends, it was 
anticipated  that  local  workers  and  residents  would  make  up  a  larger  proportion  of  visitors 
increasing to 15% on weekday evenings and 20% on weekend days and evening.  

Adjustments were also made for other area land uses to be incorporated into the analysis at a later date. 
 
The final factor comprising the model is the adjustment to reflect for variances for temporal and seasonal 
presence. Presence is the expression of parking demand for specific users and land uses according to time 
of day and time of year. Presence is expressed as a percentage of peak potential demand modified for 
time of day or year.  
 
For example, the model projects that 11,702 square feet of retail has a peak parking demand equal to 39 
parking spaces. However, this demand is influenced by the hours of operation. At 3:00 AM, a retail store 
is unlikely to project any parking demand at all.  Additionally, parking demand is influenced by the time of 
year.  Traditionally,  retail  stores  are busiest  during  the winter  holidays  and  slowest  in  in  the  summer. 
Therefore, so is parking demand associated with a retail store. 
 
Presence becomes a significant factor in a mixed‐use environment like Francisco Landing because it allows 
different land uses to share the same parking supply. For example, if an office building is placed next to 
an apartment complex, summing the peak projected demand of each of the  land uses would result  in 
parking supply substantially larger than necessary, as the apartment complex is largely empty when the 
office  building  is  occupied  and  vice  versa.  However,  applying  presence  factors  to  the  peak  demand 
projections to adjust for hours of operation and use trends, the owner actually needs to provide only a 
fraction of the spaces needed for the combined land uses to adequately support both the hotel and the 
retail store. The assumption is that demand from apartments will peak in overnight, while demand for 
office space will peak on weekday mornings. These presence trends of parking demand for these  land 
uses are complimentary and allow for some sharing of the same spaces, reducing total peak demand.  
 
Variations for time of day and time of year for weekends (Saturdays) were also calculated for Francisco 
Landing and applied to the model. The majority of presence adjustments were taken from ULI’s Shared 
Parking:  Second  Edition.  Presence  factors  were  applied  to  projections  of  gross  demand  and  used  to 
generate hourly parking demand projections for a typical weekday and weekend day throughout the year. 
DESMAN  used  these  projections  to  isolate  the  peak  hour  in  each  month.    The  applied  presence 
adjustments for time of year are shown below in Table 3 on the next page, and time of day presence 
adjustments are included as Tables 4 (weekdays) and 5 (weekends) on the following pages.  



  Page 7 of 14   
 

 

 

 

Table 3: Applied Monthly Presence Factors                           

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Land Use User Group January February March April May June July August September October November December Holidays

Standard Retail Customer 56% 57% 64% 63% 66% 67% 64% 69% 64% 66% 72% 100% 80%

Employee 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 90% 100% 90%

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 88% 87% 96% 93% 98% 96% 99% 100% 92% 94% 91% 99% 87%

Employee 88% 87% 96% 93% 98% 96% 99% 100% 92% 94% 91% 99% 87%

Fast Casual Dining Customer 86% 86% 95% 93% 98% 97% 99% 100% 93% 96% 92% 98% 90%

Employee 86% 86% 95% 93% 98% 97% 99% 100% 93% 96% 92% 98% 90%

Café/Take Out Customer 88% 88% 99% 94% 96% 95% 100% 100% 95% 98% 93% 97% 93%

Employee 88% 88% 99% 94% 96% 95% 100% 100% 95% 98% 93% 97% 93%

Cineplex (weekdays) Customer 27% 21% 20% 19% 27% 41% 55% 40% 15% 15% 25% 23% 100%

Employee 50% 50% 50% 50% 50% 75% 75% 75% 50% 50% 50% 50% 100%

Cineplex (weekends) Customer 71% 59% 67% 58% 71% 82% 92% 75% 51% 62% 78% 67% 100%

Employee 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 100% 100% 90% 80% 80% 80% 80% 100%

Apartments Studio/1BR 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 90% 85% 95% 100% 95% 90% 85%

Multi‐BR 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 90% 85% 95% 100% 95% 90% 85%

Reserved 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Guest 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 90% 85% 95% 100% 95% 90% 85%

General Office Visitor 100% 100% 95% 100% 100% 95% 90% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 80%

Employee 100% 100% 95% 100% 100% 95% 90% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 80%

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 75% 80% 85% 90% 95% 100% 100% 100% 95% 90% 85% 80% 50%

Employee 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%



  Page 8 of 14   

 

 
 
Table 4: Applied Daily Presence Factors for a Weekday                         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Table 5: Applied Daily Presence Factors for a Weekend                         
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Land Use User Group 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM 12:00 AM

Standard Retail Customer 1% 5% 15% 35% 65% 85% 95% 100% 95% 90% 90% 95% 95% 95% 80% 50% 30% 10% 0%

(Typical) Employee 10% 15% 40% 75% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 95% 95% 90% 75% 40% 15% 0%

Standard Retail Customer 1% 5% 15% 30% 55% 75% 90% 100% 100% 100% 95% 85% 80% 75% 65% 50% 30% 10% 0%

(December) Employee 10% 15% 40% 75% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 95% 95% 90% 75% 40% 15% 0%

Standard Retail Customer 1% 5% 10% 20% 40% 65% 90% 100% 100% 100% 95% 85% 70% 55% 40% 25% 15% 5% 0%

(Holidays) Employee 10% 15% 40% 75% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 95% 95% 90% 75% 40% 15% 0%

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 0% 0% 0% 0% 15% 40% 75% 75% 65% 40% 50% 75% 95% 100% 100% 100% 95% 75% 25%

Employee 0% 20% 50% 75% 90% 90% 90% 90% 90% 75% 75% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 85% 35%

Fast Casual Dining Customer 25% 50% 60% 75% 85% 90% 100% 90% 50% 45% 45% 75% 80% 80% 80% 60% 55% 50% 25%

Employee 50% 75% 90% 90% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 75% 75% 95% 95% 95% 95% 80% 65% 65% 35%

Café/Take Out Customer 5% 10% 20% 30% 55% 85% 100% 100% 90% 60% 55% 60% 85% 80% 50% 30% 20% 10% 5%

Employee 15% 20% 30% 40% 75% 100% 100% 100% 95% 70% 60% 70% 90% 90% 60% 40% 30% 20% 20%

Cineplex  Customer 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 20% 45% 55% 55% 55% 60% 60% 80% 100% 100% 80% 65% 40%

Employee 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 50% 60% 60% 75% 75% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 70% 50%

Apartments Studio/1BR 100% 90% 85% 80% 75% 70% 65% 70% 70% 70% 75% 85% 90% 97% 98% 99% 100% 100% 100%

Multi‐BR 100% 90% 85% 80% 75% 70% 65% 70% 70% 70% 75% 85% 90% 97% 98% 99% 100% 100% 100%

Reserved 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Guest 0% 10% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 40% 60% 100% 100% 100% 100% 80% 50%

General Office Visitor 0% 1% 20% 60% 100% 45% 15% 45% 100% 45% 15% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Employee 3% 30% 75% 95% 100% 100% 90% 90% 100% 100% 90% 50% 25% 10% 7% 3% 1% 0% 0%

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 5% 10% 50% 70% 90% 100% 100% 100% 80% 50%

Employee 0% 0% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 10% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 100% 100% 100% 90% 80%

Land Use User Group 6:00 AM 7:00 AM 8:00 AM 9:00 AM 10:00 AM 11:00 AM 12:00 PM 1:00 PM 2:00 PM 3:00 PM 4:00 PM 5:00 PM 6:00 PM 7:00 PM 8:00 PM 9:00 PM 10:00 PM 11:00 PM 12:00 AM

Standard Retail Customer 1% 5% 10% 30% 50% 65% 80% 90% 100% 100% 95% 90% 80% 75% 65% 50% 35% 15% 0%

(Typical) Employee 10% 15% 40% 75% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 85% 80% 75% 65% 45% 15% 0%

Standard Retail Customer 1% 5% 10% 35% 60% 70% 85% 95% 100% 100% 95% 90% 80% 75% 65% 50% 35% 15% 0%

(December) Employee 10% 15% 40% 75% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 85% 80% 75% 65% 45% 15% 0%

Standard Retail Customer 1% 5% 10% 20% 40% 60% 80% 95% 100% 100% 95% 85% 70% 60% 50% 30% 20% 10% 0%

(Holidays) Employee 10% 15% 40% 75% 85% 95% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 95% 85% 80% 75% 65% 45% 15% 0%

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 15% 50% 55% 45% 45% 45% 60% 90% 95% 100% 90% 90% 90% 50%

Employee 0% 20% 30% 60% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 85% 50%

Fast Casual Dining Customer 10% 25% 45% 70% 90% 90% 100% 85% 65% 40% 45% 60% 70% 70% 65% 30% 25% 15% 10%

Employee 50% 75% 90% 90% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 75% 75% 95% 95% 95% 95% 80% 65% 65% 35%

Café/Take Out Customer 5% 10% 20% 30% 55% 85% 100% 100% 90% 60% 55% 60% 85% 80% 50% 30% 20% 10% 5%

Employee 15% 20% 30% 40% 75% 100% 100% 100% 95% 70% 60% 70% 90% 90% 60% 40% 30% 20% 20%

Cineplex  Customer 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 35% 60% 75% 80% 80% 80% 70% 80% 100% 100% 100% 85% 70%

Employee 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 50% 60% 60% 75% 75% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 70% 50%

Apartments Studio/1BR 100% 90% 85% 80% 75% 70% 65% 70% 70% 70% 75% 85% 90% 97% 98% 99% 100% 100% 100%

Multi‐BR 100% 90% 85% 80% 75% 70% 65% 70% 70% 70% 75% 85% 90% 97% 98% 99% 100% 100% 100%

Reserved 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Guest 0% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 20% 40% 60% 100% 100% 100% 100% 80% 50%

General Office Visitor 0% 0% 5% 25% 75% 100% 75% 50% 25% 10% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Employee 0% 5% 25% 75% 100% 100% 85% 70% 55% 40% 25% 10% 5% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0%

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 0% 5% 10% 50% 70% 90% 100% 100% 100% 80% 50%

Employee 0% 0% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 5% 10% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% 100% 100% 100% 90% 80%



  Page 9 of 14   

 

 

PARKING DEMAND PROJECTIONS 
 
The model developed by DESMAN projects parking demand for a typically busy weekday and weekend 
day between the hours of 6:00 AM and 12:00 AM for each month of the year, as well as the last two weeks 
of  December  (shown  as  “Holidays”  in  the model).  Hourly  parking  demand  projections  are  presented 
according to land use and user. DESMAN’s model has the capacity to isolate parking demand projections 
for the busiest hour of each weekday and weekend day as well.  
 
The following sections illustrate projected gross demand (before application of presence factors) and peak 
hour demand (factoring in presence) for the proposed program as DESMAN understands it.  
 
PHASE 1 DEMAND AND ADEQUACY 
 

The Phase 1 program includes the following: 
 

 Building E – A 3,643 square foot structure proposed as a Visitor’s Center or other place of 
assembly. 

 Buildings G‐1 and G‐2 – Two buildings totaling roughly 74,529 square feet and containing 
grade‐level commercial space of 6,181 square feet and 75 rental residential units. 

 Building I – A 11,702 square foot commercial building. 

The development program generates gross demand for up to 234 spaces on a weekday and 226 spaces 
on a weekend as shown in Table 6. 
 

Table 6: Phase 1 Projected Gross Demand                

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adjusting for presence, the projected peak hour demand is actually for 215 spaces for weekdays and 208 
spaces  on weekends,  as  shown  in  Table  7,  next  page.  Application  of  presence  factors  reduces  gross 
projected demand for weekdays by 8% (from 234 to 215, a difference of 19 spaces) and 8% on weekends 
(from 226 to 208, a difference of 18 spaces) when compared to the projected peak hour demand. 
   

Land Use User Group Vehicles Vehicles Vehicles Vehicles

Standard Retail Customer 11,702 sf GLA 2.61 /ksf GLA 31 2.47 /ksf GLA 29 2.56 /ksf GLA 30 2.56 /ksf GLA 30

Employee 0.67 /ksf GLA 8 0.67 /ksf GLA 8 0.76 /ksf GLA 9 0.76 /ksf GLA 9

Fine/Casual Dining Customer sf GLA 9.00 /ksf GLA 0 8.40 /ksf GLA 0 12.35 /ksf GLA 0 12.35 /ksf GLA 0

Employee 2.10 /ksf GLA 0 2.10 /ksf GLA 0 3.53 /ksf GLA 0 3.53 /ksf GLA 0

Fast Casual Dining Customer 6,181 sf GLA 10.50 /ksf GFA 65 9.75 /ksf GFA 60 10.20 /ksf GFA 63 10.20 /ksf GFA 63

Employee 2.29 /ksf GFA 14 2.29 /ksf GFA 14 3.25 /ksf GFA 20 3.25 /ksf GFA 20

Café/Take Out Customer sf GLA 6.00 /ksf GLA 0 5.40 /ksf GLA 0 6.40 /ksf GLA 0 6.40 /ksf GLA 0

Employee 2.39 /ksf GLA 0 2.39 /ksf GLA 0 2.72 /ksf GLA 0 2.72 /ksf GLA 0

Cinema Customer seats 0.18 /seat 0 0.18 /seat 0 0.25 /seat 0 0.25 /seat 0

Employee 0.01 /seat 0 0.01 /seat 0 0.01 /seat 0 0.01 /seat 0

Apartments Studio/1BR 34 units 0.10 /unit 3 0.10 /unit 3 0.10 /unit 3 0.10 /unit 3

Multi‐BR 41 units 0.50 /unit 21 0.50 /unit 21 0.50 /unit 21 0.50 /unit 21

Reserved 75 units 1.00 /unit 75 1.00 /unit 75 1.00 /unit 75 1.00 /unit 75

Guest 75 units 0.05 /unit 4 0.05 /unit 4 0.05 /unit 4 0.05 /unit 4

General Office Visitor 3,643 sf GFA 0.27 /ksf GFA 1 0.26 /ksf GFA 1 0.02 /ksf GFA 0 0.02 /ksf GFA 0

Employee   3.34 /ksf GFA 12 3.34 /ksf GFA 12 0.33 /ksf GFA 1 0.33 /ksf GFA 1

Performing Arts Venue Visitor sf GFA 0.29 /seat 0 0.29 /seat 0 0.31 /seat 0 0.31 /seat 0

Employee 0.07 /seat 0 0.07 /seat 0 0.07 /seat 0 0.07 /seat 0

Subtotal Customers 101 94 97 97

Subtotal Employees 34 34 30 30

Subtotal Residents (Unreserved) 24 24 24 24

Subtotal Reserved 75 75 75 75

TOTAL 234 227 226 226

WEEKDAYS WEEKDAY EVENINGS WEEKEND DAYS WEEKEND EVENINGS

Land Use Data Project Ratio Project Ratio Project Ratio Project Ratio



  Page 10 of 14    

 

 

Table 7: Phase 1 Peak Hour Demand Projections               
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Against a planned supply of 271 parking spaces ‐ which includes 138 parking spaces spread across multiple 
surface  lots  planned within  the body of  the development,  as well  as  use of 33  curbside  spaces along 
Appomattox Street and roughly 100 spaces in the City‐owned lot on the block bordered by East Cawson 
Street,  Hopewell  Street,  Appomattox  Street,  and  an  interior  alleyway  –  Phase  1  of  the  proposed 
development is projected to operate at a 56‐space surplus under peak hour conditions on a weekday and 
a 63‐space surplus under peak hour conditions on a weekend. 
 
PHASE 2 DEMAND AND ADEQUACY 
 

The Phase 2 program  incorporates all  the prior program elements and  introduces Building  J, a 54,496 
square foot residential building containing 50 rental residential units. This Phase 2 development program 

January February March April May June July August September October November December Holidays

Land Use User Group 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM

Standard Retail Customer 17 17 19 19 20 20 19 20 19 19 21 28 22

Employee 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 7 8 7

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fast Casual Dining Customer 56 56 62 60 64 63 64 65 60 62 60 64 59

Employee 12 12 13 13 14 14 14 14 13 13 13 14 13

Café/Take Out Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cinema Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Apartments Studio/1BR 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Multi‐BR 14 14 14 14 14 13 12 12 13 14 13 12 12

Reserved 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75

Guest 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

General Office Visitor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 11 11 10 11 11 10 10 9 10 11 11 11 9

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal Customers 74 74 82 80 85 84 84 86 80 82 82 93 82

Subtotal Employees 29 29 29 30 31 30 30 29 29 30 31 33 29

Subtotal Residents (Unreserved) 16 16 16 16 16 15 14 14 15 16 15 14 14

Subtotal Reserved 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75

TOTAL 194 194 202 201 207 204 203 204 199 203 203 215 200

Planned Supply 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271

Surplus/(Deficit) 77 77 69 70 64 67 68 67 72 68 68 56 71

PEAK DAY/HOUR =

January February March April May June July August September October November December Holidays

Land Use User Group 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM

Standard Retail Customer 13 14 15 15 16 16 15 17 15 16 17 26 19

Employee 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 8 9 8

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fast Casual Dining Customer 54 54 60 59 62 61 62 63 59 60 58 62 57

Employee 17 17 19 19 20 19 20 20 19 19 18 20 18

Café/Take Out Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cinema Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Apartments Studio/1BR 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

Multi‐BR 14 14 14 14 14 13 12 12 13 14 13 12 12

Reserved 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75

Guest 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

General Office Visitor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal Customers 68 69 76 75 79 78 78 81 75 77 76 89 77

Subtotal Employees 25 25 27 27 28 27 28 28 27 27 27 30 27

Subtotal Residents (Unreserved) 16 16 16 16 16 15 14 14 15 16 15 14 14

Subtotal Reserved 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75

TOTAL 184 185 194 193 198 195 195 198 192 195 193 208 193

Planned Supply 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271

Surplus/(Deficit) 87 86 77 78 73 76 76 73 79 76 78 63 78

PEAK DAY/HOUR =

WEEKDAYS

WEEKENDS



  Page 11 of 14    

 

 

generates gross demand for up to 304 spaces on a weekday and 296 spaces on a weekend as shown in 
Table 8. 
 

Table 8: Phase 2 Projected Gross Demand                

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adjusting for presence, the projected peak hour demand is actually for 276 spaces for weekdays and 269 
spaces  on weekends,  as  shown  in  Table  9,  next  page.  Application  of  presence  factors  reduces  gross 
projected demand for weekdays by 9% (from 304 to 276, a difference of 28 spaces) and 9% on weekends 
(from 296 to 269, a difference of 27 spaces) when compared to the projected peak hour demand. 
 
Against a planned supply of 271 parking spaces, Phase 2 of the proposed development is projected to 
operate at a 5‐space deficit under peak hour conditions on a weekday and a 2‐space surplus under peak 
hour conditions on a weekend. The projected shortfall  is  limited to  just  two hours  in early December, 
during the Christmas shopping season; during the majority of the year, the planned parking supply will be 
adequate to support the project.  
   

Land Use User Group Vehicles Vehicles Vehicles Vehicles

Standard Retail Customer 11,702 sf GLA 2.61 /ksf GLA 31 2.47 /ksf GLA 29 2.56 /ksf GLA 30 2.56 /ksf GLA 30

Employee 0.67 /ksf GLA 8 0.67 /ksf GLA 8 0.76 /ksf GLA 9 0.76 /ksf GLA 9

Fine/Casual Dining Customer sf GLA 9.00 /ksf GLA 0 8.40 /ksf GLA 0 12.35 /ksf GLA 0 12.35 /ksf GLA 0

Employee 2.10 /ksf GLA 0 2.10 /ksf GLA 0 3.53 /ksf GLA 0 3.53 /ksf GLA 0

Fast Casual Dining Customer 6,181 sf GLA 10.50 /ksf GFA 65 9.75 /ksf GFA 60 10.20 /ksf GFA 63 10.20 /ksf GFA 63

Employee 2.29 /ksf GFA 14 2.29 /ksf GFA 14 3.25 /ksf GFA 20 3.25 /ksf GFA 20

Café/Take Out Customer sf GLA 6.00 /ksf GLA 0 5.40 /ksf GLA 0 6.40 /ksf GLA 0 6.40 /ksf GLA 0

Employee 2.39 /ksf GLA 0 2.39 /ksf GLA 0 2.72 /ksf GLA 0 2.72 /ksf GLA 0

Cinema Customer seats 0.18 /seat 0 0.18 /seat 0 0.25 /seat 0 0.25 /seat 0

Employee 0.01 /seat 0 0.01 /seat 0 0.01 /seat 0 0.01 /seat 0

Apartments Studio/1BR 57 units 0.10 /unit 6 0.10 /unit 6 0.10 /unit 6 0.10 /unit 6

Multi‐BR 69 units 0.50 /unit 35 0.50 /unit 35 0.50 /unit 35 0.50 /unit 35

Reserved 126 units 1.00 /unit 126 1.00 /unit 126 1.00 /unit 126 1.00 /unit 126

Guest 126 units 0.05 /unit 6 0.05 /unit 6 0.05 /unit 6 0.05 /unit 6

General Office Visitor 3,643 sf GFA 0.27 /ksf GFA 1 0.26 /ksf GFA 1 0.02 /ksf GFA 0 0.02 /ksf GFA 0

Employee   3.34 /ksf GFA 12 3.34 /ksf GFA 12 0.33 /ksf GFA 1 0.33 /ksf GFA 1

Performing Arts Venue Visitor sf GFA 0.29 /seat 0 0.29 /seat 0 0.31 /seat 0 0.31 /seat 0

Employee 0.07 /seat 0 0.07 /seat 0 0.07 /seat 0 0.07 /seat 0

Subtotal Customers 103 96 99 99

Subtotal Employees 34 34 30 30

Subtotal Residents (Unreserved) 41 41 41 41

Subtotal Reserved 126 126 126 126

TOTAL 304 297 296 296

WEEKDAYS WEEKDAY EVENINGS WEEKEND DAYS WEEKEND EVENINGS

Land Use Data Project Ratio Project Ratio Project Ratio Project Ratio



  Page 12 of 14    

 

 

Table 9: Phase 2 Peak Hour Demand Projections               
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PHASE 3 DEMAND AND ADEQUACY 
 

The Phase 3 program incorporates all  the prior program elements and  introduces Building F, a 53,268 
square foot residential building containing 54 rental residential units. This Phase 3 development program 
generates gross demand for up to 376 spaces on a weekday and 268 spaces on a weekend as shown in 
Table 10, next page. 
 

   

January February March April May June July August September October November December Holidays

Land Use User Group 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM

Standard Retail Customer 17 17 19 19 20 20 19 20 19 19 21 28 22

Employee 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 7 8 7

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fast Casual Dining Customer 56 56 62 60 64 63 64 65 60 62 60 64 59

Employee 12 12 13 13 14 14 14 14 13 13 13 14 13

Café/Take Out Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cinema Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Apartments Studio/1BR 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 3

Multi‐BR 23 23 23 23 23 22 20 19 22 23 22 20 19

Reserved 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126

Guest 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

General Office Visitor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 11 11 10 11 11 10 10 9 10 11 11 11 9

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal Customers 74 74 82 80 85 84 84 86 80 82 82 93 82

Subtotal Employees 29 29 29 30 31 30 30 29 29 30 31 33 29

Subtotal Residents (Unreserved) 27 27 27 27 27 26 24 22 26 27 26 24 22

Subtotal Reserved 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126

TOTAL 256 256 264 263 269 266 264 263 261 265 265 276 259

Planned Supply 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271

Surplus/(Deficit) 15 15 7 8 2 5 7 8 10 6 6 (5) 12

PEAK DAY/HOUR =

January February March April May June July August September October November December Holidays

Land Use User Group 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM

Standard Retail Customer 13 14 15 15 16 16 15 17 15 16 17 26 19

Employee 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 8 9 8

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fast Casual Dining Customer 54 54 60 59 62 61 62 63 59 60 58 62 57

Employee 17 17 19 19 20 19 20 20 19 19 18 20 18

Café/Take Out Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cinema Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Apartments Studio/1BR 4 4 4 4 4 4 4 3 4 4 4 4 3

Multi‐BR 23 23 23 23 23 22 20 19 22 23 22 20 19

Reserved 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126

Guest 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

General Office Visitor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal Customers 68 69 76 75 79 78 78 81 75 77 76 89 77

Subtotal Employees 25 25 27 27 28 27 28 28 27 27 27 30 27

Subtotal Residents (Unreserved) 27 27 27 27 27 26 24 22 26 27 26 24 22

Subtotal Reserved 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126 126

TOTAL 246 247 256 255 260 257 256 257 254 257 255 269 252

Planned Supply 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271

Surplus/(Deficit) 25 24 15 16 11 14 15 14 17 14 16 2 19

PEAK DAY/HOUR =

WEEKDAYS

WEEKENDS



  Page 13 of 14    

 

 

Table 10: Phase 3 Projected Gross Demand                

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Adjusting for presence, the projected peak hour demand is actually for 340 spaces for weekdays and 333 
spaces on weekends,  as  shown  in Table 11,  next  page. Application of  presence  factors  reduces  gross 
projected  demand  for  weekdays  by  10%  (from  376  to  340,  a  difference  of  36  spaces)  and  10%  on 
weekends  (from  368  to  333,  a  difference  of  35  spaces) when  compared  to  the  projected  peak  hour 
demand. 
 
Against a planned supply of 271 parking spaces, Phase 3 of the proposed development is projected to 
operate at a 69‐space deficit under peak hour conditions on a weekday and a 62‐space deficit under peak 
hour conditions on a weekend. These project shortfalls are pervasive, impacting the project on weekdays 
and weekends from early in the morning until late in the evening during all twelve months of the year.  
 
It is DESMAN’s finding that the developer will need to introduce additional parking supply to the project 
prior to starting construction on Building F to ensure there is adequate capacity to support this last phase 
of development.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Land Use User Group Vehicles Vehicles Vehicles Vehicles

Standard Retail Customer 11,702 sf GLA 2.61 /ksf GLA 31 2.47 /ksf GLA 29 2.56 /ksf GLA 30 2.56 /ksf GLA 30

Employee 0.67 /ksf GLA 8 0.67 /ksf GLA 8 0.76 /ksf GLA 9 0.76 /ksf GLA 9

Fine/Casual Dining Customer sf GLA 9.00 /ksf GLA 0 8.40 /ksf GLA 0 12.35 /ksf GLA 0 12.35 /ksf GLA 0

Employee 2.10 /ksf GLA 0 2.10 /ksf GLA 0 3.53 /ksf GLA 0 3.53 /ksf GLA 0

Fast Casual Dining Customer 6,181 sf GLA 10.50 /ksf GFA 65 9.75 /ksf GFA 60 10.20 /ksf GFA 63 10.20 /ksf GFA 63

Employee 2.29 /ksf GFA 14 2.29 /ksf GFA 14 3.25 /ksf GFA 20 3.25 /ksf GFA 20

Café/Take Out Customer sf GLA 6.00 /ksf GLA 0 5.40 /ksf GLA 0 6.40 /ksf GLA 0 6.40 /ksf GLA 0

Employee 2.39 /ksf GLA 0 2.39 /ksf GLA 0 2.72 /ksf GLA 0 2.72 /ksf GLA 0

Cinema Customer seats 0.18 /seat 0 0.18 /seat 0 0.25 /seat 0 0.25 /seat 0

Employee 0.01 /seat 0 0.01 /seat 0 0.01 /seat 0 0.01 /seat 0

Apartments Studio/1BR 81 units 0.10 /unit 8 0.10 /unit 8 0.10 /unit 8 0.10 /unit 8

Multi‐BR 98 units 0.50 /unit 49 0.50 /unit 49 0.50 /unit 49 0.50 /unit 49

Reserved 179 units 1.00 /unit 179 1.00 /unit 179 1.00 /unit 179 1.00 /unit 179

Guest 179 units 0.05 /unit 9 0.05 /unit 9 0.05 /unit 9 0.05 /unit 9

General Office Visitor 3,643 sf GFA 0.27 /ksf GFA 1 0.26 /ksf GFA 1 0.02 /ksf GFA 0 0.02 /ksf GFA 0

Employee   3.34 /ksf GFA 12 3.34 /ksf GFA 12 0.33 /ksf GFA 1 0.33 /ksf GFA 1

Performing Arts Venue Visitor sf GFA 0.29 /seat 0 0.29 /seat 0 0.31 /seat 0 0.31 /seat 0

Employee 0.07 /seat 0 0.07 /seat 0 0.07 /seat 0 0.07 /seat 0

Subtotal Customers 106 99 102 102

Subtotal Employees 34 34 30 30

Subtotal Residents (Unreserved) 57 57 57 57

Subtotal Reserved 179 179 179 179

TOTAL 376 369 368 368

WEEKDAYS WEEKDAY EVENINGS WEEKEND DAYS WEEKEND EVENINGS

Land Use Data Project Ratio Project Ratio Project Ratio Project Ratio



  Page 14 of 14    

 

 

Table 11: Phase 3 Peak Hour Demand Projections               
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
c:\users\ahill\desktop\20‐18148.00‐3 hopewell redevelopment impact assessment\reports and deliverables\draft shared parking 
report 23july2018.docx 

 

January February March April May June July August September October November December Holidays

Land Use User Group 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM

Standard Retail Customer 17 17 19 19 20 20 19 20 19 19 21 28 22

Employee 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 7 8 7

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fast Casual Dining Customer 56 56 62 60 64 63 64 65 60 62 60 64 59

Employee 12 12 13 13 14 14 14 14 13 13 13 14 13

Café/Take Out Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cinema Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Apartments Studio/1BR 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 4 5 5 5 5 4

Multi‐BR 32 32 32 32 32 30 29 27 30 32 30 29 27

Reserved 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179

Guest 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2

General Office Visitor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 11 11 10 11 11 10 10 9 10 11 11 11 9

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal Customers 75 75 83 81 86 85 85 87 81 83 83 94 83

Subtotal Employees 29 29 29 30 31 30 30 29 29 30 31 33 29

Subtotal Residents (Unreserved) 37 37 37 37 37 35 34 31 35 37 35 34 31

Subtotal Reserved 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179

TOTAL 320 320 328 327 333 329 328 326 324 329 328 340 322

Planned Supply 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271

Surplus/(Deficit) (49) (49) (57) (56) (62) (58) (57) (55) (53) (58) (57) (69) (51)

PEAK DAY/HOUR =

January February March April May June July August September October November December Holidays

Land Use User Group 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM 12:00 PM

Standard Retail Customer 13 13 14 14 15 15 15 17 14 15 16 26 19

Employee 6 6 6 6 6 6 7 7 6 6 6 9 8

Fine/Casual Dining Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Fast Casual Dining Customer 38 38 42 41 43 43 62 63 41 42 41 62 57

Employee 16 16 18 18 19 18 20 20 18 18 17 20 18

Café/Take Out Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cinema Customer 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Apartments Studio/1BR 8 8 8 8 8 7 5 4 7 8 7 5 4

Multi‐BR 48 48 48 48 48 45 29 27 45 48 45 29 27

Reserved 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179

Guest 9 9 9 9 9 9 2 2 9 9 9 2 2

General Office Visitor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1

Performing Arts Venue Visitor 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Employee 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Subtotal Customers 60 60 65 64 67 67 79 82 64 66 66 90 78

Subtotal Employees 22 22 24 24 25 24 28 28 24 24 23 30 27

Subtotal Residents (Unreserved) 56 56 56 56 56 52 34 31 52 56 52 34 31

Subtotal Reserved 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179 179

TOTAL 317 317 324 323 327 322 320 320 319 325 320 333 315

Planned Supply 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 271

Surplus/(Deficit) (46) (46) (53) (52) (56) (51) (49) (49) (48) (54) (49) (62) (44)

PEAK DAY/HOUR =

WEEKDAYS

WEEKENDS



PROFFERED CONDITION STATEMENT 

Francisco Landing Holdings, LLC volunteers the following proffer associated with the Francisco 

Landing rezoning on properties identified as Sub-Parcels 299-0005, 299-0010, and 011-0806 also 

known as Lots 1 and 2, Copeland Subdivision, and Lots 1, 2 and 3, Block 16 B Village Subdivision.  

 

 

1. Prior to construction of Building F, additional parking will be addressed with the Planning 

Commission to its satisfaction.  It is anticipated that parKing supply will be resolved by that time 

as part of the Comprehensive parking plan for Downtown Hopewell that is being developed with 

Desman to include: adequately sized structured parking on the gravel lot, traffic calming to bring 

nearby surface parking across Route 10 in the equation, clearer definition of the true per unit 

parking demands, and other commercial efforts to secure nearby dedicated parking for the project. 

 

Submitted by, 

 

 

Charles R. Bowman, Member 

Printed Name 

 

______________________________________________ 

Signature 

 

July 28, 2018 

Date  



 
PH-2 

 



Council Action Form  2017        
SUMMARY: 
Y N       Y N  
□ □ Councilor Christina J. Luman-Bailey, Ward #1  □ □ Councilor Janice Denton, Ward #5 
□ □ Councilor Arlene Holloway, Ward #2   □ □ Councilor Brenda S. Pelham, Ward #6 
□ □ Councilor Tony Zevgolis, Ward #3    □ □ Mayor Jackie M. Shornak, Ward #7 
□ □ Vice Mayor Jasmine Gore, Ward #4 
 

       
  

Insert 
Date of 
Meeting 

 
CITY OF HOPEWELL  

CITY COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 
 
Strategic Operating Plan Vision Theme: 

Civic Engagement 
X Culture & Recreation  
X Economic Development 

Education 
X Housing 

Safe & Healthy Environment  
None (Does not apply) 

 
Order of Business: 
    Consent Agenda    
X Public Hearing          

Presentation-Boards/Commissions  
Unfinished Business            
Citizen/Councilor Request      
 Regular Business 
Reports of Council Committees  

 

 
Action: 
X  Approve and File  

Take Appropriate Action  
Receive & File (no motion required) 
Approve Ordinance 1st Reading 
Approve Ordinance 2nd Reading 
Set a Public Hearing       
Approve on Emergency Measure  

 
  
COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM TITLE:    Public Hearing to consider citizen comments 
regarding the sale of City Owned Property, Lot 1, 3.60 acres and Lot 2, 2.492 acres 
Copeland Subdivision, further identified as Sub-Parcels 299-0005 and 299-0010, for the 
purpose of improvements under a development agreement between Francisco Landing 
Holdings LLC and the City of Hopewell.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Administration recommends City Council consider citizen 
comments regarding the matter of the sale of this property to Francisco Landing Holdings 
LLC.  
  
 
TIMING: City Council is requested to hold a public hearing on September 25, 2018.     
 
BACKGROUND:  The City of Hopewell’s Staff has been working with W. E. Bowman 
on a proposed development of the Copeland site for more than 12 months. The project is 
for an estimated 175 “market rate apartments”, three separate commercial sites including 
a restaurant, a grand park overlooking the greenspace leading down to the river and river 
walk, and a restoration or reconstruction of the outdoor amphitheater which once existed 
on this site.   
 
The City has been focused on assuring that the beauty of the site was preserved along 
with the access to the river, the nature park, and the river walk while requiring the site be 
developed into a project worthy of one of our most valuable development opportunities 
within the entire City. Staff and City Council has rejected multiple development requests 

 



Council Action Form  2017        
SUMMARY: 
Y N       Y N  
□ □ Councilor Christina J. Luman-Bailey, Ward #1  □ □ Councilor Janice Denton, Ward #5 
□ □ Councilor Arlene Holloway, Ward #2   □ □ Councilor Brenda S. Pelham, Ward #6 
□ □ Councilor Tony Zevgolis, Ward #3    □ □ Mayor Jackie M. Shornak, Ward #7 
□ □ Vice Mayor Jasmine Gore, Ward #4 
 

       
  

Insert 
Date of 
Meeting 

through the past several years for this site because the projects did not meet with the 
Comprehensive Plan, the Economic Development Plan, The City Strategic Plan, and the 
overall vision the city had for this site as well as other prior studies and concepts.  
 
This proposed development aligns with all of the before mentioned plans and offers the 
city an economic development project which staff believes will fundamentally change the 
downtowns trajectory and vitality forever. The Planning Commission held a public 
hearing on July 12, 2018 to consider citizen comments regarding this request.  At their 
August 2, 2018 meeting the Planning Commission voted 4-0 to recommend approval of 
the rezoning. City Council has been briefed in closed session on four separate occasions 
regarding the progress of this proposal.  
 
The City Staff also gathered the Planning Commission, The Economic Development 
Authority, The Downtown Design Review Committee and the Hopewell Downtown 
Partnership on two separate occasions to obtain their comments or concerns and to make 
sure this proposal was in alignment with their efforts as well. We have received 
unanimous support at each step of this process. Questions of parking issues and building 
heights were discussed and the developer addressed the concerns in a positive manner to 
allay the concerns mentioned by members of these groups. A parking study was 
conducted by a third party consultant that has been incorporated into the approvals 
granted by the Planning Commission.  
 
Further, two separate public presentations were made so citizens had an opportunity to 
see the proposed development and ask any questions they may have regarding the project. 
More than 70 citizens attended and participated in these presentations and by far the vast 
majority of them commented upon their support of the project after having heard the 
details.   
 
A development agreement is being negotiated that staff believes provides the timeline, 
the overall vision and specifics of the required construction, as well as the protections for 
the City necessary for a deal of this magnitude. That, coupled with the voluntary proffers 
offered by the developer as part of the PUD approval, and made part of the conditions of 
approval by the Planning Commission, assure that the concerns of adequate parking will 
be addressed in this project.  
  
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   Staff sought a third party analysis of the potential economic impact 
of this project from the Virginia Gateway Region Economic Development Partnership. It 



Council Action Form  2017        
SUMMARY: 
Y N       Y N  
□ □ Councilor Christina J. Luman-Bailey, Ward #1  □ □ Councilor Janice Denton, Ward #5 
□ □ Councilor Arlene Holloway, Ward #2   □ □ Councilor Brenda S. Pelham, Ward #6 
□ □ Councilor Tony Zevgolis, Ward #3    □ □ Mayor Jackie M. Shornak, Ward #7 
□ □ Vice Mayor Jasmine Gore, Ward #4 
 

       
  

Insert 
Date of 
Meeting 

should be noted that their analysis was based on an investment of $15,000,000 and the 
actual investment on this proposed project exceeds $39,000,000 so their impact numbers, 
in regards to the residential portion of this project, are less than half of what can be 
reasonable anticipated. Their analysis was as follows: 
 
 An economic impact analysis of Phase 1 of the Hopewell Mixed Use project has been 
prepared by Virginia’s Gateway Region (VGR) based on the following assumptions: an estimate of 
$15 million in new capital investment, roughly $1.35M of that comprised of the 6,181 SF new 
restaurant space and the balance coming from the residential unit square footage of this phase 
(61,114 SF). VGR can assist Hopewell with preparing economic impact analyses for future phases. 
The following is a high-level summary of this analysis for Phase 1 of the project. 
 
The restaurant is projected to generate a total annual ripple effect of $238,923 in additional sales 
within the City. The total impact of this investment (direct, indirect and induced) is estimated to 
generate approximately $599,553 in new wages and 31 new jobs. 
 
The residential portion of this project, with the assumption that it falls under a general real estate 
development industry classification, is anticipated to spur an annual ripple effect of ~$3.15M in 
additional investment/sales within the City and more than $1.5M in new wages and 37 new jobs 
(direct, indirect, induced). 
 
 
 
ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:  A-Plat, D-Master Plan, Letter of Intent from W. E. 
Bowman, and a Letter from the Virginia Gateway Region on the Economic Impact of this 
project  
   
 
STAFF:   Charles Dane, Assistant City Manager 
  March Altman, City Manager 

Stefan Calos, City Attorney 
Tevya Griffin, Director of Zoning and Planning 

     
 













July 5, 2018 

Mr. Charles E. Dane 

Assistant City Manager 
City of Hopewell, Virginia 

300 N. Main Street
Hopewell, VA 23860 

Re: Francisco Landing Development Project - Extension of Inspection Period pursuant to 

paragraph 6 of the LOI dated July 10, 2017 

Dear Charlie: 

This letter will serve to formalize the extension of the Closing Date in our LOI from October 

9, 2018 until January 9, 2019.   

Thank you for you and your team’s assistance thus far and ongoing support of our project’s 

development.  We are very excited about the plans that have been developed to date and we look 

forward to continuing the process to bring this exciting project to reality. 

Very truly yours, 

W.E. Bowman Construction, Inc. 

By: ___________________ 

Name:  _W. Edwards Bowman, Jr.__ 

Title: ___President_______________ 

AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED this __th day of  _____, 2018 

City of Hopewell, VA 

By:__________________ 

Name:________________ 

Title:_________________ 



1 inch = 50 ft.

( IN FEET )

GRAPHIC SCALE
050 50 100 20025





 
  
 COMMUNICATIONS   
     FROM CITIZENS 

 



 
REGULAR 
BUSINESS 

 



REPORTS 
OF THE 

CITY 
MANAGER 

 



 
R-1 

 
 



 
SUMMARY: 
Y N       Y N  
□ □ Councilor Christina J. Luman-Bailey, Ward #1  □ □ Councilor Janice Denton, Ward #5 
□ □ Councilor Arlene Holloway, Ward #2   □ □ Councilor Brenda S. Pelham, Ward #6 
□ □ Councilor Anthony J. Zevgolis, Ward #3   □ □ Mayor Jackie M. Shornak, Ward #7 
□ □ Vice-Mayor Jasmine E. Gore, Ward #4 

     
  

  
  

 

 
CITY OF HOPEWELL  

CITY COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 
 
Strategic Operating Plan Vision Theme: 

Civic Engagement 
Culture & Recreation  
Economic Development 
Education 
Housing 
Safe & Healthy Environment  
None (Does not apply) 

 
Order of Business: 

Consent Agenda    
Public Hearing          
Presentation-Boards/Commissions  
Unfinished Business            
Citizen/Councilor Request      
Regular Business 
Reports of Council Committees  

 

 
Action: 

Approve and File  
Take Appropriate Action  
Receive & File (no motion required) 
Approve Ordinance 1st Reading 
Approve Ordinance 2nd Reading 
Set a Public Hearing       
Approve on Emergency Measure  

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM TITLE:  Consider the request submitted by Amin Land Holding LLC to 
vacate a portion of Western Street. 
 
ISSUE:  The applicant is requesting the vacation of the undeveloped portion of the street in order to add 
square footage to their property located at 4013 and 4017 Old Woodlawn Avenue.   
 
RECOMMENDATION:  City Administration recommends City Council consider citizen comments 
regarding the request and to vote regarding the vacation.  
 
TIMING:  The City Council held a public hearing on September 11, 2018.  There were no citizens 
present to speak regarding this matter.  
 
BACKGROUND: The Planning Commission held a public hearing regarding this request on July 12, 
2018.  At that meeting the Commission voted 3-0 recommending approval of the vacation.  The vacation 
allows the owner’s to meet fire code turning radius requirements in the rear of the enclosed storage 
facility. (February 2018 Conditional Use Permit approved by City Council) 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:   $10.5 million 
 
ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:    Staff Report 
     Application  
     Administrative Re-subdivision Plat 
 
STAFF:          Tevya W. Griffin, Director of Development  

 



Ashish Amin of Amin Land Holding LLC 

Vacation of a portion of Western Street adjacent to 

Sub-Parcel 095-0245 & Norfolk Southern rail line 

 
Staff Report prepared for the City Council Meeting 

 

September 25, 2018 
 

 

 

 

This report is prepared by the City of Hopewell Department of Development Staff to provide 

information to the City Council to assist them in making an informed decision on this matter. 

 

I. PUBLIC HEARINGS: 

 

Planning Commission July 12, 2018 Recommended Approval 

 

City Council September 11, 2018 Postponed Decision 

 

City Council Meeting September 25, 2018 Pending 

 

II. IDENTIFICATION AND LOCATIONAL INFORMATION: 

 

Requested Zoning: N/A 

Existing Zoning: B-4, Corridor Development District  

Size of Area: 0.215 acres or 9,365 square feet 

Proposed Use: Enclosed Storage Facility Site 

Location of Property: 

                                                   

Adjacent to N & W Railroad at the intersection 

of Emory Street 

 

Election Ward: Ward 7 

Land Use Plan Recommendation: Interchange Commercial 

Strategic Plan Goal: N/A 

III. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY: 

Ashish Amin, on behalf of Amin Land Holdings LLC, is requesting the vacation of .215 

acres of undeveloped Western Street adjacent to Sub-Parcel # 095-0245 at the 

intersection of Emory Street. The additional acreage will be added to property also owned 

by the applicant in order to better configure the enclosed self-storage facility approved by 

City Council in February of 2018.  



Page | 2  

 

 

IV. STAFF ANALYSIS:  

This portion of Western Street is undeveloped.  It is adjacent to N & W Railroad (now 

called Norfolk Southern) and Sub-Parcel #095-0245 (owned by the applicant).  The 

applicant has hired a local engineering firm, Timmons Group, to develop the site plan for 

the enclosed self-storage facility.  After meeting with engineers at Timmons Group it 

became apparent that in order to meet the 25’ rear yard setback and construct the 

enclosed self-storage facility at the size consistent with the CubeSmart model, the partial 

vacation of the 37.5 wide right-of-way is essential.  With this vacation, the applicant will 

build the desired product and meet all traffic circulation and parking space requirements, 

and fire access around the building.  This area will also provide a landscaped buffer 

between the N & W Railroad and the development.  

The City and the Timmons Group have contacted representatives from Norfolk Southern 

regarding this vacation but have not received a response to date.  To build the facility as 

proposed and meet setback requirements the entire right of way must be vacated to Amin 

Land Holdings LLC.  Vacating only half of the right-of-way to Amin Land Holdings 

LLC would require the reconfiguration of the site plan which has been reviewed and 

approved by the City.   

There have been other vacations of portions of Western Street. Norfolk & Southern has 

not objected to any vacations in the past or requested half of the right-of-way.  Staff will 

continue to contact Norfolk and Southern prior to the recordation of the plat and deed.    

A deed dated December 22, 1998 between Virginia Baptist Homes, Inc. and Riley E. 

Ingram, Sr. granted Mr. Ingram ownership of the “fee in the streets and reserved of 

undesignated strips of land in the City Level Subdivision”.  This required Amin Land 

Holdings LLC to request permission from Mr. Ingram prior to approaching City Council 

with their vacation request.  The fully executed agreement between the two parties has 

been provided with this report.  If approved, Amin Land Holdings LLC will retain 

ownership of the portion of the right-of-way in question.  

 

V.     PUBLIC SERVICE AND SITE CONSIDERATIONS: 

Prior to the submittal of this application and in preparation for the site plan submittal, 

City Staff, including representatives from Economic Development, Engineering, Water 

Renewal, Fire and, Planning and Zoning (Development) met with the applicant and the 

project engineer.  Details of the street vacation and site dynamics were discussed in 

length.  All present had no objections to the alley vacation.  There are no land 

characteristics that would impede the approval of the street vacation.  

The following departments and outside agencies were queried regarding the site 

plan/vacation and had the following comments. 

 

Building Code: No objections 

 

Columbia Gas: No objections 

 



Page | 3  

 

 Development:  No objections 

 

 Engineering: See enclosed memo from City Engineer 

 

Fire: At the current size of the building, the vacation is required to meet the tuning radius 

on the North rear corner of the building. 

 

Stormwater: No objections 

 

VA American Water: No objections 

 

VI. STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Based on the responses by City departments and outside agencies, Staff recommends 

approval of the vacation request.   

 

VII. PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMEDATION: 

At their July 12, 2018 meeting the Planning Commission voted 3-0 to recommend 

approval of the request submitted by Ashish Amin of Amin Land Holdings LLC to vacate 

a portion of Western Street approximately 0.215 acres as shown on the plat titled Lot 8R, 

Block 4, Cedar Level, adjacent to Sub-Parcel 095-0245 and N & W Railroad at the 

intersection of Emory Street.  

 

VIII.  CITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION: 

 

In accordance with the Hopewell City Council Policy on Street/Alley  Vacations, the 

Hopewell City Council votes __ to ___ to approve, deny, table, the request to vacate a 

portion of Western Street approximately 0.215 acres as shown on the plat titled Lot 8R, 

Block 4, Cedar Level, adjacent to Sub-Parcel 095-0245 and N & W Railroad at the 

intersection of Emory Street. 

 

 

Attachment(s): 

1. Application 

2. Resubdivision Plat 

3. Deed between Virginia Baptist Homes, Inc. and Riley E. Ingram, Sr. 

4. Contract between Riley E. Ingram, Sr. and Amin Land Holdings, LLC 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Page | 4  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Aerial Map 

Portion of Western Street to be vacated 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Portion of Right-of Way to be vacated 











16.0' 1
2
.
0
'

S
3
9
°
5
8
'
2
6
"
W

S

O
H

U

O
H

U
O

H
U

O
H

U

O

H

U

O

H

U

X

X

X
X

X

X

X
X

X

1
2
"
 
R

C
P

SIDEWALK

EDGE OF GRAVEL

WOOD FENCE

W

W

U

G

P

W

W

W

W

U
F

O
U

F
O

U
F

O

U
T

L

U
C

A
T

V

W

W

G

G
G

G

G
G

G

U
G

T

U
G

T

U
G

T

U
G

T

U
G

T

U
G

T

LOT ALOT B

LOT C

LOT 36

LOT 35

LOT 34

LOT 33

LOT 32

LOT 31

LOT 30

LOT 29

LOT 28

LOT 27

LOT 26

LOT 25

LOT 7

LOT 8

LOT 9

LOT 10

LOT 8R

1.991 ACRES

PID: 095-0225

(0.890 ACRES)

U
G

P

1
0
"
 
R

C
P

1
0
"
 
R

C
P

1
2
"
 
R

C
P

1
0
"
 
R

C
P

T

EDGE OF GRAVEL

COVERED

CONCRETE PAD

SIDEWALK

E
D

G
E

 
O

F
 
P

A
V

E
M

E
N

T

3' WIRE FENCE

3' WIRE FENCE

14.6'

1
9
.
4
'

26.9'

1
4
.
3
'

12.2'

5
.
0
'

1 STORY FRAME

#4701

36.4'1
3
.
3
'

10.0'

1
1
.
9
'

6
.
0
'

44.6'

9
.
9
'

6.6'

1
8
.
3
'

2
.
9
'

2.4'

7.1'

1 STORY

FRAME

#4013

FRAME SHED

N50°02'31"W

N
3
9
°
5
8
'
2
6
"
E

S50°02'31"E

S
3
9
°
5
8
'
2
6
"
W

N50°02'31"W

192.51'37.50'

230.01'

2
4
9
.
9
5
'

37.50'

425.01'

387.51'

1
5
0
.
0
0
'

195.00'

9
9
.
9
5
'

4

PID: 095-0220

(0.445 ACRES)

EMORY STREET

50' R/W

PID: 095-0245

(0.442 ACRES)

W
E

S
T

E
R

N
 
A

V
E

N
U

E

3
7
.
5
'
 
R

/
W

 
U

N
D

E
V

E
L
O

P
E

D

(
0
.
2
1
5
 
A

C
R

E
S

W
E

S
T

E
R

N

A
V

E
N

U
E

3
7
.
5
'
 
R

/
W

U
N

D
E

V
E

L
O

P
E

D

N
 
&

 
W

 
R

A
I
L

R
O

A
D

8
0
'
 
R

/
W

O
L

D
 
W

O
O

D
L

A
W

N
 
S

T
R

E
E

T

6
0
'
 
R

/
W

170.00'

7
4
.
9
6
'

C

1

7
.
2
1
'

7
.
2
2
'

59.94'

59.94'

8
.
1
1
'

8
.
1
0
'

67.32'

67.32'

- OVERHEAD UTILITIES

- UNDERGROUND POWER

- UNDERGROUND WATER

- UNDERGROUND GAS

- UNDERGROUND FIBER OPTIC

- UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE

- UNDERGROUND UNKNOWN UTILITY

- UNDERGROUND CATV

OHU

UGP

W

G

UFO

UGT

UTL

UCATV

N

A

D

 

8

3

- ROD FOUND

- PIPE FOUND

- AXLE FOUND

- ROD SET

- UTILITY POLE

- SANITARY SEWER MANHOLE

- CLEANOUT

- MAIL BOX

- GAS MARKER

- TELEPHONE MANHOLE

- SATELLITE DISH

S

T

SYMBOL LEGEND

CURVE TABLE

CURVE

C1

RADIUS

25.00'

LENGTH

39.26'

TANGENT

24.99'

DELTA

89°59'03"

CHORD BEARING

N84°57'58"E

CHORD

35.35'

R/W - RIGHT OF WAY

RCP - REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE

ABBREVIATION LEGEND

PID: 095-0220                                     ORIGINAL      0.445 ACRES

PID: 095-0225                                     ADD               0.890 ACRES

PID: 095-0245                                     ADD               0.441 ACRES

WESTERN AVENUE (VACATED)     ADD                0.215 ACRES

PID: 095-0220 (LOT 8R)                    REMAINING   1.991 ACRES

Y
O

U
R
 
V
I
S
I
O

N
 
A
C
H

I
E
V
E
D

 
T
H

R
O

U
G

H
 
O

U
R
S
.

S
i
t
e
 
D

e
v
e
l
o

p
m

e
n

t
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
R

e
s
i
d

e
n

t
i
a
l
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
I
n

f
r
a
s
t
r
u

c
t
u

r
e
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
T
e
c
h

n
o

l
o

g
y

4
7
0
1
 
O

w
e
n
s
 
W

a
y
,
 
S
u
i
t
e
 
9
0
0
 
|
 
 
P
r
i
n
c
e
 
G

e
o
r
g
e
,
 
V
A
 
2
3
8
7
5

T
E
L
 
8
0
4
.
5
4
1
.
6
6
0
0
 
 
F
A
X
 
8
0
4
.
4
5
8
.
1
5
1
1
 
 
w

w
w

.
t
i
m

m
o
n
s
.
c
o
m

T
H

I
S
 
D

R
A
W

I
N

G
 
P
R
E
P
A
R
E
D

 
A
T
 
T
H

E

T
R

I
-
C

I
T
I
E
S

 
O

F
F
I
C

E

DATE: SCALE: 

J.N.:SHEET OF

DRAWN BY: CHECK BY:

  

June 12, 2018

1 1

J. Livingston

41414-903

1"=30'

W.M. Naulty

SITE

VICINITY MAP SCALE 1"=2000'

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE

To the best of my knowledge and belief all of the

requirements as set forth in the ordinance for

approving plats of subdivision in the City of

Hopewell, Virginia have been complied with.

W. M. Naulty LS., NO. 2067

SOURCE OF TITLE

Parcel ID #095-0220

Lots 8, 27 & 28, Block 4, Cedar Level

The property embraced within the limits of this subdivision was conveyed

to Amin Land Holdings, LLC, by deed dated                                   and

recorded                                            as Instrument #080002231 in the

Clerk's Office of the  Circuit Court of the City of Hopewell, Virginia.

Parcel ID #095-0225

Lots 9, 10, 29, 30, 31 & 32, Block 4, Cedar Level

The property embraced within the limits of this subdivision was conveyed

to Amin Land Holdings, LLC, by deed dated                                   and

recorded                                            as Instrument #080002231 in the

Clerk's Office of the  Circuit Court of the City of Hopewell, Virginia.

CERTIFICATE OF APPROVAL

The subdivision of land shown on this plat, designated as A RESUBDIVISION OF LOTS

8, 9, 10, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35 & 36,  BLOCK 4, CEDAR LEVEL & A

PORTION OF WESTERN AVENUE VACATED FORMING LOT 8R, BLOCK 4,

CEDAR LEVEL is approved by the undersigned in accordance with existing subdivision

regulations and may be committed to record.

         Date                       Director of Development

GENERAL NOTES

1. Use: Mini Storage

2. Zoning: B4

3. Water: Virginia American Water Company

4. Sewer: Public

5. Drainage: Roadside Ditches

6. Area:

        Area in Lots: 1.991 Acres

        Area in R/W: N/A

        Total Area: 1.991 Acres

7. Number of Lots: 1

8. Drainage, sanitary, water and utility easements are dedicated to the City of

Hopewell or the Virginia American Water Company.

9. Building lines: All building lines to conform to the City of Hopewell Zoning

Ordinance.

10. All interior property lines hereby deleted upon recordation of this plat.

11. Based on graphic determination this property is in Zone "X" of the HUD

defined flood hazard area as shown on F.E.M.A. Flood Insurance Rate

Map, Community panel #5100800014C dated June 16, 2011.

SUBDIVISION CERTIFICATE

The subdivision of land shown on this plat, designated as A RESUBDIVISION OF LOTS 8,

9, 10, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35 & 36,  BLOCK 4, CEDAR LEVEL & A

PORTION OF WESTERN AVENUE VACATED FORMING LOT 8R, BLOCK 4, CEDAR

LEVEL is with the free consent and in accordance with the desires of the undersigned owner.

The dedication of streets and easements are of the width and extent shown on this plat.

BY:

NAME:

TITLE:

LOT 8R, BLOCK 4

CEDAR LEVEL

HOPEWELL, VIRGINIA

City/County of

Commonwealth of Virginia

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this           Day of                           ,

2018        by

Notary Public

Notary Registration Number:

My Commission Expires:

SOURCE OF TITLE CONTINUED

Parcel ID #095-0245

Lots 33, 34, 35 & 36, Block 4, Cedar Level

The property embraced within the limits of this subdivision was conveyed to Amin Land Holdings,

LLC, by deed dated                                   and recorded                                            as Instrument

#080002231 in the Clerk's Office of the  Circuit Court of the City of Hopewell, Virginia.

Portion of Western Avenue (Vacated)

The property embraced within the limits of this subdivision was conveyed to Amin Land Holdings,

LLC, by deed dated                                   and recorded                                            as Instrument

#                                  in the Clerk's Office of the  Circuit Court of the City of Hopewell, Virginia.

W.M. Naulty LS., NO. 2067

0

SCALE 1"=30'

60'30'

INTERSTATE

295

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODLAWN ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMORY ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERRYMOUNT ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKLAWN BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLOUCESTER DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
YORKTOWN DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CABIN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
 CREEK DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
N & W RAILROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lic. No. 2067

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
G

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
I

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
F

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
H

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
W

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
C

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
O

AutoCAD SHX Text
Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
V

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
S

AutoCAD SHX Text
L

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
D

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
W. M. NAULTY































 
R-2 

 
 



Council Action Form  2017        
SUMMARY: 
Y N       Y N  
□ □ Councilor Christina J. Luman-Bailey, Ward #1  □ □ Councilor Janice Denton, Ward #5 
□ □ Councilor Arlene Holloway, Ward #2   □ □ Councilor Brenda S. Pelham, Ward #6 
□ □ Councilor Tony Zevgolis, Ward #3    □ □ Mayor Jackie M. Shornak, Ward #7 
□ □ Vice Mayor Jasmine Gore, Ward #4 
 

       
  

Insert 
Date of 
Meeting 

 
CITY OF HOPEWELL  

CITY COUNCIL ACTION FORM 
 
 
Strategic Operating Plan Vision Theme: 
X Civic Engagement 

Culture & Recreation  
Economic Development 
Education 
Housing 

X Safe & Healthy Environment  
None (Does not apply) 

 
Order of Business: 
    Consent Agenda    

Public Hearing          
Presentation-Boards/Commissions  
Unfinished Business            
Citizen/Councilor Request      

X  Regular Business 
Reports of Council Committees  

 

 
Action: 

 Approve and File  
X Take Appropriate Action  

Receive & File (no motion required) 
Approve Ordinance 1st Reading 
Approve Ordinance 2nd Reading 
Set a Public Hearing       
Approve on Emergency Measure  

 
  
COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM TITLE:    Funding Request for City of Refuge 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   Council take action as they deem appropriate to a request 
from City of Refuge for annual funding from the City in the amount of $50,000 per year.  
 
TIMING: Immediate    
 
BACKGROUND:  The City of Refuge program, which is operated by the City Point 
Restoration Church in Hopewell, is an opioid addiction treatment program which has 
been successfully operating within the city over the past several months. They are 
successfully providing a path to sobriety for opioid addicts from the area including from 
the city of Hopewell. They have graduated one group already from the program and are 
working towards another graduating group in the near future. The annual operating costs 
of the program is $164,668.75. They have been attempting to fund this program through 
donations and grants, but the long term sustainability of the program can only be 
achieved through consistent funding streams. The City of Refuge requests annual funding 
from the City in the amount of $50,000. This will hopefully provide the momentum for 
other agencies and localities to also contribute funds towards the full funding of the 
program, making the program sustainable. With this program serving as a pre-trial 
diversion program, Hopewell residents participating in the program instead of being 
incarcerated in Riverside Regional Jail, will save the City $44 per day or $11,088 for the 
nine month program, for every pre-trial diversion. Just 5 Hopewell residents going 
through the nine month long program within the course of the year, instead of serving 
time in Riverside Regional Jail would pay for the annual contribution requested.  

 



City Point Restoration Church 

City of Refuge 

Funding Request Summary 

 
Current Enrollment of Hopewell Residents in the Opioid Addiction Program  5 

Length of Rehabilitation Program at City of Refuge (Months)    9  
   

Cost of Incarceration per day at Riverside Regional Jail     $44 

Cost of Incarceration for 9 months in Riverside Regional Jail    $11,088 

Cost for 5 Inmates for 9 Months in Riverside Regional Jail    $55,440 

 

City of Refuge Annual Funding Request from the City of Hopewell to Sustain  

And Build the Program          $50,000 

 

Other Funding Sources for City of Refuge 

• Public Donations 
• Other Faith Based Groups 
• Grants (State and Federal) 
• John Randolph Foundation 
• Cameron Foundation 
• Corporate Sponsors 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 



Council Action Form  2017        
SUMMARY: 
Y N       Y N  
□ □ Councilor Christina J. Luman-Bailey, Ward #1  □ □ Councilor Janice Denton, Ward #5 
□ □ Councilor Arlene Holloway, Ward #2   □ □ Councilor Brenda S. Pelham, Ward #6 
□ □ Councilor Tony Zevgolis, Ward #3    □ □ Mayor Jackie M. Shornak, Ward #7 
□ □ Vice Mayor Jasmine Gore, Ward #4 
 

       
  

Insert 
Date of 
Meeting 

 
FISCAL IMPACT:   $50,000 
 
ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:    Letter from City of Refuge, City of Refuge Recovery 
Center Budget, and Funding Request Summary 
 
STAFF:    J. March Altman, City Manager 
  Charles Dane, Assistant City Manager 
     
 







 

 

 

 

 

 

R-3 
 

 

 

 



____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Y N       Y N  
□ □ Mayor, Brenda S. Pelham, Ward #6    □ □ Councilor Anthony Zevgolis, Ward #3  
□ □ Vice Mayor Christina J. Luman-Bailey, Ward #1 □ □ Councilor Jasmine E. Gore, Ward #4 
□ □ Councilor Arlene Holloway, Ward #2   □ □ Councilor Wayne Walton, Ward #5  

     □ □ Councilor Jackie Shornak, Ward #7 
       

  
  

 

 

 
 

CITY OF HOPEWELL  
CITY COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

 
 

 
Strategic Operating Plan Vision Theme: 

Civic Engagement 
Culture & Recreation  
Economic Development 
Education 
Housing 
Safe & Healthy Environment  
None (Does not apply) 

 
Order of Business: 

Consent Agenda    
Public Hearing          
Presentation-Boards/Commissions  
Unfinished Business            
Citizen/Councilor Request      
Regular Business 
Reports of Council Committees  

 

 
Action: 

Approve and File  
Take Appropriate Action  
Receive & File (no motion required) 
Approve Ordinance 1st Reading 
Approve Ordinance 2nd Reading 
Set a Public Hearing       
Approve on Emergency Measure  

 
    

COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM TITLE:   Request to appropriate funding for the Hopewell 
Riverwalk project.   
 
ISSUE: The City has received generous funding from the 2016 Virginia General Assembly in the 
amount of $100,000 and from Friends of the Lower Appomattox River in the amount of $40,680 
in support of construction of the Hopewell Riverwalk.  Now that construction is slated to begin, 
the funding needs to be appropriated for use on the Riverwalk project.   
 
RECOMMENDATION:  The City Administration recommends that the funding received from 
the Virginia General Assembly and FOLAR, totaling $140,680, be appropriated for the Hopewell 
Riverwalk project.   
 
TIMING:   City Council action is requested on Tuesday, September 25, 2018.  
 
BACKGROUND:   None. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:  The funding has already been received by the city as revenue and now needs 
to be appropriated to be expended on the project.   
 
ENCLOSED DOCUMENTS:   None. 
 
STAFF: Aaron Reidmiller, Director, Recreation and Parks 
  Austin Anderson, Construction Manager, Public Works/Engineering 
 
SUMMARY:  Funding provided by the Virginia General Assembly and Friends of the Lower 

Appomattox River, in support of the Hopewell Riverwalk, needs to be 
appropriated to cover construction expenses for the Hopewell Riverwalk project.   

 



Hopewell Riverwalk 

INCOME

Riverwalk: Aug‐15

Cash 230

John Partin 50

280

Riverwalk: Sep‐16

Allison Partin 50

John B. Partin 100

John B. Partin 50

200

Riverwalk: Oct‐16

John B. Partin 50.00           

William P. Butler 100.00         

150.00   

Corporate Apr‐16

  James River Genco 500

500

Corporate Jun‐16

Dominion Foundation 10,000         

NiSource Charitable Fo 12,500         

22,500

RiverWalk Jul‐16

Hopewell Manufacture 20000

20000

TOTAL 43630

EXPENSE

Riverwalk:

John K. George (2,950)          

(2,950)   

BALANCE 40,680   



 

 

 

 

R-4 
 

 



 

 

REPORTS  
OF THE 

CITY 
ATTORNEY 

 

 



 

1 
 

HOPEWELL CITY COUNCIL RULES OF PROCEDURE 

These rules are authorized by the Hopewell Charter, Chapter IV, Section 4  

 

CONDUCT OF MEETINGS— 

ROLES OF PRESIDING OFFICER, CITY CLERK, AND CITY ATTORNEY 

 

101. Robert’s Rules of Order; Parliamentarian; Presiding Officer – Where these rules 

are silent, Robert’s Rules of Order prevails (Charter IV.4). The city attorney is 

parliamentarian, whose ruling, when requested by or through the presiding officer, is 

final and binding, subject only to appeal to and a two-thirds vote of all council members.  

The presiding officer is the council president (mayor) or, in the mayor's absence, the 

vice-president (vice mayor) (Charter IV.5). If the mayor and vice mayor are absent, the 

temporary chairman (see Rule 103) is the presiding officer. 

 
[Approved 6.26.18 (this and other rules are to be adopted once all rules are approved)] 

 

102. 

 

 

 

 

Roll Call; Quorum – The presiding officer takes the chair at the appointed meeting 

hour, and immediately calls council to order. The clerk then calls the roll, and enters in 

the meeting minutes the names of the councilors as preset or absent. In the absence of a 

quorum, the clerk attempts to procure the attendance of absent councilors. A quorum 

exists when a majority of all councilors is present (Charter IV.4). 

103. Temporary Chairman – In the absence of the mayor and vice mayor, the clerk calls 

council to order, and calls the roll. If a quorum exists, council elects by majority vote of 

those present one of its members to be temporary chairman until the mayor or vice 

mayor appears. 

 

104. 

 

Appeals – See Rule 101. 

106. Presiding Officer's Designee – The presiding officer may designate another councilor   

to preside for a single issue. If the mayor is the presiding officer, the vice mayor is 

designated. If the vice mayor is unavailable, the presiding officer may designate any 

other councilor. 

 

204. Voting Order – Roll call for voting is by ward number. At the first meeting in January, the 

roll call starts with the Ward 1 councilor, and proceeds numerically, through the Ward 7 

councilor.  At each meeting thereafter, the roll call is rotated by beginning with the Ward 2 

councilor at the second meeting, and so on until each councilor has voted first.  Once all 

councilors have voted first, the process repeats.  

 
[Except as otherwise indicated, the above were approved 9.11.18; those not included have not been approved] 



1 
 

Current . . . 

 

105. Voting – All questions shall be stated and put by the Chair. All votes concerning the 

approval of any Ordinance or Resolution shall be by roll call by the Clerk, followed by 

immediate statement of result. All other votes may be taken by “ayes” and “nays,” or by 

roll call, at the discretion of the Chair. It shall not be in order for members to explain 

their vote during the call of the roll. Silence shall be recorded as an affirmative vote. 

 

Proposed changes (as redlined as of 6/26/18 meeting) . . . 

  

105. Voting – All questions shall be stated and put by the Chair. All votes concerning the 

approval of any OrdinanceMethods – Votes upon a motion to adopt an ordinance or 

Resolution shall beresolution are by roll call by the Clerk, followed by immediate 

statement of result..  All other votes may be takenare by “ayes” and “nays,” or by” 

(Charter IV.8), unless the presiding officer requests a roll call, at the discretion of the 

Chair. It shall not be in order for members to explain their vote during the call of the 

roll. Silence shall be recorded as an affirmative vote. 

  

Proposed changes (redlined per comments at 6/26/18 meeting) . . . 

 

105. Voting Methods – Votes upon a motion to adopt an ordinance or resolution are by roll 

call.  All other votes are recorded by “ayes” and “nays” (Charter IV.8), unless the 

presiding officer requests a roll call. No councilor is excused from voting except on 

items that consider the councilor's official conduct, or involve the councilor's financial 

or personal interests (Charter IV.8).  Although one cannot be compelled to vote 

(Robert's Rules), a councilor who abstains or otherwise fails to vote without having been 

excused under this rule or Rule 209 may be disciplined (Charter IV.4; Va. Code § 2.2-

3711). 

  

Proposed changes (redlined per comments at 9/11/18 meeting) . . . 

 

105. Voting Methods – Votes upon a motion to adopt an ordinance or resolution are by roll 

call.  All other votes are recorded by “ayes” and “nays” (Charter IV.8), unless the 

presiding officer requests a roll call. No councilor is excused from voting except on 

items that consider the councilor's official conduct, or involve the councilor's financial 

or personal interests (Charter IV.8).  Although one cannot be compelled to vote 

(Robert's Rules), a councilor (a) who abstains or otherwiseis present but fails to vote 

without having been excused under this rule, or (b) who, in violation of Rule 209, 

excused himself or herself from the meeting to avoid voting, may be disciplined 

(Charter IV.4; Va. Code § 2.2-3711). 

 

Proposed changes (clean) . . . 

 

105. Voting Methods – Votes upon a motion to adopt an ordinance or resolution are by roll 

call. All other votes are recorded by “ayes” and “nays” (Charter IV.8), unless the 
 



2 
 

presiding officer requests a roll call. No councilor is excused from voting except on 

items that consider the councilor's official conduct, or involve the councilor's financial 

or personal interests (Charter IV.8). Although one cannot be compelled to vote (Robert's 

Rules), a councilor (a) who is present but fails to vote without having been excused 

under this rule, or (b) who, in violation of Rule 209, excused himself or herself from the 

meeting to avoid voting, may be disciplined (Charter IV.4; Va. Code § 2.2-3711). 

 

 



 

1 
 

  

 Current . . . 

  

MEMBERS – DUTIES AND PRIVILEGES 

201. Seating Arrangement – Members shall occupy the respective seats in the Council 

Chamber assigned as follows: The Mayor shall occupy the seat at the center desk; the 

Vice Mayor shall occupy the seat at the desk to the immediate left of the Mayor; the 

Immediate Past Mayor shall occupy the seat at the desk to the right of the Mayor; the 

remainder of Councilors shall be assigned desks chronologically by Ward Number, 

starting with Ward One to the far left of the Vice Mayor and the remaining Wards to the 

far right of the Immediate Past Mayor or Mayor if no Immediate/Former Past Mayor is 

serving on Council. The two remaining seats to the far left of the Mayor shall be 

occupied by the City Manager and City Attorney and the two remaining seats to the far 

right of the mayor shall be occupied by the City Clerk and the Assistant City Clerk. (See 

Minute Book No. 23, Page No. 348) (See Minute Book 24, Page No. 474 & 475 7/14/98.) Reconfiguration of Diagram 7/14/98.) 

(See Minute Book 26, Page 101, 7/3/00.) 

 

 

■■■■■■■■■■ 

 
  

 

       

Assistant 

City Clerk 

City Clerk  Immediate 

Former  

Mayor 

Mayor Vice 

Mayor 

 City 

Manager 

City 

Attorney 

The four wards not represented by the Mayor, Vice Mayor and Immediate Past Mayor (*if there is one) are seated in chronological order by Ward beginning 

to the far left of the Mayor with the first consecutively numbered ward.  

 

Proposed changes (redlined per then-clerk Kearney as of 3.13.2017) . . . 

 

CONDUCT OF MEETINGS— 

MEMBERS – DUTIES AND PRIVILEGESOF COUNCIL 

 

201. Seating Arrangement – Members shall occupy the respective seats in the Council 

Chamber assigned– Councilors are seated at the council chamber dais as follows: The. 

Mayor shall occupy the seat at the : center desk; the Vice Mayor shall occupy the seat at 

the desk to the ; vice mayor: immediate left of the Mayor; the mayor; immediate past 

mayor: immediateImmediate Past Mayor shall occupy the seat at the desk to the right of the 



 

2 
 

Mayor; themayor; remainder of Councilors shall be assigned desks 

chronologicallymembers: in increasing numerical order by Ward Numberward, starting 

with Ward One toat the far left of the Vice Mayormayor and the remaining Wards to the 

farimmediate right of the Immediate Past Mayor or Mayor if no Immediate/Former Past 

Mayor is serving on Council.city manager. The two remaining seats toare occupied, 

from the far left of the Mayor shall be occupied, by the City Managerclerk, the city 

attorney, and City Attorney and the two remaining seats to the far right of the mayor 

shall be occupied by the City Clerk and the Assistant City Clerk. (See Minute Book No. 23, Page 

No. 348) (See Minute Book 24, Page No. 474 & 475 7/14/98.) Reconfiguration of Diagram 7/14/98.) (See Minute Book 26, Page 

101, 7/3/00.)the city manager, respectively. 

 

■■■■■■■■■■ 
Sample Seating Chart 

  
  

 

       

 

Reserved    

 

Councilor  

(Ward 5) 

 

Councilor 

(Ward 3) 

 

Councilor 

(Ward 2) 

ImmediateAssistant 

City Clerk 

     Past 

   Mayor 

 (Ward 6)                                                                                

City 

Clerk 

 Immediate 

Former  

  

  Mayor 

(Ward 7)               

Mayor  

    Vice 

  

Mayor                                   

(Ward 

4) 

 

Councilor   

(Ward 1) 

 

     City 

Manager 

 

    City 

Attorney 

 

 City 

Clerk 

The four wards not represented by the Mayor, Vice Mayor and Immediate Past Mayor (*if there is one) are seated in chronological order by Ward beginning 

to the far left of the Mayor with the first consecutively numbered ward.  

     [podium] 

 

Proposed changes (clean) . . . 

 

CONDUCT OF MEETINGS— 

MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 
 

201. Seating – Councilors are seated at the council chamber dais as follows. Mayor: center; 

vice mayor: immediate left of mayor; immediate past mayor: immediate right of mayor; 

remainder of members: in increasing numerical order by ward, starting at the far left of 

the mayor and the immediate right of the city manager. The remaining seats are 

occupied, from the far left, by the clerk, the city attorney, and the city manager, 

respectively. 

 

Sample Seating Chart 

  
 

Reserved    

 

Councilor  

(Ward 5) 

 

Councilor 

(Ward 3) 

 

Councilor 

(Ward 2) 

Immediate 

     Past 

   Mayor 

 (Ward 6)                                                                                

  

  Mayor 

(Ward 7)               

 

    Vice 

  Mayor                                   

(Ward 4) 

 

Councilor   

(Ward 1) 

 

     City 

Manager 

 

    City 

Attorney 

 

 City 

Clerk 

 

     [podium] 



1 
 

Current . . . 

 

209. Excuse During Meeting – Any member desiring to be excused while Council is in session 

shall obtain such permission from the presiding officer.  

 

Proposed changes (redlined as of 7/1/18) . . . 

 

209. 

 

 

 

 

 

Excuse During Meeting – Any member desiring tocouncilor may be excused while Council 

is in session shall obtain suchduring a meeting, with permission fromof the presiding officer.  

 

Proposed changes (redlined per comments at 9/11/18 meeting) . . . 

 

Excuse During Meeting – Any councilor may be excused himself or herself during a 

meeting, with permission of the presiding officerexcept to avoid voting.  

 

 

Proposed (clean) . . .  

 

209. Any councilor may excuse himself or herself during a meeting, except to avoid voting. 

 



 

 

REPORTS  
OF THE 

CITY CLERK 
 

 



 
REPORTS OF THE 

CITY COUNCIL 
• COMMITTEES 

• INDIVIDUAL REQUEST 
• ANY OTHER COUNCILOR 



 

ADJOURN 

 
 


	ADP8814.tmp
	Francisco Landing Holdings, LLC
	Rezoning from Downtown Central Business District (B-1), to Downtown Central Business District (B-1) with Planned Unit Development District (B-1/PUD) status

	Francisco Landing Concept Plan.pdf
	Blank Page

	41414V-PLATSUBD.PDF
	Sheets and Views
	SUR C 18x24



